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A time of change for our insurance 
business
2019 was the year we started on a new path for the insurance 
business. Meanwhile, we have continued to press ahead with the 
six-point strategic plan for the Court and Member network agreed 
at the 2017 High Court in Scarborough.

For a number of years, we have been offsetting losses being 
made on our individual insurance business by the profits from our 
group insurance business. The Board recognises that this should 
not continue indefinitely. 

The Society’s key strategic challenge is scale. The Society is 
operating in an increasingly challenging environment, with limited 
resources, and an ever-demanding regulatory framework. The 
nature of our business is that we have to comply with the same 
laws and regulations as much larger insurers. This means we 
need an infrastructure requiring the employment of highly skilled 
individuals in technical disciplines supported by robust systems 
and processes. As a result, there is a minimum cost base 
required to run a business like ours. This cost base requires a 
certain volume of new individual policy sales each year to even 
reach breakeven in profitability terms. In 2019 we did not write 
that level of new business despite the record level of individual 
business sales we report here.

Following the conclusion of the 2018 year-end process, it was 
clear to the Board that the financial performance of the Society’s 
insurance business had deteriorated compared to 2017. Looking 
forward, the outcomes resulting from a lack of scale were 
getting closer. This resulted in the conclusion that significant 
restructuring of the insurance business would be necessary.

The resignation of the Chief Executive, Paul Osborn, in June after 
13 years’ service for the Society, provided an added impetus 
to the Board’s decision making. The Board would like to put 
on record its gratitude and thanks to Paul for his unwavering 
commitment to the Society, hard work and tireless dedication.

Erik Vynckier assumed the role of Interim Chief Executive on 
1 July for a fixed term contract of 6 months with the task of 
commencing the Board’s restructuring programme. During 
this period, management under Erik’s leadership implemented 
a series of coordinated initiatives with the aim of improving 
the future performance of the Society’s insurance business. 

These actions were felt across the Society with redundancies 
ranging from the Board level to administration staff. The Board 
understands that this is upsetting not only for the individuals 
involved but for their colleagues, members and friends around 
them. In addition, the original IT development program was 
cancelled due to the perceived risk to its ultimate delivery. 
These were all necessary business decisions to ensure every 
£1 being spent is working optimally on delivering returns for our 
members and sustaining the future viability of the Society. 

Erik Vynckier ended his term in office at the end of December 
having set in motion an agreed plan to build the viability of 
the insurance business. This plan includes continuing efforts 
to increase the Society’s premium income by focusing on the 
amounts received from lump sum new business and reduce 
expenses. He also introduced a revised IT systems development 
map providing a more evolutionary approach to improving the IT 
systems that support the insurance business, and some product 
changes. The end goal is returning the individual insurance 
business to profitability with the group business profits being 
used to enhance further the returns to our members. Rachel 
Hardy was appointed as the new Chief Executive in addition 
to her existing responsibilities as Chief Finance Officer, 
to take the plan forward.

The economic environment
2019 saw a continuation of the previous two years with 
continuing debate about how the decision taken by the United 
Kingdom to leave the European Union would be implemented and 
the consequent uncertainty that provided for the development 
of the UK economy. However, 2020 will be different as the 
election in December 2019 resulted in the election of a majority 
government committed to taking us out come what may.

The economic environment during the year saw:

• the economy growing more slowly than in 2018 with 
GDP growth of just 1.0%;

• prices as measured by the CPI index increasing by only 
1.4% over the year;

• wages increasing by 2.9% further increasing the 
purchasing power of those in work;

• unemployment rates falling even further to just 3.8%; and
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2019 has seen some difficult decisions 

being made, with the aim of providing 

good value insurance policies and 

competitive returns for our current and 

potential insurance policyholders.  ‘‘John Instance, Chairman
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• the Bank of England keeping the Bank Interest Rate at 
0.75% throughout the year.

The change in the UK political environment in December, the 
apparent easing in trade tension between the USA and China, and 
the upcoming presidential election in the USA initially suggested that 
2020 may see an improvement in economic conditions. However, 
all this has been thrown in to doubt at the time of writing by the 
rapid spread of the novel coronavirus around the world from its 
original epicentre in Wuhan, China. This has the potential to severely 
disrupt global trade flows with consequent effects on economic 
growth. In addition, there may be significant issues for local service 
providers as individuals take preventive action. The specific impact 
of Covid-19 on the Society is discussed on page 24.

Investment returns
Equity markets performed well in 2019 with the FTSE All Share 
Index providing a total return of 19.2% (2018: -9.5%). The UK 
property market measured by the total return on the IPD UK 
Property Index returned 2.1% (2018: 7.3%). Bond returns also 
did well; the yield of the 10-year UK Government Bond fell 0.45% 
over the year from 1.27% at the start of the year to only 0.82% 
at the close of the year. Credit spreads on UK corporate bonds 
also narrowed. As a result, the Order Insurance Fund and the 
Court Investment Fund have earned investment returns of 10.86% 
(2018: -2.9%) and 6.60% (2018: +9.0%) respectively.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has had a major impact 
in the first quarter of 2020 on all investment markets around the 
world. Our funds are not immune although the diversified nature 
of our investment portfolios and its risk profile at the end of the 
year has provided some mitigation. We have taken further action 
to reduce the investment risk we are taking in our funds.

AXA Investment Managers took over responsibility for the day-to-
day management from Quilter Cheviot in July 2019.

Business Performance
The good investment performance in 2019 means that we have 
been able to maintain annual bonus rates at the same rates as 
2018. The annual bonus rate on our flagship ISA product has now 
remained at 1.75% for the last four years.

Individual new business sales grew significantly in 2019. New 
single premiums including top-ups on existing plans were £6.5m 
(2018: £4.8m). The annualised premium on new regular premium 
policies was £1.5m (2018: £1.3m).

Group business premiums grew to £14.4m (2018: £13.4m). The 
claims ratio deteriorated to 84% (2018: 78%). We monitor claims 
closely as the claims ratio is expected to be volatile year to year 

and we will be watching how our claims develop in the context 
of the potential for increased sickness and death claims as the 
coronavirus spreads within the UK.

The insurance business operating expenses, excluding the costs 
of the IT project, were £5.8m (2018: £6.3m). We have taken 
actions to reduce operating expenses further the results of which 
we should see in 2020. We will continue to consider how we can 
reduce expenses while continuing to maintain service levels.

The Court Network
The Membership Committee continues to progress the six-point 
strategy to enhance engagement of our members with our Courts. 
The Courts are financially strong supported by Court funds of 
£84.6m. The challenge remains to use these funds to enhance 
the member experience both through the provision of discretionary 
benevolence and, perhaps more importantly, enhancing the social 
value to be gained from being a member of the Foresters family.

The Board
At High Court 2019, John Garrett retired as Non-Executive 
Member Director having served on the Board for 3 years. John’s 
26 years running a financial services practice allowed him to bring 
valuable insights during his time on the Board. He continues to be 
an active Forester through his local Court.

In tribute – John McLoughlin
In February 2020, we were extremely saddened to learn of the 
death of John McLoughlin, following a short illness. John was 
appointed as a Non-Executive Member Director, at the 2019 High 
Court and served as a member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee and the Membership Committee. John was extremely 
passionate about Foresters. He was an active member over 
many years and in his short time on the Board made a valuable 
contribution to its deliberations. He will be greatly missed.

Conclusion
2019 has seen some difficult decisions being made with the aim 
of providing good value insurance policies and competitive returns 
for our current and potential insurance policyholders. The Courts 
continue to offer an attractive range of benevolence and social 
benefits providing support to members. Further changes will be 
considered as we look to develop the insurance business and the 
Foresters’ member experience.

John Instance
Chairman
1 June 2020
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Restructuring
The Chairman has outlined in detail in his report the significant 
organisational changes that the Society made in 2019 and why 
these changes were necessary. 

We have reviewed our entire operational model for cost savings 
and efficiency improvements to try and solve our key strategic 
challenge - scale. In addition to staff redundancies, we have 
reviewed the cost of our third-party service providers and in 
some cases have identified that external providers may be more 
effective value for money than running internal teams and their 
associated infrastructure. This reflection led to the outsourcing 
of the Society’s actuarial services from 1 January 2020. 
Our actuarial team members were all offered and accepted 
employment with the new outsource provider. This contract will 
be overseen by Nick Warr, who joined the Society in January 
2019 and attained Chief Actuary status on 12 March 2020.

The total cost of these one-off actions was £0.7m which has 
been included within the technical income and expenditure 
account overheads and are expected to lead to annual cost 
savings of £0.6m once they have all been fully implemented. 
Further details about the Society’s 2019 financial performance 
are provided in the Strategic Report on page 15.

Not everything in the strategy is about cost cutting and we have 
also introduced some new roles where they will make a real 
difference to the efficiency of our operations – an IT Manager to 
reduce the complexity of our IT environment and a Data Analyst 

to provide better insight on what is happening day to day in 
our business and help us making smarter decisions faster. 

We are also reviewing our raison d’être - to ensure we are 
continuing to provide competitive product returns for a fair 
charge. Product reviews have been commenced in 2019 and 
continue into 2020 – seeking ways to improve our product 
offering to Members and ensure we are treating all customers 
fairly. In addition to the financial products we offer, the Society 
continues to offer discretionary and social benefits as part of 
its Membership package, and we regularly receive positive 
feedback that these are valued by Members. 

The Board will continue to review and refine the corporate 
strategy throughout 2020. Scale is the key challenge and the 
Board is open to considering routes of both organic growth 
and strategic partnerships to achieve this scale.

IT
As was reported to you last year, the Society had embarked on 
a significant IT project to install a new member administration 
system. By Springtime, several setbacks had occurred leading 
to a re-timetabling of the project. Unfortunately, the situation 
with the supplier worsened and we reached an impasse 
with them regarding their delivery plan and the associated 
commercials. As a result, a decision was taken by the Board to 
cancel the project and seek reimbursement. We are considering 
undertaking a mediation process with the supplier.

Chief Executive’s 
Report
It is an honour to present to you my first annual report as 
Chief Executive. It has been a difficult report to construct 
due to the significant activities and changes that have taken 
place in the business throughout 2019. I hope that you will 
read it and conclude that I have given you an open and 
honest appraisal of the story of 2019 and where the Society 
is as we enter the new decade.

Overview
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Whilst this has been a difficult process, it is essential we provide 
the Society with an IT solution that will support its development. 
Just about every modern organisation is scrambling to harness the 
potential of digital technology to gain day to day efficiency and a 
competitive edge and the Society is no different. We are seeking to 
improve the speed of delivery to our Members, provide them with 
better live insight into their policy values and improve the efficiency of 
our internal processes. The Society’s efficiency and growth will stem 
from a seamless IT infrastructure and 2020 will now focus on an 
evolutionary rather than revolutionary approach. 

Our key objectives for the coming year are to upgrade our core 
system to the modern fully supported equivalent, consolidating legacy 
systems into this core system. We will also re-engineer existing 
workflows to maximise straight-through processing and use portal 
technology to create an open platform for Members, Courts, Financial 
Advisers and Introducers.

Despite the cancellation of this project, for the Courts we have 
delivered significant parts of their IT upgrade in the form of the 
Court Intranet and Court Social Event Site. These were both projects 
being conducted with other suppliers and so were not affected 
by the ending of the relationship with the supplier of the member 
administration system. Training was provided in the autumn through 
various seminars and the Court Secretaries Conference and feedback 
from those who have started to use these tools is positive.

Financial Performance
Individual business has achieved a record year in 2019 with 
individual premium income totalling £16.2m (2018: £14.5m). This 
has largely been driven from targeted marketing campaigns focussing 
on our ISA and Bond products. Whilst the Society is not the cheapest 
in the market in terms of the annual management charges we deduct 
from our policies, we continue to outperform our competitors in the 
total net returns to policyholders as well as delivering discretionary 
benefits to our members. The November 2019 MoneyFacts Survey 
demonstrated our Investment Bond was the highest performing 

over a 10-year period in the Friendly Society cohort, and the third 
highest overall, including when compared against multibillion pound 
insurers. Our open with-profits fund, the Order Insurance Fund, 
again topped the Barnett Waddingham investment performance and 
strategy study for medium sized funds, providing a higher return 
over a 5 year period than all other medium sized funds (£50-£200m) 
and fourth highest overall out of the 41 funds included in the study. 
These studies continue to demonstrate how we are achieving positive 
outcomes for our members.

2019 also saw the launch of two new websites for both our Foresters 
and POIS brands. For Foresters this was driven by providing a refreshed 
look which is easier to navigate and has a more responsive web design. 
For POIS this has an additional strategic purpose for us: to generate 
sales for POIS away from the Royal Mail/Introducer network, in a more 
cost efficient way and to a broader audience. You can now buy a POIS 
policy online without having to be an employee of the Royal Mail.

The Society’s group insurance business is often less talked about by 
our membership, but it is profitable and supporting losses being made 
on some of our new individual policy sales. Total premium income from 
this source was £14.4m (2018: £13.4m) and it continues to grow.

Despite these successes, the Society’s net loss for the year on the 
insurance business totalled £1.6m (2018: loss of £0.8m). This was 
predominately driven from the costs of restructuring the business 
of £0.7m and the IT project costs of £1.6m up to the point of the 
cancellation. The Society does however continue to make losses on the 
sale of new individual policies in certain product lines, predominately 
driven by the low premium value collected and/or the length of time 
they choose to retain their policy with the Society. Writing new business 
comes with acquisition related costs and the persistency of policies 
is important to ensuring they are profitable for the Society. Incentives 
and their associated terms and conditions offered on the sale of new 
business policies were changed mid-year to attract customers who 
wish to be members of the Society for the long term and not ‘incentive 
shoppers’ who will move their policy to another provider once the 
clawback period on the incentive has expired.

The Society’s capital coverage ratio has continued to deteriorate due 
to these losses and the growth in our capital requirements for some 
business lines. Our group insurance contracts demand an immediate 
capital requirement which only reduces over the life of the contract. 
Having successfully renewed our largest group scheme in 2019, our 
capital requirements are at their highest point in their 3 yearly cycle at 
the end of 2019. The Society’s surplus capital available in the insurance 
funds at the year-end was £4.1m (2018: £5.7m). The Court funds have 
again increased in value to £85.0m. The Board is currently considering 
a number of strategic actions in order to boost the Society’s capital 
position including looking at how our funds are structured, improving 
the profitability of individual product lines, reviewing our investment 
strategy and considering further reinsurance options. Maintaining a 
healthy capital cover ratio is a key focus for the Board in 2020.
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Regulation
Following an intense period of regulatory activity in 2017/2018, 
2019 has been a quieter period in terms of regulatory change. 
Nevertheless, there have been thematic reviews to consider 
from the FCA and our focus has been on TR19/3 – Fair Treatment 
of with-profits customers. The FCA expect with-profits firms 
to use this review to improve how they work, and in turn to 
improve outcomes for with-profits customers. In particular, 
they expect all firms managing with-profits business to consider 
the findings and examples of good and poor practice and assess 
whether they need to make any changes to their management 
of with-profits business.

 I am pleased to report that the Society’s position against the 
FCA expected outcomes required only minor improvements.  
One of our key areas of focus has been what the industry knows 
as ‘Goneaways’ – members whom we have lost contact with 
because the member has moved away from the address on 
the Society’s records. Following a coordinated plan led by our 
insurance operations team, we have managed to reunite 
members with a total of £1m out of £1.75m which were marked 
as goneaways in our systems, all with policy values of £3,000 
or more. This process is continuing in 2020 with a proportionate 
focus on smaller policy values.

The quietened period of new regulation in 2019 has also allowed 
us to focus on what I would describe as ‘business as usual’ tasks. 
We commenced a series of product reviews mid-year and will 
have reviewed all open products by Spring 2020. A number of 
recommendations have been made to product designs in order 
to improve the value for money our members receive in 
purchasing a policy, and also to ensure the profitability for the 
Society as a whole. You can expect to see some existing product 
changes over the coming months. The Society is focussing on 
its current portfolio of products which offer our members 
something from cradle to grave and does not have any 
immediate plans to launch new products.

The other area of regulatory focus has been climate change, 
and in the autumn the Society was required to designate a climate 
change officer. This role has been taken up by the Society’s Chief 
Investment Officer as a considerable amount of the financial risk 
the Society is exposed to in relation to climate change is derived 
from our investment portfolios. An initial risk assessment has been 
performed and further disclosures can be found on pages 24-25.

Court Matters
The Courts as a collective continue to grow in financial strength 
with the net income for the year totalling £2.3m (2018: £2.1m). 
Investment performance was positive with the return on the Court 
Investment Fund totalling +6.6% (2018: +9.0%). Underlying 

investment values were slightly deflated, and the unit price stood 
at £1.09 compared to £1.10 at December 2018.

The Member Care Benefit Fund has been a source of much 
interest in 2019, but I am pleased to report that the number of 
members benefiting from this fund has increased significantly 
following the launch of the Help at Home benefit with 581 
members receiving benefits compared to 131 in 2018. As a 
mutual, I believe this is what the Society is here for – to help 
our members in their time of need in whatever way we can.  
A discretionary funds consultation has been launched to consider 
the future of the Society’s discretionary funds and how best 
these should be funded and operated.

Online banking for Courts has been investigated and the 
responses have been very diverse. Whilst some Courts have 
reported this would be a positive move for them, a number 
expressed concerns that their members would not provide them 
with banking details in order to instigate online payments. It is 
my belief that all Courts will be required to go down this route 
eventually if we are to attract and retain members in younger, 
technologically savvy age groups. 

The Courts strategic challenge is different to the insurance business 
– they are profitable year on year and financial assets continue to 
grow. But the Society has a declining Membership base, and the 
active Membership at a Court level is also decreasing. The relative 
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operational model for cost savings 

and efficiency improvements to 

try and solve our key strategic 

challenge – scale.  ‘‘Rachel Hardy, Chief Executive

‘‘



wealth of individual Courts is a postcode lottery. These matters are 
being considered by the Membership Committee – gaining greater 
engagement from a wider audience of members and understanding 
how surpluses that are concentrated in a minority of Courts can be 
used for the good of the wider Membership are the key strategic 
challenges on their agenda for 2020.

Thank You
The Board appreciates that 2019 has been a very unsettling time 
for employees and members alike, however it remains steadfastly 
committed to mutuality, the ethos of Forestry, and the long-term 
success of the Society.

I am fortunate to spend time with many of our employees on a 
daily basis and I feel incredibly grateful for the dedication and 
professionalism they show me, their fellow colleagues and our 
members. Our employees are an essential foundation from which 
the Society’s future success will be driven and I would like to offer 
my sincere thanks and appreciation to all of them. 

I would also on behalf of the Board like to thank Erik Vynckier 
for his time as Interim Chief Executive – despite some difficult 
decisions, it was clear he was always motivated by acting in the 
best interest of members and I shall continue this mantra.

I am still a relatively new face in Forestric terms, but our members 
are always welcoming to me throughout the year as I attend 
various conferences and events and have been very supportive 
of my appointment as their CEO. I thank all of our members for 
their continued support of myself, the Board, our staff and their 
fellow members and look forward to seeing many of you at High 
Court in Llandudno.

Summary and Outlook
The Society is reaching a point in its history where a significant 
strategic change will be required in order to ensure it continues 
to deliver attractive financial returns and meaningful fraternal 
benefits to our Members for the long term. My experience tells me 
that organisations that fail to remain open minded in the pursuit of 
new strategies fall behind their competitors and have one thing in 
common: a bias favouring the way they’ve always done things.

Strategy is about change. It takes critical self-reflection to admit 
that a better way might exist elsewhere; it takes understanding 
to see why that better way worked somewhere else and how it 
might be applied here and it takes determination to align people, 
processes and systems around new ways of working. Coping with 
change is the ultimate challenge for us as human beings and 
stepping out of our comfort zone, but we must all make these 
changes together to ensure the long-term viability of our Society. 
I look forward to working with you all to drive this change.

Rachel Hardy
Chief Executive Officer
1 June 2020
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About Foresters
We have been helping families for over 180 years. The ‘Ancient 
Order of Foresters Friendly Society Limited,’ which trades as 
Foresters Friendly Society, was established in 1834, although 
our origins lie in a much older society called the Royal Foresters, 
formed around 1745. 

Before the development of the National Health Service, employer-
sponsored welfare benefits and easily accessible financial 
services, friendly societies played an important part in the lives 
of many people. Our first members came to recognise they had a 
duty to assist their fellow men who fell into need ‘as they walked 
through the forests of life’. This ‘need’ arose principally when a 
breadwinner fell ill, could not work and received no wages. Illness 
and death left families financially distressed and often destitute.

Addressing this need has been the main purpose of Foresters 
Friendly Society throughout its long history. Members recognised 
that by paying a few pence a week into a common fund, they 
would be able to receive sick pay and funeral grants when needed.

Foresters is a mutual insurance business with a social, fraternal 
and benevolent mission. The Society delivers a wide range of 
benefits to members, including savings, investment and insurance 
products and additional fraternal benefits, called Forester’s Extras. 
As a mutual friendly society, there are no shareholders: insurance 
business profits are distributed to with-profits policyholders in 
the form of bonuses and returns on Court Funds are used for 
the benefit of all members through the Forester’s Extras 
membership package.

The Society offers products that are simple, flexible and affordable 
and are backed by excellent customer service. Products range 
from individual with-profits and unit-linked savings and investment 
policies to group life and sickness insurance. Every individual 
Forester has access to a unique range of valuable Foresters Extras, 
from free nurse advisers to discretionary grants in time of need, all 
made available at no additional cost.

The Society encourages members to participate in local branches, 
known as Courts. The Society has 189 Courts spread across the 
UK and the Channel Islands that meet socially on a regular basis 
to provide friendship and support to one another. Each Court is 
responsible for its own affairs. As well as having policyholders 
as members, the Courts have fraternal members who hold 
membership of the Society without the need to purchase a 
financial policy. This gives access to the social, fraternal and 
benevolent activities of the Society.

The Society is led by a Board consisting of Executive (ED) and 
Non-Executive Directors (NED). The Board is responsible for 
developing the strategy and the Business Plans of the Society, 
and the NEDs provide constructive challenge, advice and 
oversight to management.

Objectives and Strategy
As a Friendly Society, we offer a service which aims to make a 
positive impact on the lives of members. Our overarching vision is 
to be the leading mutual provider of worthwhile financial products, 
promoting caring values through our member communities. 

The Society is committed to be the most member-centric mutual by:

• Listening and being accessible to members and customers;

• Offering valued financial products;

• Modern digital technology to service and communicate with 
members; and

• Meeting our customers’ expectations.

The Board regularly reviews the Society’s strategy, most recently 
at the Board strategy day in May 2019. The current strategic 
goals are as follows:

Strategic Report

Strategic goals Strategic priorities

Grow the Society’s 
membership base

• Optimise value of our membership 
proposition by delivering the Court 
strategic priorities

• Deliver new IT systems to:

1. Improve business efficiencies

2. Enhance distribution channels

3. Develop new products

• Acquisitions and/or mergers

• Build closer relationships with 
members to raise retention

Achieve a viable and 
consistent operating 
environment for 
profitability, capital 
and solvency

• Eliminate expense overruns

• Write profitable business

• Enhance investment strategy

• Optimise risk based capital

• Commercial management of 
technical provision reserving

Culture and customer 
outcomes

• Develop a member insight programme

• Evidence good value and service

• Be a great employer

• Develop, support and reward our people



Since its launch in December 2018, 228 members have made 
enquiries about our Help at Home benefit. 89 members went on to 
receive help in their own homes. A number of these enquiries were 
redirected to Foresters Care – a benefit providing a confidential, 
independent care advisory service, post hospital care and second 
medical opinion. During 2019, 295 accessed this service, a 
significant increase on the 57 who contacted them in 2018.

The Society also supports a convalescent benefit. Members can 
claim for up to £660 over a two-year period to contribute towards 
the costs of a stay in a convalescent home. During 2019, 197 
members stayed in a convalescent home to rest, recuperate and 
recover following illness (133 members in 2018).

Our Courts

Forester’s Courts are central to its governance and fraternal 
structure. These are geographical groups of members who 
manage their own funds and support social, fraternal, educational 
and benevolent activities. Each Court elects its own officers and 
delegates to represent the Court and its members at High Court 
(the Society’s Annual General Meeting). The High Court delegates 
elect the Society’s Directors and the Membership Committee, who 
are responsible for oversight and management of the business, 
and a High Chief Ranger to represent Courts at internal and 
external events. This approach provides a governance structure 
for members to have their say in their Society. Communication 
with and representation of the members occurs through the 
Membership Committee and the Area structures. Our member 
publication, Miscellany, supports our commitment to keep all 
members regularly updated on Society and Court matters. 

There are currently 189 Courts which are the local point of 
contact for members. The Courts seek to promote the ethos of the 
Society and encourage members to meet for social, business and 
benevolent purposes. Courts also organise charitable fundraising 
events. The discretionary benefits provided by Courts are selling 
points for the insurance operation and vice versa, insurance sales 
provide new Court members.

Each Court is run by a Committee of Management responsible 
for the control of the business of the Court within the Rules and 
procedures of the Society. Each Court has a Secretary who is 
responsible for the accounting and administration of the Court. 
The Courts are grouped into larger geographic areas. Each 
Area is supported by an employee of the Society, called an Area 
Co-ordinator. The Area Co-ordinators ensure that the Courts in 
their Area adhere to corporate objectives and they, along with the 
Membership Committee, act as a conduit between the Courts and 
the Board and Management.

Since 2008 a process known as accreditation has ensured that 
Courts operate to a consistent standard and members receive a 
high level of support from Courts. In late 2018, the accreditation 

process moved to self-assessment to allow Committees of 
Management to consider how they can ensure a strong future for 
their Court. This will enable the local Area Co-ordinator to provide 
bespoke support specific to each individual Court to assist them 
in delivering their priorities that support the Society’s six Court 
strategic objectives which are set out below.

Court Development Six-Point Strategy

The Board, taking advice of the Membership Committee, has 
agreed a six-point strategy to ensure Courts remain relevant to 
all members. The six points are:

• Developing a relevant discretionary grants programme;

• Extending Court’s care and befriending activities;

• Ensuring the sustainability of Court’s management structure;

• Increasing member engagement in social activities and 
governance meetings;

• Developing charity fund-raising activities; and 

• Sharing best practice across Courts.

Further details are provided in the Membership Committee report 
on page 41.

High Chief Ranger

The role of High Chief Ranger (HCR) acts as a figurehead for 
the membership, representing and promoting Foresters Friendly 
Society and is a key link between the Society and the members.

The HCR chairs the Membership Committee and co-chairs High 
Court together with the Board Chair. 

Andrew Pooley was elected HCR at High Court in June 2018. His 
chosen charity was Action on Hearing Loss, the campaign name 
of the Royal National Institute for Deaf People. Our members have 
taken part in fundraising activities throughout his year of office to 
raise funds for this charity. Andrew was delighted to hand them a 
cheque for £60,708 at High Court 2019 in Southport.

Michael Charlton-Hubble was elected to the role at High Court 
in June 2019. His chosen charity, Rays of Sunshine, is a UK 
registered charity that grants wishes to children, aged 3 to 
18 years old, living with serious or life-limiting illnesses. Rays 
of Sunshine believe that every child deserves to experience 
happiness and put their illness on hold – even if it is just for 
one day. It makes wishes come true and turns them in to happy 
memories for the child and his or her family.

Finances

Court funds are ring-fenced which means the funds are only 
available to the Courts. At 31 December 2019, total Court funds 
amounted to £85.0m (2018: £83.5m). The make-up of the Court 
Funds at 31 December 2019 was as follows on the next page:

The Corporate Objectives to be achieved by the end of 2023 are:

• Assets under management of £500m

• Reaching 100,000 members

• Annual Premium Income of £50m

• Grow Member capital

• Elimination of expense overrun

• Maintaining customer and member service satisfaction 
levels above 90%

• Double the number of members engaging in court activities

• Deliver the Societies digitalisation programme

• Corporate Culture aligned to strategic goals

Business Model

Sales

The Society’s insurance business can be divided into two – 
individual products and group schemes. The group schemes 
cover police federations and charities and are sold through 
brokers. The individual products are sold directly, via introducers 
and via independent financial advisers (IFA).

What we sell

The Society offers financial products that are simple and 
affordable, backed by excellent customer service. The main 
individual products are:

• Regular premium with-profits and unit-linked savings plans 
(TESP, CTESP, SIP);

• With-profits individual savings account (ISA, LISA, JISA);

• With-profits investment bond; and

• Regular premium with-profits whole life assurance for the 
over-50s.

The Guernsey Court provides primary healthcare insurance to 
Guernsey and Alderney residents.

Group products insure death and terminal illness, critical illness, 
and loss of pay from being off sick.

How We Market & Sell

Our individual products are promoted in a number of ways:

• Online advertising and social media (Affinity sites, 
Facebook, Twitter, LinkedIn and others); 

• Direct mail and Member Services telephone team; 

• Introducers (POIS and Court); 

• Independent Financial Advisers (IFA).

Group business is sold via specialist brokers.

Key Markets

Individual Business

The Society seeks to offer products and benefits to members 
from all age groups and has an individual product portfolio 
that provides options for saving from birth to old age. When 
producing marketing campaigns and insight, we consider 
members in the following categories:

• Young savers (18-40);

• Young families (in 30s and early 40s);

• Older families (in 40s and early 50s); and 

• Pre/at retirement (late 50s and early 60s);

• Fraternal members. 

Older members are the most active members of the Courts 
making the most of the companionship, social activities and 
benefits. We want them to be advocates of Foresters and to 
introduce Foresters to their friends and relations in our target 
markets. To this end, we enthusiastically encourage fraternal 
membership besides offering financial products.

Group Business

The Society’s key market in group business is police forces 
based within the United Kingdom.

Foresters Extras – Member Benefits

All policyholders automatically qualify for Foresters Extras at 
no additional cost. Fraternal Membership can be purchased as 
a stand-alone product. The package of benefits includes grants 
for items such as:

• Education;

• Optical care;

• Dental care;

• Hardship grants for children;

• Hardship grants for adults;

• Member care – for convalescence or help at home.

During 2019, the amounts paid out in grants were as follows:
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Grants paid 
during 2019 

(£’000)

  Optical and Dental Care – 
337 (2018: 288)

  Other Court Awarded 
Discretionary Payments – 
326 (2018: 254)

  Hardship grants for adults 
and children in special need – 
78 (2018: 86)

  Educational Awards – 
73 (2018: 42)

  Member Care Benefits – 
119 (2018: 43)

Strategic Report (continued)



Net operating expenses in the non-technical account represent 
the costs of running The Leeds District of the Ancient Order of 
Foresters’ Investment Association and are included in the Court 
Expenses shown below. These have remained static year on 
year at £0.2m.

Court operating expenses represent the local expenditure incurred 
by the Society’s Courts in running their operations. These costs 
have increased by £1m in 2019. This increase includes a £0.3m 
contribution to the Society’s IT project. Further details on total 
operating expenses are set out in Note 7 on page 73.

Individual Membership

The membership base is the total number of members (including 
the Guernsey branch) at the end of the financial year and gives an 
indication of the scale of the Society. On 31 December 2019 the 
Society had 71,064 members, 692 members fewer than 2018 
(71,756). These figures include members with whom we have 
not had contact for a number of years and for which a gone-
away project is currently in progress to re-establish contact with 
the member or their descendants. In 2019, there was an 18% 
increase in new business volumes but high levels of maturities 
and other claims reduced the overall membership.

Fund for Future Appropriations 

The FFA is used as an indicator of financial strength and the 
ability of the Society to meet its regulatory capital and business 
requirements. The current value of £22.65m exceeds the Society’s 
regulatory capital requirements. The FFA decreased in the with-
profits funds by £0.75m over 2019 primarily because of increased 
technical provisions in respect of paid up policies totalling £0.3m 
and final bonuses of £0.1m. 

The part attributable to Members’ capital decreased by £0.9m over 
2019, with the largest impact item being IT Project costs of £1.6m 
which was offset by cost reductions achieved in 2019.

Complaints 

Membership satisfaction is core to the Society. The Society measures 
member satisfaction principally by member retention, member 
complaints, investment performance and results of membership 
surveys. Complaints are managed through the Society’s complaints 
process to ensure they are dealt with promptly and fairly.

Of the 50 complaints received in 2019, 27 were upheld by the 
Society. In 2018 the corresponding number was 32 complaints 
with 14 being upheld. In 2019, 7 of these complaints were referred 
to the Financial Ombudsman service, of which 1 was upheld. The 
incidence of complaints remained low.
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In addition to the Court funds there are a number of discretionary 
funds valued at £14.4m (2018: £13.5m) with specific purposes 
as determined by the Society. These are set out on page 80. 
Court income primarily derives from investment income on 
Court assets, membership fees and other fundraising activities. 
Court expenses include the costs of administering the Courts, 
investment charges and grants to members, the costs of 
providing social events and donations to good causes.

The amounts that Courts paid in grants to members and external 
donations is shown in the table below:

Key Performance Indicators

Introduction 

The results for 2019 are set out in detail on pages 56 to 104 and 
are summarised below together with the Society’s Key Performance 
Indicators (KPIs). The KPIs show the six key measures that the 
Society uses to assess its performance covering premium income, 
expenses, membership, complaints, financial strength (as measured 
by the FFA and member capital) and assets under management.

Premium Income

Premium income is the total income generated by the Society 
through in-force regular premiums, new business premiums and 
top-up premiums.

Gross long-term premium income has increased in 2019 to 
£30.7m (2018: £27.9m). Group premiums contributed £14.5m 
(2018: £13.4m).

In with-profits, new business contributed £6.5m lump sums 
(2018: £4.8m) and £0.2m regular premiums (2018: £0.3m). 
Unit-linked policies produced £1.2m of new regular premiums 
(2018: £1.1m).

For in-force with-profits policies, regular premiums contributed 
£3.7m (2018: £3.4m). Unit-linked products in-force collected 
£4.7m (2018: £4.9m).

Gross premium income of the Guernsey primary care insurance 
remained consistent at £2.5m (2018: £2.4m).

Total Operating Expenses

Expenses are managed through the setting of budgets within the 
business planning process and a regular review and challenge 
process throughout the year. This is a KPI as policyholders’ 
returns and members’ capital are directly affected by the costs 
of operating the business.

Net operating expenses in the technical account represent the 
costs of running the Society’s insurance business and in 2019 
are £0.8m higher than in 2018. Much of this increase is expense 
on the IT project of £1.6m, offset with a reduction in general 
overheads from cost cutting exercises carried out during 2019 
as described in the Chairman’s Report on page 7.

31/12/2019 
(£’000)

31/12/2018 
(£’000)

CIF property 44,959 53,326

Leeds Investment Association deposits 12,278 10,918

Fixed interest 18,213 7,930

Derby Investment Association deposits 4,499 4,222

Locally managed property 5,134 3,381

CIF Cash and cash equivalents 531 1,351

Net Debtors/(Creditors) (727) 110

Guernsey insurance assets (3,951) (1,586)

Court Reserve Fund (2,585) (2,592)

Society Court Funds 78,351 77,060

Leeds Investment Association surplus assets 6,686 6,482

Consolidated Court Funds 85,037 83,542

Grants, 
donations and 
social subsidies 

£’000

  Grants – 
663 (2018: 541)

  Donations – 
396 (2018: 240)

  Social subsidies – 
616 (2018: 480)
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Total Assets 

The value of total assets is another key indicator of the scale of the 
Society. Total assets show the growth in the value of the business 
over time, through increased sales, expense control, profitability 
and investment returns. As at the end of 2019, total assets were 
£282.7m (2018: £267.9m). The increase in assets in 2019 mainly 
related to high investment market values (equities and fixed income) 
at the end of 2019. Markets were extremely distressed at the end 
of 2018 and a significant market correction occurred in the first 
quarter of 2019.

Risk

Risk Management

Effective risk management supports the Society in delivering its 
strategy. It also protects policyholders and members and helps 
with the efficient use of capital.

The Society’s approach to Risk Management, delivered through 
the Risk Management Framework, is embedded within the 
business through our risk management systems, culture and 
governance structure. The objectives of the Risk Management 
Framework are:

    Align strategy, capital, processes, people, technology 
and knowledge to enable the management of opportunities, 
uncertainties and threats in a structured manner;

    Establish a common view of risk across the Society and 
an understanding of the risks inherent within the business;

    Ensure the Society’s view of risk is current and in line 
with risk appetite;

    Improve decision making;

    Provide relevant and accurate management information;

    Ensure adequate and appropriate resources are available 
to facilitate effective governance and challenge;

    Ensure clear accountability; and

    Promote and embed a risk-aware culture.

Underpinning the Risk Management framework is the Own Risk 
and Solvency Assessment (ORSA), which is the set of ongoing 
processes and procedures in place to identify, assess, monitor, 
manage and report on the short- and long-term risks that the 
Society faces, or may face in the future, and to determine the 
capital resources necessary to ensure that overall solvency needs 
are met at all times. The ORSA plays a key role in supporting the 
Board’s assessment of strategy and ongoing viability.

The ORSA output and the associated stress and scenario testing 
are key components for the assessment the Directors consider in 
making the statement regarding the viability of the Society in the 
Directors’ Report on page 31.

Our Risk Strategy 

The Society’s risk strategy, which is designed to support the 
achievement of the Society’s corporate objectives, is: 

• Foresters is a Friendly Society in the business of taking 
on risks in the course of providing financial solutions for 
members, where they can be managed efficiently;

• Foresters will focus on risks where it is believed it can provide 
value to members, and for which members are willing to pay 
the appropriate amount. These are primarily insurance and 
investment risks;

• Risks are only taken that are rewarded commensurate with 
the risk, and where the appropriate skills are available to 
manage this. Risks that expose the Society to very volatile 
or extreme potential outcomes which would threaten the 
Society’s ability to continue are avoided.

Risk Appetite

The Society’s risk appetite supports the delivery of the risk 
strategy. It is the level of risk the Society is prepared to take whilst 
pursuing its business strategy. The risk appetite is determined 
by the Board. The Board also determines the risk tolerance from 
the stated risk appetite which provides a framework to apply risk 
limits and any actions. Management monitors the Society’s risk 
profile against the risk appetite and reports this to the Board.

The Society’s risk profile for its UK Insurance Operations is shown 
in the graph below and relates to the proportion of the Solvency II 
solvency capital requirement held in respect of the Society’s risks. 
The most significant sources of capital requirements are in respect 
of increases in mortality and morbidity related claims (Insurance 
Risk), increases to the Society’s future levels of expenses (Expense 
Risk) and fall in investment values (Market Risk). The risk profile 
has changed relative to last year due to renewals of large Group 
schemes which have increased the level of Insurance Risk by 
£0.6m and derisking the Society’s Order Insurance Fund’s 
investments has reduced Market Risk by £2.6m.
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Risk Governance

The Society’s risk governance operates through risk policies, a risk governance structure, and clearly defined roles and responsibilities.

*The combined Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee separates Risk and Audit related matters by segregating the agenda to ensure clarity on risk 
and audit areas, and ensuring the Non-Executive Director members taken together have the appropriate skills to address both Risk and Audit matters.

Governance structure

1st line of defence

Business

Ownership, accountability and 
responsibility for risk

Board

Executive and Senior Management

Department Managers

All Staff

2nd line of defence

Risk Function

Facilitate, coordinate, challenge, 
support, train and educate

Risk and Compliance Committee*

Chief Risk Officer

Actuarial and Chief Actuary/WPA

Compliance

Business Risk and  
Compliance Committee

3rd line of defence

Assurance

Independent 
assessment

Audit Committee*

Internal Audit

The Society operates a Three Lines of Defence model of risk management to enable clearly defined roles and responsibilities 
for Committees and individuals. 

First line: Day to day risk management is delegated from the Board to the Chief Executive, and through the Society’s operating structure is 
delegated to the operational functions including marketing, sales, insurance operations (claims handling, policy administration) finance, actuarial 
(the actuarial department have both first line and second line responsibilities, these potential conflicts are managed through the society’s review 
processes and Chief Actuary role), IT, and Human Resources. The actuarial department has been outsourced from 1 January 2020. Under the first 
line of defence, operational management has ownership, responsibility and accountability for directly assessing, controlling and mitigating risks.

Second line: Risk oversight is provided by the Chief Risk Officer who reports to the Chief Executive and has a dotted line to the Chair of the 
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee (ARCC), to allow no constraints when reporting to the Committee, with support provided from the Risk and 
Compliance Assistant, Chief Compliance Officer and the Business Risk and Compliance Committee (BRCC). The Risk Management Function and 
Compliance Function is accountable for providing challenge and oversight of Society’s management of risks and developing and maintaining the 
risk management framework. The Chief Actuary who reports to the Chief Executive, also forms part of the Society’s second line of defence. 
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The Chief Actuary is responsible for the work of the Actuarial Function, particularly in respect of the calculation of technical provisions and 
solvency capital requirements. Independent oversight is provided by the Non-Executive Directors at the ARCC. The Audit component of the 
ARCC is responsible for the review of internal control, financial reporting process, review of the internal and external auditor effectiveness. 
The Risk component of the ARCC is responsible for monitoring the risk and governance framework of the Society.

Third line: Internal Audit forms the Society’s third line of defence. It is accountable for providing an independent assessment of the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal controls framework through a risk-based approach. It reports to the ARCC on the operation 
of this framework by the first and second line functions. The Society employs a Court Auditor who is responsible for reviewing the Court internal 
controls through a risk-based plan. The Internal Auditors will review the effectiveness of the Court Internal Audit work on a cyclical basis. 

Further detail is provided on the role of the ARCC on pages 39 and 40.

Risk Policies

The Society has in place risk policies that outline the aim and approach to be taken for Risk Management within the Society together with 
the standards and parameters which have to be adhered to, the escalation procedures, reporting requirements and responsibilities for each 
principal risk type. These policies are reviewed on an annual basis.

Risk Culture

A core element of the risk management framework is the Society’s culture. The Society’s aim is to ensure staff have clear roles and 
responsibilities, are appropriately skilled, and the appropriate incentives and rewards are in place. The remuneration policy is designed to 
encourage the right behaviours and is overseen by the Remuneration Committee.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The types of principal risks the Society is exposed to are strategic, insurance, liquidity, market, operational, counterparty default, and 
conduct and regulatory.

Principal Risk Category Principal Risk Description

Market Risk Loss from a change in the value of, or income from, the assets of the society

Insurance Risk Variability in death and sickness claim rates, relative to the actuarial assumptions made in the pricing and reserving processes

Credit counterparty risk A counterparty defaults partially or fully on its obligations or fails to meet them in a timely manner

Liquidity Risk Not having sufficient liquid resources to meet changing market conditions and being unable to meet obligations as they 
fall due, or being able to secure them only at excessive cost 

Strategic Risk Risks faced which might affect the ability to meet core objectives

Regulatory Risk Potential for losses due to a change in laws and regulations

Conduct Risk Conduct Risk is the risk of a firm treating its customers unfairly and delivering inappropriate outcomes for those customers

Operational Risk Loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems or from external events

The nature and extent of risks arising from insurance contracts, including market risk, credit counterparty risk and liquidity risk, are 
described in the risk management Note 24 within the financial statements section.

The following risks are the principal risks the Board identified at the end of the year that is believed could have the most significant 
impact on our business model, future performance, solvency or liquidity. The list represents the principal risks faced in 2019 and is not 
an exhaustive representation of all risks the Society is exposed to. The list is used in conjunction with the other risks as part of its top risk 
assessment, taking into account the likelihood and the impact of the risk occurring to manage risks. These risks are closely monitored, 
and regular updates are provided to the ARCC.

Risk 2019 and future Risk management

Failure to deliver the 
sales plan – volume, 
mix and profitability

As at end of 2019 Individual premium increased by 42% and annual 
premiums increased by 12% over 2018 results. Policy volumes are 
also above 2018 levels overall. Profitability remained on watch with 
product reviews being undertaken for the JISA, LISA and Bond, CTESP 
and TESP actions are being discussed to address profitability.

Key priorities on sales for 2020 are a review of distribution (including 
channels, commissions and incentives) and product features for with-
profits and unit-linked, in particular POIS introducer fees, reconnecting 
meaningfully with IFAs, orienting toward higher premium and lump 
sum policies and restructuring the TESP and CTESP with-profits 
product to improve customer features.

A proposal was approved by the Board in 2019 to commence the 
implementation of a Single Member view database for marketing, 
to drive incremental sales and approve marketing effectiveness, 
by expert data driven marketing that is more targeted. 

• Foresters digital website has launched 2nd October 2019 

• POIS digital website launched in January 2020 

• Reconnect with IFAs using trailing fees, online surrender 
values, flexible charges for large lump sums and 
servicing 80+ customers 

• Use of expert data company data insights for improving 
sales and retention 

• Improve maturity process within claims area

• Shift POIS introducers to with-profits LISA and JISA 

• Reducing overreliance on individual POIS introducers 

• Monitor effectiveness of campaigns and adjust future 
campaigns 

• Reprice some products

• Review minimum premium levels for some products

Failure to deliver 
expense savings 
impacting capital

Due to the size and complexity of the fund structure that the Society 
operates, level of regulation and current levels of new business, the 
Society incurs significant costs. The Society has achieved some cost 
reductions in 2019. To improve the Society’s profitability position, the 
Society has identified further management actions to take to reduce 
expense levels in 2020 and future years.

• Budgeting process in place and results approved by 
the Board

• Monthly MI and monitoring and variance analysis

• Management actions are proposed for efficiencies of 
£0.8m in the Business Plan 

• Regular management discussions on progress against 
cost saving measures

• Board oversight and challenge

• Reforecast of expenses at the half year point

Solvency: 
Capital management – 
Reduction in member 
capital 

A review of potential capital optimisation options was undertaken 
in 2019; this consisted of a review of the OIF fund strategic asset 
allocation, potential additional reinsurance options, and specific cost 
reductions to improve the capital position of the Society’s non-profit 
fund. These areas are being progressed. 

• Solvency assessed as part of business plan with 
sensitivities and scenarios to be undertaken

• Taking out excess of loss reinsurance with growing 
group business 

• Decision making aligned to capital 

• Focus on non-profit fund actions

• ORSA capital projections to support decision making

• Review approach to frequency of valuations

IT infrastructure fails to 
meet business needs 

During 2019 the Board decided it would cancel the IT change 
project in its current form as described in the CEO Report on page 11. 
A number of lower risk modular changes to the Society’s IT road map 
have been approved by the Board. These changes are expected to 
improve the Society’s operational resilience and cost basis as the 
IT projects target low up-front investment and early payback. The 
timelines for the modular changes are currently being considered 
along with assessment of costs and risk.

• IT Outsource agreement, renegotiation of contract 
underway

• Service level agreements monitoring

• Business Continuity and Disaster recovery Plans 
in place

• Supplier relationship management

• IT roadmap and IT Strategy

• IT Governance Review

• Additional IT roles to enhance the Society’s inhouse 
IT capability

Information Security 
and Cyber security

There continues to be high profile cyber security incidents externally. 
This is expected to remain the case as cyber criminals become ever 
more sophisticated against a backdrop of needing to be digital to 
support a viable strategy. The Society continues to enhance its cyber 
security controls though testing and training and this is a continuous 
process for the Society. The Society obtained its Cyber Essentials Plus 
certification in 2019. 

• IT Policy and IT controls

• Cyber security response plan

• Information Security Policy

• Employee phishing exercises and computer based 
training, regular communications about threats

• Internal Audit reviews

• Penetration testing and cyber essentials testing by 
external parties to test IT security defences
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The Society is also exposed to claims from ill-health. The largest 
concentration of this risk is also in the Society’s Group business. 
However, the sick pay benefits offered in this business line 
provide for a 26-week deferred period, so the additional risk from 
Covid-19 illness is expected to be small.

The Society has catastrophe reinsurance in place, which 
explicitly covers pandemics, including the one we are currently 
experiencing. This offers the Society protection against Covid-19 
related claims in excess of £0.5 million in the six month period 
commencing on 11 March 2020.

Investment portfolio

Since the year end, investment markets have significantly 
deteriorated due to the uncertainty Covid-19 brings to the 
future state of the global economy. As at the date of signing 
these financial statements, the Society has sold the entirety of 
its equity and convertible bond portfolios held in the with-profits 
Order Insurance Fund, the Tunstall Fund and the Non-Profit 
Fund. The POIS with-profits fund is financially strong and is 
expected to be able to maintain its limited equity holdings 
through the current crisis.

The Society’s remaining major holdings in equity remains in the 
POIS unit-linked business funds where the investment risk is 
borne by policyholders. These have significant equity exposure 
by design. From 31 December 2019 to 31 March 2020, the unit 
prices of these funds have dropped as follows:

The Directors do not view this as a permanent drop but continue 
to keep the position under close review. 

The market value of the Society’s fixed interest portfolios has 
also fallen since the year end, although far less significantly than 
equities, with corporate bonds being the most affected having 
fallen in value by around 10% as credit spreads have widened. 
The Directors are mindful that the credit risk in that portfolio 
is likely to have increased. The Society is also affected by the 
reduction in yields on risk-free assets such as UK government 
bonds. This reduction increases its technical provisions in respect 
of the cost of guarantees. Property valuations have not yet been 
reperformed and the property portfolio is being monitored for signs 
of any significant deterioration in rent collections. The Society’s 
property portfolio is estimated to have fallen by approximately 2% 
in capital value over the first quarter of 2020 based on comparison 
to publicly available property indices and property fund prices.

Solvency Position and Forecasts

The Directors are closely monitoring the Society’s capital coverage 
ratio in these volatile market conditions to assess the Society’s 
compliance with regulatory capital requirements in the context of 
the risk appetite determined by the Board.

The Society’s 2019 Own Risk and Solvency Assessment report 
(‘ORSA’) included a pandemic scenario which considered a 
loss event for the Society as a result of increased incidence of 
sickness, mortality and associated operational risk losses. The 
scenario showed that the Society continued to operate within 
its capital coverage ratio risk appetite despite the impact of 
such an event.

The Directors recognise that as the foreseeable scenarios change, 
decisions may need to be made in relation to the scale of the 
Society’s activity and the level of capital maintained to support 
that activity. The Board is considering the need for an ad hoc 
ORSA, but is mindful of where Management time is best spent to 
ensure the Society’s resilience in the current economic climate.

Going Concern

As at the date of signing these financial statements, the Directors’ 
forecasts up to 31 December 2024 indicate that the Society will 
be able to maintain liquidity and a surplus over its Solvency Capital 
Requirement. It will therefore be able to continue to trade as a going 
concern. However, there are foreseeable scenarios in which this 
position may be under threat; the Society was already outside of its 
risk appetite at 31 December 2019.

The Society is considering a number of further actions 
to improve its capital coverage ratio including:

• launching a new with-profits product to improve the 
Society’s competitive position;

• increasing reinsurance cover; and 

• consolidating sub funds. 

However, these are longer-term actions, and launching a new 
product may reduce the Society’s CCR in the short term.

The Directors are continuously monitoring the Society’s financial 
position and outlook. Further actions, in addition to those actions 
already taken, will be taken if the Society’s capital coverage ratio 
continues to deteriorate.

Other

Details of risks associated with Solvency and Liquidity can be 
found in Note 24 on pages 94 to 98.

By Order of the Board

Lisa Russell
Company Secretary
1 June 2020

Strategic Report (continued)

Brexit

The full impact of Brexit remains uncertain in the short and 
long-term. In economic terms, the Society holds a diverse 
portfolio of financial assets in order to offer some protection 
against market shocks that may occur in specific assets classes 
and is monitoring the exposure of these assets to interest rates, 
exchange rates and inflation.

During the ORSA process a Brexit scenario was modelled. This 
scenario considers a loss event for the Society, as a result of a 
bad outcome of the Brexit trade deal negotiations, leading to a 
downturn in the UK economy. The specific specification of the 
scenario has been determined from the 2019 Insurance Stress 
Test exercise and Bank of England EU withdrawal scenario. The 
results of the scenario showed that the main impact to the Society 
would be the widening of the gilt and corporate spreads as there 
is an increased exposure since year-end 2018 as well as the 
increase in inflation and gilt yields.

Aside from the capital market impact, the Society has considered 
the specific areas of impact for our business and determined that, 
whilst not significant to our business operations, the likely areas 
of potential impact are:

• Lower policy sales due to squeezed household budgets;

• Members who have moved to an EU country since taking out 
a policy no longer being able to pay contributions;

• Increases in salary and other costs from inflation rises;

• Implications of restrictions on the free movement of labour;

• Services provided by EU based suppliers; and

• Regulatory changes.

We remain close to these issues whilst the political 
negotiations continue.

Climate Change

Regulators are increasingly focusing on the financial risks that 
arise from climate change, and expect firms to work towards 
managing them, including the ability to remain operationally 
viable in changing times. The Society’s investment manager 
AXA IM has been a leader in decarbonisation, a leader in UN 
Principles for Responsible Investment (PRI) and our mandates are 
Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG). 

The Society is taking steps to ensure that it will have the required 
processes in place to comply with all regulatory obligations related 
to climate change. A plan has been developed to cover the key 
aspects of Governance, Risk Management, Scenario Analysis and 
Disclosure. The main risk exposure to the Society is in respect of 
the investment portfolio. Work has progressed via the Society’s 
Chief Investment Officer who holds the SMF role of climate change 
officer, who is actively working with the Society’s investment 
managers on our approach to climate change. 

Other considerations and risks that are being assessed in 
respect of climate change are impacts of increased possibility 
of pandemics and impacts to properties held by the Society, 
whether this is flooding or natural disaster risks, and also 
increased risk of disaster that could affect the building that 
the Society operates its insurance business from, and how the 
Society responds to those potential risks. Although the main 
risk exposure is the investment portfolio, the Society needs to 
ensure it remains operationally viable.

COVID - 19

The Directors have been monitoring the development of the 
impact of Covid-19, both directly on the Society’s business 
and indirectly through reviewing the development of government 
policy and advice. The main considerations are as follows:

Members

In the increasingly likely event of an economic recession, there 
will be members of the Society who will suffer. The Society offers 
benevolent grants to its members and is encouraging, through 
its Court Network, active promotion of these member benefits. 
Our Foresters Support Fund offers discretionary grants to assist 
our adult members (over 18 years of age and who have been a 
member for at least 6 months) in times of hardship or distress 
by paying up to £2,000. For example, we have been able to help 
members affected by the recent floods and members facing 
illness or financial difficulties. We feel it is only right that this 
Fund now supports those who have been affected by Covid-19.

Operational

The Directors have made the decision to implement aspects of 
the Society’s business continuity plan (BCP), specifically advising 
staff at all levels and in all functions to work at home, wherever 
practicable, and to minimise the need for gatherings of staff. 
Communications within the Society are now almost wholly via 
telephone, video conferencing, email or messaging applications. 
The Society’s IT facilities are adequate to maintain operations on 
this basis for the foreseeable future albeit some processes may 
take longer to run than usual. The Directors expect that further 
operational changes will continue to be required.

The Directors are mindful of the differing pressures on individual 
members of staff, and that these pressures change as the 
position nationally and locally develops. The Society has an 
employee assistance programme in place to support the mental 
well-being of staff during this challenging time.

Risks underwritten

The Society has written policies that provide benefits in ill-health 
and in the event of death.

The Society’s Group business is the largest concentration of risk 
with respect to the current situation, primarily resulting from a 
potential increase in death claims.

Fund
Unit price at 
31 Dec 2019 

(p) 

Unit price at 
31 Mar 2020  

(p)
Decrease

POIS Savings Fund 226.80 183.00 -19%

POIS Flexible Growth Fund 116.2 95.11 -18%

POIS Money Bond Fund 198.9 189.30 -5%
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John Instance
Chairman

John was appointed to the Board in December 2012. In June 2016 he was appointed to the position of 
Chairman for which regulatory approval was subsequently received. He retired in 2015 from his role as 
Acting Director, Actuarial Policy in the Codes and Standards Division at the Financial Reporting Council. 
His experience includes business management, product development, actuarial reporting, as well as setting 
and overseeing Business Plans. John is a Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries and has a BA in 
Mathematics from Oxford.

Chairman of the Investment Committee.

Rachel Hardy 
Chief Executive 

Rachel joined the Society in September 2017 and was elected to the Board at High Court in June 
2018 as Finance Director. In January 2020 Rachel was appointed as Chief Executive, incorporating the 
responsibilities of the Chief Finance Officer.

She has 20 years’ experience in commercial businesses and large accountancy practices enabling her 
to approach issues from both a strategic and regulatory perspective. Prior to joining the Society, she 
was with Smith & Williamson LLP, where she was a statutory Director of one of the group’s subsidiary 
companies and a Senior Statutory Auditor. Rachel has a BSc in mathematics from Imperial College, 
London and is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Member of the Investment Committee.

Trevor Batten
Non-Executive Director

Trevor was elected to the Board in June 2016. Prior to his retirement in 2015, he held the position of Risk 
Director and CRO for Engage Mutual where he worked for 22 years and was a member of the Executive 
Committee. His experience includes risk management, actuarial reporting and with-profits business. Trevor 
is a Fellow of the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. He is a Director of Family Assurance Staff Pension 
Scheme Trustees which provides trustee services to the Family Assurance Staff Pensions Scheme and the 
Homeowners Friendly Society Pension Scheme.

Chairman of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee and a member of the Investment and 
Nominations Committees.
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Michael Charlton-Hubble 
Non-Executive Member Director 

As current High Chief Ranger, Michael was co-opted to the Board in April 2020 due to the tragic 
passing of John McLoughlin. In line with our Society Rules, Michael will hold this position until 
the conclusion of our next High Court. Prior to Michael’s retirement, he served 20 years as a 
Superintendent Registrar for births, deaths and marriages. As well as being a Court Secretary, 
he has been Chair of the Gloucestershire LGBT Group for 25 years, a Samaritan, and a fund 
raiser for several charities.

Chairman of the Membership Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the 
With-Profits and Unit-Linked Advisory Arrangements.

Helen Mackinnon
Non-Executive Member Director

Helen was elected to the Board in June 2016. She is a fifth generation Forester who has been an active 
member since age 16 and held many positions within the Court structure. She is a qualified Chartered 
Certified Accountant and in 2013 obtained her law degree. Her experience includes audit, business 
management advice, cash flows, accounts and tax. Helen is the owner and director of H2H Accountancy 
Limited and Company Secretary to Bean Creative Limited and Bay Dreamer Yachts Limited.

Member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee, Nominations and Remuneration Committees 
and the With-Profits and Unit-Linked Advisory Arrangements.

Graham Setterfield 
Non-Executive Director and Senior Independent Director

Graham was elected to the Board in June 2015. Graham previously held the positions of Director and 
Chief Executive for American Express Insurance Services Europe Limited as well as various marketing 
and management positions within the insurance sector including Aegon. Graham has an HND in 
Business Studies from the University of West England. Now semi-retired Graham is involved with the 
Prince’s Trust as an Enterprise & Next Steps Scheme Business Mentor.

Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees and the With-Profits and Unit-Linked 
Advisory Arrangements. He is also a member of the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

The Directors may be invited to become a member of other companies, subject to the appointment not leading to a conflict of interest 
and the agreement of the Society. These appointments provide an opportunity to gain broader experience and therefore benefit the 
Society. All external commitments are listed above and have been approved by the Board.

Corporate Governance
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Directors’ Report
Introduction
The Society’s Board of Directors present their report together 
with the audited financial statements of The Ancient Order of 
Foresters Friendly Society Limited (the Society) for the year ended 
31 December 2019. The Society is a friendly society which 
incorporated under the Friendly Societies Act 1992 on 1 January 
2003. Its core business objective is to provide financial services 
products to its members in addition to discretionary financial, social 
and benevolent benefits. At 31 December 2019 the Society had 
71,064 members (2018: 71,756 members). The Directors confirm 
that the Society did not carry out any activities outside its powers 
during the year.

Directors
The Directors who have served since 1 January 2019 are as follows:

Non-Executive Directors

John Instance – Chairman 

Trevor Batten 

John Garrett (retired 24 June 2019)

Helen Mackinnon

John McLoughlin (appointed 24 June 2019, deceased 15 
February 2020)

Graham Setterfield – Senior Independent Director

Erik Vynckier (retired 30 June 2019)

Executive Directors

Rachel Hardy – Chief Executive (appointed 1 January 2020) 
Chief Finance Officer 

Erik Vynckier – Interim Chief Executive (appointed 1 July 2019, 
retired 31 December 2019)

Paul Osborn – Chief Executive (retired 30 June 2019)

Myles Edwards – Membership Director (retired 9 August 2019)

Business Review
The Board sets objectives and priorities supported by KPIs and 
targets, which it monitors on an ongoing basis throughout the 
year. A summary of the results for the year together with the KPIs 
are contained in the Strategic Report on pages 15 to 25. The 
results of the Society are set out in the Income and Expenditure 
accounts on pages 56 to 58.

The Society consists of its Insurance and Court operations. The 
consolidated results include the results of the Leeds Investment 
Association at market value, as outlined in Note 2 to the financial 
statements and the Guernsey Court’s general insurance business. 

The Society also has one subsidiary company – Foresters 
General Insurance Services Limited. Its results are included in the 
consolidated financial statements.

The Society retains surplus capital of £4.1m (2018 £5.7m) as 
shown in Note 20.

The key risks facing the Society together with how they are managed, 
mitigated and reported are documented on pages 20 to 25.

Regulatory
The Society is regulated by the Prudential Regulation Authority 
(PRA) which is responsible for the prudential regulation of firms 
and the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) which retains the 
responsibility for conduct issues concerning the distribution of 
products to customers and how these products are administered. 

The Society remains clear over its obligations to the Regulators 
and the Society’s own Rules, its Principles and Practices of 
Financial Management (PPFM), Money Laundering rules, Bribery 
Act, Data Protection and Advertising and Health and Safety 
requirements and legislation. 

Statement of the Directors’ 
Responsibilities
The Friendly Societies Act 1992 (‘the Act’) requires the Directors 
to prepare accounts for each financial year which give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Society at the end of the year 
and of its income and expenditure for that year. In preparing those 
accounts the Directors are required to:

• Select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;

• Make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

• State whether applicable United Kingdom accounting 
standards have been followed, subject to any material 
departures disclosed and explained in the accounts; and

• Prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless 
it is inappropriate to assume that the Society will continue 
in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting 
records, which must show and explain the transactions of the 
Society and disclose the financial position of the Society with 
reasonable accuracy at any time and enable them to ensure 
that the accounts comply with the Act and the regulations under 
it. They are also responsible for the system of internal control, 
for safeguarding the assets of the Society and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and the detection of fraud 
and other irregularities. The Directors consider the Report and 

Accounts herein, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and 
understandable and provides the information necessary for 
members to assess the Society’s performance, business model 
and strategy.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the corporate and financial information included on the Society’s 
website. The Directors’ responsibility also extends to the on-going 
integrity of the accounts contained therein. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of 
accounts may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability 
Insurance
The Society has maintained liability insurance cover for members 
of the Board and Senior Management of the Society.

Society’s Relationship with Members
As a branch-based friendly society, members are allocated to 
Courts, which are represented through a delegate system at High 
Court, the Society’s Annual General Meeting. The Annual General 
Meeting takes place over a weekend and includes detailed 
discussions between the Board and member delegates on the 
performance of the Society and strategic issues. The Society’s 
delegate system has proven to be an effective model 
for communication with 271 delegates attending High Court in 
2019. Northern and Southern conferences are held each year 
at which the views of Court members are obtained.

To enhance engagement with members outside of the 
conferences, the Society publishes a member newsletter, 
Miscellany, and regularly conducts an independent Customer 
Satisfaction Survey. 

The Membership Committee acts as a conduit between the Board and 
the members through which matters of direct interest are considered. 

Statement of Risk Management 
and Internal Control
The Board and the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee have 
reviewed the effectiveness of the Society’s internal control system, 
including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk 
management, in accordance with the ‘AFM Corporate Governance 
Code’ (the Code) for the period from 1 January 2019 to the 
date of approval of this Annual Report. No significant failings or 
weaknesses were identified during this review.

Going Concern
Under the Code the Directors are required to state whether the 
business is a going concern. The Directors are of the opinion 
that the Society has adequate capital resources to continue in 
operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis for the 
Society’s accounts. In assessing whether the going concern basis is 
appropriate, the Directors have considered all relevant information 
including the information contained in the financial statements and 
the latest Business Plan including forecasts of solvency.

Long-term Viability Statement
The Board has assessed the prospects of the Society over a 
longer period than the 12 months required for the going concern 
review. A five year look forward was chosen as this is the period 
over which the Society prepared its 2020 – 2024 Business Plan 
and has reasonable clarity over its likely cash flows and key risks.

In considering the longer-term viability of the Society the Board 
has identified the principal risks facing the Society and the basis 
of these risks. The Society’s risk mitigation is set out within the 
risk report on pages 20 to 25.

The Society uses a stress testing approach to calculate its 
economic capital requirements. The results are documented in the 
Society’s annual ORSA Report. This is supplemented by sensitivity 
and scenario testing to aid understanding of the key risks faced. 
These scenarios help contribute to the Board’s decision-making 
process when considering the long-term viability of the Society. 
The longer-term viability of the Society is further supported by the 
Society’s operational Business Plan. 

The 2019 ORSA included the following modelled stress scenarios:

• Pandemic – this scenario considers a loss event for the 
Society, as a result of increased incidence of sickness, 
mortality and associated operational risk losses.

• Bad Brexit – this scenario considers a loss event for 
the Society, as a result of a bad outcome of the Brexit 
negotiations, leading to a downturn in the UK economy. The 
specific specification of the scenario has been determined 
from the 2019 insurance stress test exercise and Bank of 
England EU withdrawal scenario.

• 2019 ORSA also reviews qualitative scenarios for Brexit, risks 
associated with expense saving management actions and 
cyber security. Consideration was also given to financial risks 
due to climate change and liquidity risk.

Corporate Governance
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The Society has carried out a reverse stress testing exercise as 
part of the ORSA process, which requires the Society to identify 
and assess the scenarios most likely to cause its current business 
model to fail and/or lead its stakeholders to lose confidence in 
the organisation. Mitigating actions can be considered and put 
in place as appropriate. 

The analysis showed that on all bases of measurement, the 
Society was operating within risk appetite in aggregate and 
within individual funds.

The Business Plan shows the Society to still have viable financial 
strength at the end of 2024, even in the event of falling sales 
and significant falls in investment markets. This is demonstrated 
through the Society’s ORSA and Stress Testing processes.

As a result of the analysis and reviewing the Business Plan for 
2020-2024, prepared by Management, the Directors have a 
reasonable expectation that the Society will be able to continue 
in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over the 
period of assessment without qualifications or assumptions.

Donations
The Society donated £4,185 (2018: £3,000) to various charities 
during the year from Head Office. No political donations were 
made during the year. 

Courts carry out charitable fundraising work as part of social 
activities and in 2019 £91,824 (2018: £73,851) was raised. In 
total £395,964 (2018: £239,970) was paid out from branch held 
membership funds to various local and national charities. 

Each year the Society’s High Chief Ranger chooses a charity to 
support. Members and staff throughout the country support the 
appeal and during 2018/2019 a total of £60,811 was raised for 
Action on Hearing Loss. The HCR’s chosen charity for 2019/2020 
is Rays of Sunshine Children’s Charity.

Independence of External Auditor
Following the re-appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as external 
auditors for the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts at the 2019 
High Court, the Board received notification that Grant Thornton 
were undertaking a strategic reduction of its audit client base and 
as a result chose to resign as auditor. 

Subsequently BDO LLP was appointed as external auditor to 
the Society on 26 November 2019 and have confirmed their 
independence to the Board of Directors.

BDO LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as 
auditor and a resolution to reappoint them will be proposed at the 
forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

Statement of Disclosure of Information 
to Auditor
Each of the persons who is a Director at the date of this report 
confirms that, so far as each of them is aware, there is no 
information relevant to the audit of the Society’s financial 
statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 of which the 
auditor is unaware; and the Director has taken all steps that he/
she ought to have taken in his/her duty as a Director to make 
himself/herself aware of any relevant audit information and to 
establish that the Society’s auditor is aware of that information.

By Order of the Board

Lisa Russell
Company Secretary
1 June 2020

Directors’ Report (continued)

Governance Arrangements
The Society voluntarily complies with The AFM Corporate 
Governance Code (‘Code’) as published in January 2019. 
The Code draws on good practices and on statutory and 
regulatory expectations.

The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is the governing body of the whole of the 
Society’s activities. The Board is responsible for the direction 
and management of the business of the Society in the fulfilment 
of its mission and strategic objectives and in compliance with the 
Society’s Memorandum, Rules and any applicable legislation 
and regulation and the Society’s policies, principles and values.

In pursuance of its strategic objectives, the Board maintains a 
schedule of matters specifically reserved for the Board and it 
exercises all those powers that are not by regulation, legislation, 
or by the Rules required to be exercised by the Society at the 
Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting.

The size and composition of the Board and the Sub-Committees are 
kept under review by the Nominations Committee to ensure there 
is adequate succession planning for Executive and Non-Executive 
Directors, and there is an optimum mix of skills and experience on 
the Board and to populate and chair the Sub-Committees.

The composition of the Board at the end of 2019 was a mix 
of three Non-Executive Professional Directors, two Non- 
Executive Member Directors and two Executive Directors. 
A ‘Professional Director’ is identified as having recent insurance 
industry knowledge and experience, and a ‘Member Director’ 
is one drawn directly from the membership, having knowledge 
of the Society’s fraternal activities. The Board believes the 
balance of skills, experience, independence and knowledge 
remains appropriate although it continually monitors the 
position to comply with evolving regulatory requirements and 
to complement the Society’s Strategy. The particular skills and 
experience that each Director brings to the Board are included 
on pages 28 to 29.

The Board delegates certain parts of its responsibilities to Sub-
Committees and to Advisory Arrangements which operate within 
defined Terms of Reference. Their associated reports on their 
activities during 2019 are provided on pages 39 to 43.

The Terms of Reference for the Board, its Sub-Committees and 
Advisory Arrangement are available on the Society’s website at 
www.forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk/about-us/reports-
governance.
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An entry of 2/3 means 2 out of a possible 3 meetings.

Board ARC Investment Membership Nominations Remuneration ULAA WPAA

NUMBER OF  
MEETINGS

9 8 5 6 2 2 5 6

John Instance 
(Chairman)

9/9 - 5/5 - 2/2 - 5/5 -

Trevor Batten 9/9 8/8 2/2 - - - 2/2 -

Myles Edwards 4/4 - - 6/6 - - - -

John Garrett 4/4 - 3/3 6/6 - 1/1 3/3 3/3

Rachel Hardy 9/9 - 5/5 - - - - -

Helen Mackinnon 8/9 8/8 2/2 - 1/1 2/2 2/2 6/6

John McLoughlin 5/5 4/4 - - 1/1 1/1 - 3/3

Paul Osborn 4/4 - 3/3 - - - - -

Graham Setterfield 9/9 8/8 - - 2/2 2/2 - 6/6

Erik Vynckier 9/9 4/4 5/5 - - - 3/3 -

Chairman and Chief Executive 

The roles of Chairman and Chief Executive are held by different 
people and the division of responsibilities between the two is clearly 
established, set out in writing and agreed by the Board of Directors. 

The Chairman is a Non-Executive and responsible for leadership 
of the Board, encouraging open and constructive debate at Board 
meetings and ensuring the Board acts effectively. In the opinion of 
the Board, the Chairman is independent in character and judgement 
and prior to his election as a Non-Executive Director in 2012 he 
had no previous relationship with the Society. On appointment as 
Chairman in June 2016, the Chairman had no other significant 
commitments to disclose to the Board of Directors, a situation 
that has not changed since his appointment. 

The Chief Executive has overall responsibility for managing the 
Society and for the implementation and delivery of the strategy 
and policies agreed by the Board.

Non-Executive Directors

The Non-Executive Directors are responsible for bringing 
independent judgement and challenge to the Board debate and its 
decisions. They provide constructive challenge to management and 
help develop proposals on strategy. In the opinion of the Board, 
each Non-Executive Director, including the Chairman, is independent 
in character and judgement. 

The Non-Executive Directors meet without the Executive Directors 
present at least annually.

Each Non-Executive Director is formally appraised annually.

The Non-Executive Directors may seek independent advice at the 
Society’s expense in accordance with Board policy.

Copies of the terms and conditions of appointment of the Non-
Executive Directors are available for inspection at the Society’s Head 
Office and can be viewed by contacting the Company Secretary.

Executive Directors

Two Executive Directors were in post at the end of 2019, Erik 
Vynckier, Interim Chief Executive Officer, and Rachel Hardy, 
Finance Director. Their performance was appraised by the 
Chairman. In appraising Rachel Hardy, the Chairman considered 
her directorial duties only as her executive function was appraised 
by the Interim Chief Executive Officer as her line manager.

Independence

In determining whether each Non-Executive Director is independent 
in character and judgement and whether there are relationships 
or circumstances which are likely to affect, or could appear to 
affect, the Director’s judgement, the Board uses the provisions 
set out within the UK Corporate Governance Code on Division of 
Responsibilities as published in July 2018. Circumstances which are 

likely to impair, or could appear to impair, a Non-Executive Director’s 
independence include, but are not limited to, whether a director:

• Is or has been employed by the Society within the last five years; or

• Is or has had within the last three years, a material business 
relationship with the Society, either directly or as a partner, 
shareholder, director or senior employee of a body that has 
such a relationship with the Society; or

• Has received or receives additional remuneration from the 
Society apart from a Director’s fee or participates in any of the 
Society’s pension schemes; or

• Has close family ties with any of the Society’s advisers, 
Directors or senior employees; or

• Holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other 
Directors through involvement in other companies or bodies; or

• Has served on the Board for more than nine years from the 
date of their first appointment.

The Board has determined that each Non-Executive Director 
meets the standards set out in the Code and can be considered 
independent, although the code does not require the Chairman to 
be assessed after appointment.

Senior Independent Director

The Code recommends that mutual insurers maintain a dialogue with 
their members and maintain a Senior Independent Director to handle 
issues and concerns raised by members. The Senior Independent 
Director acts as the Society’s Whistleblowing Champion, provides 
counsel for the Chairman and serves as an intermediary for the other 
Directors when necessary. He is also responsible for holding annual 
meetings with the Non-Executive Directors, without the Chairman 
present, to appraise the Chairman’s performance.

Graham Setterfield is the Society’s nominated Senior Independent 
Director and he may be contacted by email at gsetterfield@
forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk.

Appointments to the Board and Re-election

The Appointment of new Directors is considered by the Nominations 
Committee which makes recommendations to the Board. 

Following co-option to the Board, a Director is subject to election 
by members at the next Annual General Meeting. Thereafter, in 
accordance with the Society’s Rules, each Director must retire 
at the Annual General Meeting three years after the meeting at 
which they were last elected or re-elected as a Director. A retiring 
Director may seek re-election subject to the Society’s Rules and 
the Code. A Director’s initial term of office may be reduced to 
align with Board rotation.

Trevor Batten was elected at the 2016 Annual General Meeting for 
an initial year to align with Board rotation, re-elected in 2017 and 
will be subject to re-election in 2020.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Board Attendance Table

Directors’ attendance at meetings of the Board, the Sub-Committees and Advisory Arrangements of which they were members in 2019 is 
set out in the table below.

As well as looking forward to a 

lump sum at the end of my plan, 

I know that my contributions work 

for the benefit of all Foresters 

members along the ways.  ‘‘A satisfied Foresters member, 2020

‘‘

mailto: gsetterfield@forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk
mailto: gsetterfield@forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk
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Diversity Policy

The Board recognises the benefits of having a diverse Board and 
sees increasing diversity as an essential element in maintaining 
an effective Board without compromising on the calibre of 
new Directors. The Board has adopted a Diversity Policy which 
embraces knowledge and understanding of relevant diverse 
geographies, Courts/Branches, people and their backgrounds, 
although it continues to adopt the principle that all appointments 
should be based on merit and the skills and experience that 
individual can bring, and take into account the composition, 
skills and experience on the Board. The gender balance of the 
Board, management and staff are shown in the Nominations 
Committee report on page 42.

Appraisal and Evaluation

The Code recommends that the Board should undertake a 
formal annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its 
Committees and individual Directors. It also recommends that 
the Chairman should consider having a regular externally 
facilitated Board evaluation.

An external review of the Board by an expert consultant in the 
area of board effectiveness was last performed in 2017. The 
Board is considering the timing of the next external review.

The Board periodically reviews internal evaluations on the 
effectiveness of its Sub-Committees led by the Sub-Committee 
Chairmen and assisted by the Company Secretary.

The Directors, led by the Senior Independent Non-Executive 
Director, also evaluated the performance of the Chairman and 
gave feedback which was also reflected in the Board discussion. 
The Non-Executive Directors and the Executive Director will 
meet without the Chairman present to appraise the Chairman’s 
performance in June 2020.

The Chairman reviews the performance of each Non-Executive 
Director where they are encouraged to highlight any potential 
skills gaps or areas of development in order that training can 
be provided. Each Director is required to undertake a programme 
of continued professional development designed to expand 
and update their skills and knowledge, both within the Society 
and outside. The Chairman is responsible for reviewing training 
requirements for the Board as a whole and sources such 
training as required. CPD records for each Director are held 
by the Company Secretary and form part of the annual 
appraisal evaluation.

Compliance with the ‘AFM Corporate Governance 
Code’ (‘the Code’) – January 2019

The Board is committed to following best practice of 
corporate governance, wherever appropriate for the Society. 
The recommendations of the Code are applied using an “apply 
and explain” approach to explain how the applications of the 
Principles of the Code has resulted in effective corporate 
governance outcomes.

Code Principle Applied How the Society has applied it?

Principle 1: Purpose and Leadership

An effective Board promotes the purpose of an 
organisation, and ensures that its values, strategy 
and culture align with that purpose.

 The Board holds regular Strategy Days and a portion of each Board meeting 
agenda is allocated to strategic items from which the Business Plan is formulated. 

Regular Staff Briefings are held in which the Society’s strategy and Business Plan 
are articulated and brought to life at an operational level. The overall purpose and 
values which underpin the strategy and expected behaviours are embedded at 
every level of employee through regular staff training and appraisals.

The Society monitors culture through employee surveys, absenteeism rates 
and exit interviews.

Principle 2: Board Composition

Effective Board composition requires an effective 
Chair and a balance of skills, backgrounds, 
experience and knowledge, with individual 
Directors having sufficient capacity to make a 
valuable contribution. The size of a Board should 
be guided by the scale and complexity of the 
organisations.

 The Society’s Rules set out the requirements for election, re-election and maximum 
terms of office which are in line with the Code. The Society has a policy on board 
diversity which supports appointments to the Board and succession planning. 
The composition and succession plans are regularly reviewed by the Nominations 
Committee in line with the Society’s needs and regulatory requirements.

The Society maintains a skills matrix clearly identifying the knowledge and 
experience of individual Directors and showing where there may be gaps on 
the Board as a whole. Any identified areas of knowledge gap are sought to 
be addressed in future appointments. Directors are required to meet annual 
continuing professional development (‘CPD’) requirements.

Accountability is driven through routine evaluations of the Directors, Board and 
its Sub-Committees. This includes evaluation of the Chairman by the Senior 
Independent Director through feedback obtained from a cross section of staff 
and members.

Corporate Governance Report (continued)

Code Principle Applied How the Society has applied it?

Principle 3: Director Responsibilities

The Board and individual Directors should have 
a clear understanding of their accountability 
and responsibilities. The Board’s policies and 
procedures should support effective decision-
making and independent challenge.

 Individuals appointed to the Board go through an induction process which 
encompasses accountability and responsibilities in line with regulatory 
requirements and best practice. Individual Directors confirm that they 
understand their specific regulatory responsibilities as defined in the Society’s 
Responsibilities Map when taking on any new responsibility and reconfirm 
on an annual basis thereafter.

The Society operates through clear governance processes as set out in its Terms 
of Reference for the Board and its Sub-Committees and robust internal policies and 
practices. This allows for independent constructive challenge, effective decision-
making and supports the delivery of the Society’s strategy and Business Plan. 
Further details on the work of our committees are included on pages 39 to 43.

A Senior Independent Director is appointed to provide a sounding board for the 
Chairman and to serve as an intermediary for other Directors, staff and members.

Principle 4: Opportunity and Risk

A Board should promote the long-term sustainable 
success of the organisation by identifying 
opportunities to create and preserve value, and 
establishing oversight for the identification and 
mitigation of risks.

 When considering strategy and the Business Plan, the Board considers both 
tangible and intangible sources of value, and the stakeholders that contribute 
to it. This includes returns to policyholders, return on member capital, 
discretionary benefits and benevolent and social interactions through our 
Court network. The Board’s decisions are focussed on delivering long-term 
success for the benefit of its policyholders and members.

An effective risk management framework supports the Board in delivering 
its strategy to protect policyholders and members and helps with the efficient 
use of capital. This framework is articulated in the Annual Report and Accounts 
on page 21.

Principle 5: Remuneration

A Board should promote executive remuneration 
structures aligned to the long-term sustainable 
success of an organisation, taking into account 
pay and conditions elsewhere in the organisation.

 The Society’s Remuneration Policy is set out and monitored by its Remuneration 
Committee which aims to attract, motivate, support and retain high quality 
diverse talent with the necessary skills to achieve the Society’s objectives, 
meet regulatory requirements and support the short, medium and long term 
interests of our policyholders and members. Further details are provided on 
pages 44 and 45.

The Society is accredited by the Living Wage Foundation which is wholly 
consistent with its ethos of being a responsible employer. Although not required 
by regulation, it welcomes transparency around gender balance and treating 
employees fairly and publishes an annual Gender Pay Gap Report. 

Principle 6: Stakeholder Relationships 
and Engagement

Directors should foster effective stakeholder 
relationships aligned to the organisation’s purpose. 
The Board is responsible for overseeing meaningful 
engagement with stakeholders, including the 
workforce, and having regard to their views when 
taking decisions.

 Stakeholder engagement is embedded at all levels:

Owners (policyholders and members) – the Society has been engaging 
with its owners since 1834 providing useful financial products and philanthropic 
offerings and activities. It operates a delegate system which provides a high level 
of engagement at the Society’s Annual General Meeting (‘High Court’). It also 
engages at regional conferences and area meetings. The Society conducts a 
regular customer satisfaction survey (2018: 96% satisfied score). 

Employees – The Society has established a Staff Engagement Group (SEG) 
comprising of staff members and supported by the Chief Executive. The SEG 
are invited to report and present to the Board on the results of an annual staff 
survey. It also welcomes feedback and suggestions from employees through 
an anonymous process.

A Senior Independent Director is appointed and serves as an intermediary for 
other Directors, staff and members.

Wider engagement – Each year the Society’s High Chief Ranger (President) 
nominates a charity of their choice for the Annual Charity Appeal, and this 
provides a national focus for the fundraising efforts of our members and 
complements the many local charities that our branches support.
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Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee
The members who served on the Committee during 2019 were:

Trevor Batten (Chairman)

Helen Mackinnon

John McLoughlin (from 24 June 2019)

Graham Setterfield

Erik Vynckier (until 24 June 2019)

Number of meetings held in 2019: 8

Key issues addressed by the Committee: 
Annual Report and Accounts

The Committee reviewed the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts and the report from the external auditor, BDO LLP on the outcome 
of their audit.

To enhance its review, the Committee considered reports from the Chief Finance Officer. 

In the preparation of these financial statements a number of areas required the exercise of management judgement or a degree 
of estimation. The key judgement and estimation areas considered by the Committee in relation to the 2019 financial statements, 
and how these were addressed were as follows:

Management 
override of 
controls

The Committee received regular reports regarding the operational effectiveness of controls from both the Society’s second line 
of defence (risk and compliance) and the third line (internal auditors).

The Committee was satisfied that the controls, as documented in the Society’s Finance and Investment Authorisation Manual, 
were in operation and effective throughout the period of review.

Revenue 
Recognition

The Board received quarterly management accounts from the Society’s finance team and enquired into the movements and 
trends in premium income at an individual fund level. This was further supported by a detailed analysis of premiums in the 
Society’s management information pack by product type, the data for which is prepared outside of the finance team.

The Committee was satisfied that no discrepancies between the two data sets or inconsistent explanations indicated a risk 
of premiums being incorrectly recorded.

Estimation 
of insurance 
technical 
provisions

The Committee received reports from management setting out the proposed valuation assumptions and methodology.

The Chief Actuary’s Report on the valuation result set out the checks undertaken to validate the data and the movement 
in the technical provisions over the year. 

The Committee was satisfied that the methodology and assumptions were appropriate and had been applied correctly in 
the calculation of the technical provisions.

Valuation of 
investment 
properties

For most of the directly owned properties, valuations were provided by Aston Rose as our managing agents. Management 
challenged Aston Rose as appropriate, particularly to understand where significant gains or losses have arisen since the 
previous valuation. Management reported back their findings to the Committee.

The Society has a non material amount of property which is valued by management.

The Committee was satisfied that appropriate controls were in place around the valuations used in these financial statements.

Defined 
Benefit Pension 
Schemes

Valuations for the purposes of the financial statements were provided by each Scheme Actuary.

The Committee was satisfied that these valuations were undertaken by appropriately skilled individuals subject to professional 
conduct standards.

Committee Reports
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External Auditor

Following the re-appointment of Grant Thornton LLP as external 
auditors for the 2019 Annual Report and Accounts at the 2019 
High Court, the Board received notification that Grant Thornton 
were undertaking a strategic reduction of its audit client base 
and as a result chose to resign as auditor.

Under the Society Rules, the Board has authority to appoint an 
auditor to fill a vacancy between High Court meetings and 
approve their remuneration.

As the Society is deemed a public interest entity, the options 
for alternative external auditors were limited by virtue of the 
number of firms willing and able to undertake public interest 
entity work. The Committee undertook a review of the options 
and recommended the appointment of BDO LLP as external 
auditor for the 2019 year-end to the Board who subsequently 
approved the appointment. This decision was based on both 
a fee quotation and cognisant of the fact that BDO LLP have 
previously audited the Society and have existing knowledge 
of the structure and activities of the organisation.

The Committee assessed and agreed BDO LLP’s audit plan 
which identified its assessment of the key audit risks and met 
privately with them.

The independence and objectivity of the external auditor was 
monitored and it was concluded to be satisfactory. Due to the 
Society’s Public Interest Entity status, the external auditors 
cannot provide non-audit services.

The effectiveness of the external auditor is assessed annually 
by the Committee taking into account feedback from 
management. This assessment considers the quality of the 
audit and the service from BDO LLP and will provide feedback 
to the lead audit partner.

Internal Audit

In line with the 2019 Internal Audit Plan, the Committee 
received and reviewed reports from Mazars LLP, Internal Auditor 
covering (i) IT Project, (ii) IT Suppliers, Business Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery Planning, (iii) Compliance and Regulation, 
(iv) Investments, (v) Group Business Insurance Brokers and 
(vi) Spreadsheet Governance. Consideration was given to the 
findings, and particularly to management actions and 
responses to the recommendations.

The Committee also received and reviewed reports from the 
in-house Internal Auditor on Court audits.

The Committee considered and approved the Internal Audit Plan for 
2020. This took into account key risk areas on a cyclical approach 
supplemented with discussions held with management and 
requests received from the Committee and Executive Directors.

Compliance Considerations

The Committee received and reviewed the Compliance Monitoring 
Plan, Compliance Monitoring Reports on GDPR Embedment, 
Persistency, Board Administration, Impact of Organisational 
Restructure, Goneaways, PPFM, and Cost Allocation Model.

The Committee also received the Anti-Money Laundering Report 
for 2019 and input into a revised Anti-Money Laundering & 
Sanctions Policy.

Risk Considerations

The Committee:

• Regularly reviewed the principal risks of the Society and 
provided oversight and challenge of the risk management 
framework during the year, as well as monitoring the risk 
exposures through the risk reporting process. 

• Received quarterly Chief Risk Officer reports and Risk and 
Compliance Management Information that detailed strategic 
and emerging risks that could impact the Society, including 
capital, liquidity and regulatory risks. Changes to risks were 
discussed and mitigation addressed as required. 

• Reviewed specific risk policies that required approval during the year.

• Provided oversight of the ORSA process. Agreed the stress and 
scenario testing that would be performed as part of the Business 
Plan and ORSA, and reviewed the results of the testing. 

• Reviewed the Risk Appetite Statement and Limits, challenging 
the appropriateness and ensuring alignment to Business Plan 
decisions. The Committee also reviewed and recommended 
the continued appropriateness of the Standard Formula to 
determine Solvency Capital Requirements.

• Approved the submission of the Solvency II Quarterly 
Reporting Templates for quarter 1 as delegated to it by the 
Board. Following a recommendation by the Committee, the 
Board approved that future private quarterly PRA Solvency II 
submissions for quarters 1 and 3 be delegated to the Finance 
Director subject to any material changes being notified to the 
Committee for consideration pre-submission.

Investment Committee
The members who served on the Committee during 2019 were:

Erik Vynckier (Chairman until 24 June 2019)

John Instance (Chairman from 24 June 2019)

Trevor Batten (from 24 June 2019)

John Garrett (until 24 June 2019)

Rachel Hardy

Helen Mackinnon (from 24 June 2019)

Paul Osborn (until 30 June 2019)

Number of meetings held in 2019: 5

Key issues addressed by the Committee:

The Investment Committee considered reports from each of its 
investment managers, AXA IM1, Aston Rose and Pemberton2 at its 
regular quarterly meetings covering past performance and future 
investment plans. Over 2019 the Order Insurance Fund (OIF) 
returned 10.9%, the Non-Profit fund returned 4.6% and the 
Court Investment Fund (CIF) returned 6.6%.

In the first half of the year the Committee monitored the appointment 
of AXA IM as our new principal investment manager for our insurance 
funds. Aston Rose continues to manage the properties held by the 
CIF. It also considered the broadening of the investment opportunities 
able to be taken by the OIF and the CIF. It recommended a first 
step into alternative asset classes with an initial investment of £8.5 
million committed to a fund managed by Pemberton Capital Advisors 
LLP. Pemberton is an independent asset management business 
specialising in private debt and direct lending to European non-
investment grade mid-market companies. It has over €6.8bn assets 
under management for 91 institutional investors. This investment 
should enhance the risk-adjusted return on our assets. The 
Committee considered further opportunities to invest in alternative 
asset classes which it may recommend be taken up in 2020.

The CIF is the largest depositor in the Leeds Investment 
Association. The Committee has continued to encourage the 
Association to improve its governance over the management of 
its assets to ensure a good return for the CIF and the Courts 
which have chosen to deposit funds with it. The Association 
earned an investment return of 10.1% in 2019 measured on 
a mark-to-market basis.

The Committee considered what investment actions the Society 
might take in the event of a rapid and severe fall in investment 
markets. It approved a plan to sell out of equities and assets with 
equity-type attributes should stock markets fall dramatically. 
This plan was followed in the first quarter of 2020 as markets 
reacted adversely to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Membership Committee
The members who served on the Committee during 2019 were:

Andrew Pooley (Chairman until 24 June 2019)

Michael Charlton-Hubble (Chairman from 24 June 2019)

Dorothy Deacon (until 24 June 2019)

Cheryl Eagleson (until 24 June 2019)

Myles Edwards (until 8 August 2019)

John Garrett (until 24 June 2019)

Shirley Grealy (from 24 June 2019)

Steve Linsdell

John McLoughlin (from 24 June 2019)

Karen Preston

John Springham (from 24 June 2019)

Number of meetings held in 2019: 6

Key issues addressed by the Committee:

The Committee continued to progress the six-point strategy to 
improve the membership offering and enhance engagement of 
members with our Courts.

During the year, the Committee, along with 25 Court Secretaries, 
provided significant input on the build and content for the Court 
Intranet and Court Social Sites. The Court Intranet was launched 
at the Court Secretaries Conference in September 2019. It is 
designed to aide Court Secretaries in performing their roles. 
The Court Social Site, when launched in 2020, will provide 
members with access to an events calendar and the ability to 
make reservations via the Society’s website.

Building on the success of previous years, the Committee 
promoted two further Fraternal Campaigns during 2019 using 
the Society’s ‘Togetherness’ theme. The campaigns delivered 
300 new members.

The Committee supported the development of a Court 
Communications Toolkit, with input from the Regional Managers. 
The Toolkit provides the Courts with the resources to create 
press releases, social medial content and guidance on 
undertaking local PR activities. The Toolkit was launched at the 
Court Secretaries Conference. Following the launch, there was 
an immediate increase in the number of Courts creating and 
disseminating press releases.

The Committee has consulted with Courts on various matters 
throughout the year and used the feedback to develop guidelines 
and enhance membership offerings. It has also input into several 
Society projects including developing a long-term plan for the 
management of Discretionary Funds and the potential for Courts 
using online banking.

The Committee has been proactive in promoting the Foresters 
Friendly Society brand. This included two firsts for the Society 
with the High Chief Ranger attending a Gay Pride event and 
representing the Society at the Royal British Legion’s annual 
Festival of Remembrance.

The Committee provided direct financial support to 11 Courts 
in 2019 and continues to sponsor Foresters Brass.

Committee Reports (continued)

1From July 2019
2From May 2019
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Nominations Committee
The members who served on the Committee during 2019 were:

John Instance (Chairman)

Helen Mackinnon (until 24 June 2019)

John McLoughlin (from 24 June 2019)

Graham Setterfield

Number of meetings held in 2019: 2

Key issues addressed by the Committee:

The Committee considered the candidates to be put forward to 
the Membership at the 2019 High Court for the positions of 
High Chief Ranger, High Sub-Chief Ranger and members of the 
Membership Committee. The Committee considered the 
nominations of John McLoughlin as a Non-Executive Member 
Director and the applications for re-election of Myles Edwards as 
an Executive Director, John Instance as Non-Executive Professional 
Director and Helen Mackinnon as Non-Executive Member Director. 
All its recommendations were supported by the Board. In line with 
good governance, Committee members were precluded from both 
consideration of, and voting on items where they had a conflict 
of interest such as those relating to their own positions.

The Committee considered potential successors to replace Erik 
Vynckier who was appointed as Interim CEO in July 2019 for a period 
of six months. Considering the Society’s Strategy and regulatory 
requirements, the Committee recommended, and the Board 
supported, the appointment of Rachel Hardy as CEO while retaining 
her responsibilities as Chief Financial Officer. The Committee 
recognise this creates a key person dependency however this is 
mitigated by daily support from a strong management team. Key 
functions such as IT and HR are outsourced.

The Committee considered emergency succession plans for the role 
of Chief Executive and other senior management positions. Further 
succession planning will be undertaken in 2020 in preparation for 
John Instance’s scheduled retirement from the Board at the 2021 
High Court, having served for almost 9 years on the Board. 

The Society operates a Diversity Policy described on page 36. 
The gender balance of the Board and staff in January 2020 is 
given below along with comparative percentages for 2018.

Remuneration Committee
The Committee is made up of three independent Non- 
Executive Directors:

Graham Setterfield (Chairman)

John Garrett (until 24 June 2019)

Helen Mackinnon

John McLoughlin (from 24 June 2019) 

Number of meetings held in 2019: 2

Key issues addressed by the Committee:

During the year, the Committee considered the fees appertaining 
to the roles of High Chief Ranger, High Sub-Chief Ranger, Non-
Executive Director and Members of the Membership Committee 
and recommended no increases for 2019.

In consultation with the Interim Chief Executive, the Committee 
reviewed the 2020 remuneration package for staff taking account 
of the economic environment, local market benchmarking and 
business affordability. As part of this review, the Committee 
recommended that the “I made a difference award”, successfully 
introduced in 2019 to recognise and reward exceptional 
performance, be continued in 2020. Additionally, a Discretionary 
Staff Bonus Scheme for 2020 linked to individual SMART 
objectives and supporting the Society’s strategy, mission and 
values was recommended.

As part of the Society’s Fraternal Campaign and to encourage 
staff participation in the Society’s Court network, the Committee 
considered and recommended providing an initial year of fraternal 
membership to full time staff who had completed one successful year 
with the Society and for part-time staff after two successful years.

Following a restructuring exercise, the Committee considered and 
concurred with the remuneration package for the role of Chief Executive.

The Committee continues to monitor the Society’s gender pay 
gap and published a report based on data as at 5 April 2019. 
A copy of this report is available on the Society’s website at 
www.forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk/about-us/reports-
governance.

More details of the Society’s Remuneration Policy are set out in 
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 45.

Unit-Linked Advisory Arrangement
The members who served on the Committee during 2019 were:

Erik Vynckier (Chairman until 24 June 2019)

John Garrett (until 24 June 2019)

John Instance (Chairman from 24 June 2019)

Trevor Batten (from 24 June 2019)

Helen Mackinnon (from 24 June 2019)

Number of meetings held in 2019: 5

The Unit-Linked Advisory Arrangement (‘ULAA’) reviewed the 
document “How we managed our unit-linked funds” and agreed 
amendments to make the document more policyholder friendly.

It continued to monitor the exercise of discretion in the unit-
linked business against the management actions outlined in 
the document “How we managed our unit-linked funds”. This 
included the monitoring of unit-price movements against the 
benchmarks established for the performance of the unit-linked 
funds. The ULAA was satisfied that the funds had been managed 
in accordance with the defined procedures. 

It also monitored the transition of the funds from Quilter Cheviot to 
the new investment managers AXA IM. It agreed management’s 
and AXA IM’s proposal to revise the asset allocation to include 
an exposure to global equities rather than just to UK equities. The 
ULAA agreed that the additional diversification should improve the 
risk weighted return for policyholders.

With-Profits Advisory Arrangement
The members who served on the Advisory Arrangement during 
2019 were:

Graham Setterfield (Chairman)

John Garrett (until 24 June 2019)

Helen Mackinnon

John McLoughlin (from 24 June 2019)

Number of meetings held in 2019: 6

Key issues addressed by the Advisory 
Arrangement in respect of the Order Insurance 
Fund, Pure Endowment Fund, Tunstall Fund, 
Leek Fund and POIS Fund

The Advisory Arrangement, taking the advice of the With-Profits 
Actuary, considered the areas where management had exercised 
discretion and concluded that the Society had complied with 
the Principles and Practices set out in the PPFMs of the five 
with-profits funds in all material respects. A review of the PPFMs 
(with the exception of the POIS fund PPFM) progressed in the year 
with the aim of making the content easier to read and to reflect 
changes in the management of with-profits funds.

The Advisory Arrangement reviewed the Society’s Investment 
Strategy and were content that the objectives, principles and 
practices were aligned to the needs of the policyholders.

The Advisory Arrangement had oversight of the review by 
Management of the Society’s customers with who contact had 
been lost, and the quality and frequency of information being  
sent to customers to help them understand how their policies  

were performing, including the impact of ongoing charges. 
The review is aligned with an industry wide thematic review of 
the treatment of closed book customers by the FCA often referred 
to as TR16/2 and the FCA’s published guidance FG16/8. The 
Society made good progress in tracing policyholders with policies 
valued over £6k and £3k-£5k policy value tier with over £1m being 
repatriated. Enhancements have also been built into processes with 
the aim of reducing the number of “goneaway” members.

The FCA issued a report following an industry-wide thematic 
review on the treatment of with-profits customers particularly 
where the interest of various stakeholders may conflict. The 
Society undertook a detailed investigation covering the matters 
in the review and produced a gap analysis. The Advisory 
Arrangement considered the gap analysis and agreed a schedule 
of actions to improve processes with the objective of further 
enhancing the outcomes for with-profit customers.

The Advisory Arrangement considered reviews undertaken on five 
of the Society’s products including the profitability of the products 
to the Society.

During the year, a review of the Society’s Underwriting Policy was 
undertaken by the Chief Actuary who provided assurance that the 
Society’s policies and processes were sufficient to ensure that 
the risks associated with writing new business were adequately 
identified, priced and managed. A number of recommendations 
will be progressed in 2020.

The Advisory Arrangement ensured it took into account the 
customer’s perspective in its discussions and recommendations 
and continues to monitor with-profits policyholders’ interests.

Committee Reports (continued)

Male Female % Female 2018

Board – Non-
Executive Directors

4 1 20% 17%

Board – Executive 
Directors

0 1 100% 33%

Other Management 5 4 44% 50%

Staff 22 30 58% 64%

https://www.forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk/about-us/reports-governance
https://www.forestersfriendlysociety.co.uk/about-us/reports-governance
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Directors’ 
Remuneration Report

A resolution will be put to the Annual General 
Meeting inviting members to vote on the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report. This vote is advisory and 
the Board will consider any action that may be 
required following the outcome of the vote.

Remuneration Committee
The role and list of Non-Executive Directors who sit on the 
Remuneration Committee is shown on page 42. The Chief 
Executive is invited to attend the meetings to participate in 
discussions on remuneration policy but is excluded from 
detailed discussions relating to their own remuneration.

Remuneration Policy
The Society’s approach to remuneration is an integral part of the 
Society’s strategy. The policy aims to attract, motivate, support 
and retain high quality diverse talent with the necessary skills 
to achieve the Society’s strategic objectives, meet regulatory 
requirements and support the short, medium and long-term 
interests of members. Remuneration is considered within the 
financial services sector for the geographical location the Society 
occupies and business affordability. The policy is to provide 
an industry competitive level of salary and a good working 
environment. Salaries are reviewed annually and all staff are 
entitled to join a defined contribution pension scheme. The Society 
is accredited by the Living Wage Foundation which is wholly 
consistent with its ethos of being a responsible employer.

Remuneration Policy for Non-
Executive Directors
Non-Executive Directors are elected for a period up to three years 
by members at the Annual General Meeting. This appointment can 
be extended for two further periods of three years at which point 
the Non-Executive Director has to stand down in accordance with 
the Society’s Rules. The Board will determine any notice period 
that is convenient to both the Society and the Director under other 

circumstances. The initial term may be shortened to align with 
rotation of the Board.

The remuneration of all Non-Executive Directors, including the 
Chairman, is reviewed on an annual basis by the Remuneration 
Committee using advice and guidance from both internal and 
external sources, and supplemented as required with expert 
advice. A recommendation is made to the Board which then puts 
a proposition to the delegates at the Annual General Meeting to 
receive any remuneration changes. The Non-Executive Directors 
are only entitled to fees and expenses, and do not participate in 
any performance related pay schemes or receive any pension 
arrangements or other benefits.

Remuneration Policy for 
Executive Directors
The Remuneration Policy of the Executive Directors comprises 
of basic salary, a contributory pension and other benefits. 
The remuneration is approved by the Board based upon 
recommendation by the Remuneration Committee, which includes 
all salary amendments. There is no bonus or long term incentive 
scheme in place however should the Society introduce a scheme 
in the future it retains the right to adjust, defer a substantial 
portion for a period of not less than three years, and consider the 
application of malus based on ex post risk adjustments before it 
has vested i.e. where the Board has cause for concern that the 
achievement of the results has been to the detriment to treating 
customers fairly. 

Executive Directors are also entitled to benefits in kind that 
include a company car (or an equivalent allowance) and private 
medical insurance. 

The employment contract of the Executive Directors requires 
a contractual notice period of six months by either party. 
The Remuneration Committee will carefully consider what 
compensation commitments (including pension contributions 
and all other elements) their Directors’ terms of appointment 
would entail in the event of their early termination. 

Directors’ Pension Benefits
Non-Executive Directors do not receive any pensionable benefits from the Society. Executive Directors are invited, after three months’ 
service, to become a member of the Society’s Group Personal Pension Scheme, a money purchase stakeholder pension scheme with 
Scottish Widows plc. After six months’ service, the Society makes enhanced contributions. The Society’s contributions to this scheme 
are shown in the remuneration table below.

The Society operates a Pensions Salary Sacrifice Arrangement whereby an agreed proportion of the employer’s NI saving arising through 
such arrangement is shared with the Executive Director as an enhanced payment to their pension contribution, subject to HMRC’s Rules.

Benefits in Kind
Benefits in kind were standardised amongst the Society’s Executive Directors during 2013 and include medical Insurance to cover the 
employee’s spouse or partner and dependants and critical illness cover.

Directors’ Remuneration

This report is provided to give members a full explanation of the 
remuneration policy and explains how the Society has applied 
‘The AFM Corporate Governance Code’ as published in January 
2019 with respect to Directors’ remuneration.

Graham Setterfield
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
1 June 2020

Salary/
Fees Bonuses Benefits

Pension 
Contributions

Total
2019

Total 
2018

NON-EXECUTIVES £ £ £ £ £ £

John Instance 20,000 - - - 20,000 20,000

Trevor Batten 18,750 - - - 18,750 18,750

John Garrett 
(until 24 June 2019)

9,445 - - - 9,445 17,500

Helen Mackinnon 17,500 - - - 17,500 17,500

John McLoughlin 
(until 24 June 2019)

9,019 - - - 9,019 -

Graham Setterfield 18,750 - - - 18,750 18,750

Erik Vynckier 
(until 30 June 2019)

9,375 - - - 9,375 18,750

Sub-total 102,839 111,250

EXECUTIVES £ £ £ £ £ £

Paul Osborn 
(until 30 June 2019)

228,767 - 23,375 16,187 268,329 202,492

Erik Vynckier 
(from 1 July 2019 to 31 December 2019)

75,000 - - 1,366 76,366 -

Myles Edwards 125,000 - 18,095 12,500 155,595 157,558

Rachel Hardy 122,500 - 18,227 12,250 152,977 141,769

Sub-total 653,267 501,819

TOTAL 756,106 613,069
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Our son has a child’s trust fund 

account with Foresters and is always 

being invited to social activities.  ‘‘A satisfied Foresters member, 2020

‘‘
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Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of The Ancient Order of Foresters Friendly Society Limited (the ‘Society’) and its subsidiary 
(the ‘Group’), for the year-ended 31 December 2019 which comprise the Consolidated and Society Income and Expenditure 
Account, the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account, the Consolidated and Society’s Statement of Other Comprehensive 
Income, the Society Income and Expenditure Account, the Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Society Balance Sheet and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102, The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the United Kingdom and 
Financial Reporting Standard 103 Insurance Contracts – Consolidated accounting and reporting requirements for entities in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland issuing insurance contracts (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the Group’s and of the Society’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of the Group’s and of the 
Society’s result for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Friendly Societies Act 1992.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Society in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to report to you where:

• the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not appropriate; or

• the Directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about 
the Group and the Society’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months 
from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To The Members Of The Ancient 
Order Of Foresters Friendly 
Society Limited
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the financial statements 
of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we 
identified, including those that had the greatest effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing 
the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, 
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of insurance technical provisions – £157,284k (2018: £143,805k)

Key audit matter

(Refer to the accounting 
policy in note 1 and 
further information given 
in note 19.)

We have concluded that insurance technical provisions are a Key Audit Matter. There is an inherent risk that insurance 
technical provisions can be misstated due to the fact that estimates are necessarily involved, and as such, there is an 
element of subjectivity in any such provision. This is because the range of estimated claims may be large and so there 
is a higher degree of judgement to be exercised here, consequently the impact on the financial statements is likely to 
be significant.

How our audit 
responded to the 
matter

In assessing the valuation of the insurance technical provisions, we performed the following procedures: 

• We have utilised an independent auditor’s actuarial expert to support us in our work on the actuarial methodology and 
assumptions applied in the calculation of the insurance technical provisions.

We tested the underlying data used in the Society’s internal insurance technical provision estimation process to ensure 
completeness and accuracy of the data used by agreeing a sample of the data used in the valuation of the insurance 
technical provisions inputs to the Society’s accounting records with the data provided to our actuarial expert.

• We obtained and reviewed the actuarial reports prepared by the Society’s Actuarial Function Holder and our 
Independent auditor’s expert has also reviewed these documents in order to check that all relevant judgements 
and estimates have been considered by the Society.

• With assistance from our independent auditor’s expert, we have reviewed and assessed changes to the assumptions 
used in the calculation of the insurance technical provision to check these are reasonable and in line with acceptable 
parameters.

Key observations Based on our audit work we did not identify any material misstatements in relation to the valuation of technical provisions.

Valuation of investment properties held at fair value - £59,675k (2018: £67,281k)

Key audit matter

(Refer to the accounting 
policy in note 1 and 
further information given 
in note 12.)

Estimating the fair value of investment property is complex as it requires the selection of assumptions, such as future 
rental income to determine expected yields.

Management engage independent property experts to assist in reviewing and selecting these assumptions.

We have concluded that investment property valuation is a Key Audit Matter. This is because of the level of judgement 
management are required to exercise in their review of the independent valuations obtained and the impact on the 
financial statements is likely to be significant. 

How our audit 
responded to the 
matter

Our audit work in respect of the valuation of investment property included the following: 

• We evaluated the methodology, competence, capability and objectivity of management’s experts and reviewed 
the valuation reports. We engaged directly with management’s experts to obtain further clarifications on their 
approach and conclusions as set out in their valuation reports.

• We evaluated the assumptions used by management and their property experts in their assessment of fair value. 
This included the comparison of a sample of the assumptions used by management’s property experts against 
published market benchmarks and other publicly available information. This was done to identify whether any of 
the assumptions used were inconsistent with current market information. We also agreed the rental income with 
the valuation report received directly from the management’s expert. We engaged with our internal Real Estate 
experts to check whether the assumptions used in the valuation were reasonable.

Key observations Based on our audit work we did not identify any material misstatements in relation to the valuation of investments 
properties held at fair value.
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Defined Benefit pension valuation – net asset £426k (2018: £362k)

Key audit matter

(Refer to the accounting 
policy in note 1 and 
further information given 
in note 22.)

The financial statements include a net defined benefit pension scheme asset, which represents the present value of 
the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of the plan assets at the reporting date.

The calculation of the valuation of the defined benefit pension assets of the Society’s defined benefit pension schemes 
at the year end is a complex area and involves actuarial assumptions and the assessment and consideration of both 
the scheme assets and the scheme liabilities to determine the ‘net’ asset or liability. Annually the Society engages 
independent actuaries to calculate the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the reporting date.

We have concluded that the valuation of the defined benefit pension asset is a Key Audit Matter. This is because of 
the fact that estimates are necessarily involved, and as such, there is an element of judgment implicit in determining 
the appropriate assumptions used in the valuation.

How our audit 
responded to the 
matter

Our audit work in respect of the defined benefit pension valuation included the following:

• We evaluated the methodology, competence, capability and objectivity of management’s experts. We also obtained 
and reviewed the actuarial calculation, including accuracy, assumptions used in the calculation and completeness of 
member information. Reviewed, using our own external and independent actuarial experts, management’s methodology 
for determining the calculation of scheme liabilities as at 31 December 2019 and challenged the key assumptions.

• Agreed the value of the assets of the pension schemes per the valuation report to the values obtained from 
investment confirmations received directly from the asset managers to confirm the valuation at year end. Price 
testing was also performed on a sample of investments.

• Our own actuarial experts were used to consider the appropriateness of the key assumptions used in the pension 
scheme asset valuation, including comparing these to relevant industry benchmarks.

Key observations Based on our audit work we did not identify any material misstatements in relation to the defined benefit pension valuation.

Events occurring after the balance sheet date – the Covid-19 pandemic 

Key audit matter

(Refer to the further 
information given in 
Note 27.)

As part of our audit we assess and challenge the reasonableness of estimates and the appropriateness of the going 
concern basis of preparation on the financial statements. These depend on an assessment of the future economic 
environment and the Society’s future prospects and performance. Management have performed an assessment of 
the potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the future solvency and liquidity position of the Society.

The novel coronavirus (Covid-19) reached pandemic status in the post balance sheet period. The full potential impact 
of this pandemic has wide reaching socio-economic implications that will impact the Society, however the full range 
of possible effects is unknown. We therefore considered this to be a key audit matter.

As part of their assessment, management have considered the following:

• the volatility of investment markets; 

• the potential impact of the pandemic on revised budgets and projections of the Society for the 12 months from 
the date of approval of the financial statements;

• the potential impact of the pandemic on the operations of the Society, including the wellbeing of its employees; and

• the Society’s most recent Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA) of the Society and the stress tests included therein 
to consider whether these remain appropriate and give adequate consideration of the potential impact of Covid-19.

How our audit 
responded to the 
matter

Our audit work in this respect focused on two aspects:

• In the context of Covid-19 being a non-adjusting post-balance sheet event, the adequacy of disclosures in respect of 
management’s assessment of the potential impact of Covid-19 on the Society; and

• Management’s assessment of the continuing appropriateness of the application of the going concern basis for the 
preparation of the Society’s financial statements.

Our work included:

• Obtaining and reading management’s assessment of the potential impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, and considering 
that assessment in the light of our understanding of the Society’s business and the wider market;

• Assessing the transparency and reasonableness of the disclosures in relation to Covid-19 as a post balance sheet event;

• Comparing the stress tests applied by management to their forecasts to our understanding of emerging risks and current 
market norms in this respect;

• Considering management’s assessment of potential and forecast Covid-19 impacts on the Society’s financial 
resources and insurance liabilities compared to our own understanding of the emerging risks. We considered 
management’s plans and capability to take action to mitigate the risks identified;

• Assessing the transparency and reasonableness of the disclosure of management’s assessment of the 
appropriateness of the application of the going concern basis in the preparation of the financial statements.

Key observations We found the disclosures on this matter to be acceptable in light of the information provided by management at the time 
of approval of the financial statements.
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An overview of the scope of our audit
The Society is principally involved in providing savings, life assurance and income protection policies in the UK. Our approach to the audit 
was risk based, with our audit work being tailored to ensure that sufficient assurance was gained for us to be able to give an opinion on 
the financial statements as a whole. Specific audit procedures were carried out on all risk areas identified, including the key audit matters 
detailed above, and on all material balances and classes of transactions. 

We determined that there were three significant components and one insignificant component. We requested non-BDO component auditors 
to perform work on the Guernsey Court and Leeds Investment Association. These significant components were subject to full scope 
audits. Detailed Group reporting instructions were sent to each of the component auditors. We reviewed the audit work performed by the 
component auditors and discussed the results with them. 

The Group audit team performed a full scope audit on the other significant component, being the Society with the assistance of appointed 
experts in assessing the key audit matters. The Group audit team also audited the consolidation and performed analytical procedures on 
the insignificant component.

How the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud
We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework applicable to the Group and the industry in which it operates and 
considered the risk of acts by the Society which were contrary to applicable laws and regulations, including fraud. These included but were not 
limited to compliance with Friendly Societies Act 1992, PRA and FCA rules, FRS 102 and FRS 103. We obtained our understanding through 
internal and external training and the use of an appropriately qualified and experienced audit team who specialise in the insurance sector.

We designed audit procedures to respond to the risk, recognising that the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is 
higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error. 

We focused on laws and regulations that could give rise to a material misstatement in the Society financial statements. Our tests included, 
but were not limited to:

• Obtain a general understanding of how the Society is complying with those frameworks by making enquires of management, internal 
audit, and those responsible for legal and compliance matters;

• agreement of the financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation;

• enquiries of management;

• review of minutes of board meetings throughout the period; 

• obtaining an understanding of the control environment in monitoring compliance with laws and regulations; 

• review of correspondence with the PRA and FCA; and

• review of the Society’s Internal Audit reports to calibrate our risk assessment although we place no reliance on the work of the 
Society’s Internal Auditors.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is 
from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely, as auditor of the financial statements, we would become 
aware of it. As in all of our audits we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls, including testing journals and 
evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors that might reasonably represent a risk of material misstatement due to fraud.

Other information
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the annual report and 
accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other 
information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears 
to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine 
whether there is a material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the other information, we are required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

Our application of materiality
Materiality is defined as the size or nature of a misstatement that, in the light of surrounding circumstances, makes it probable that the 
judgement of a reasonable user of the financial statements would have been changed or influenced as a result of the misstatement. 
Materiality is an important judgement we make as part of establishing our overall audit strategy and is used throughout the audit process, 
including in the evaluation of our audit work and when forming our audit opinion. Based on our professional judgement, materiality was 
determined as follows:

Overall financial statements 
materiality Group £453,000 Society £430,000

Basis of materiality 2% of the fund for future appropriation 
(“FFA”). The fund for future appropriation was 
considered the most appropriate metric for 
the Group. 

ln establishing an appropriate benchmark to 
use for the Society, we considered various fi-
nancial measures including those used by the 
management in their internal reporting, other 
relevant measures such as regulatory capital 
surplus, and industry practice. 2% of the fund 
for future appropriation was considered the 
most appropriate metric given the nature of 
the Society and capped to 95% of the Group 
materiality.

Performance materiality Performance materiality £294,000

Performance materiality is the application 
of materiality at the individual account or 
balance level set at an amount to reduce to 
an appropriately low level the probability that 
the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole.

Performance materiality represents 65% 
of overall financial statement materiality. 
This has been assessed on criteria such as 
complexity and the level of controls operated 
in the Group and the fact that this is our first 
year as auditors of the Group.

Performance materiality £279,000

Performance materiality is the application 
of materiality at the individual account or 
balance level set at an amount to reduce to 
an appropriately low level the probability that 
the aggregate of uncorrected and undetected 
misstatements exceeds materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole.

Performance materiality represents 65% 
of overall financial statement materiality. 
This has been assessed on criteria such as 
complexity and the level of controls operated 
in the Society and the fact that this is our first 
year as auditors of the Society.

Threshold for reporting misstatements 
to the Audit Committee

£9,000 

Although misstatements below this threshold 
are also reported where the nature of the 
misstatement warrants reporting, such as 
where items are clearly wrong or they are 
indicative of fraud.

£8,600

Although misstatements below this threshold 
are also reported where the nature of the 
misstatement warrants reporting, such as 
where items are clearly wrong or they are 
indicative of fraud.

Component materiality

The two significant components were subject to overall materiality of £49,500 and £300,563.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued)

Other matters which we are required to address
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were appointed by the Board of Directors on 15 November 2019 to audit the 
financial statements for the year ending 31 December 2019 and subsequent financial periods.

The non-audit services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided to the Society and we remain independent of the Society 
in conducting our audit.

Our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report to the audit committee.

Use of our report
This report is made solely to the Society’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 73 of the Friendly Societies Act 1992. Our audit 
work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Society’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the 
Society and the Society’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

John Perry (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of BDO LLP, Statutory Auditor
United Kingdom
1 June 2020

Responsibilities of directors
As explained more fully in the statement of directors’ responsibilities set out on page 30, the directors are responsible for the preparation of 
the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group and Society’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Friendly Societies Act 1992
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit the information given in the Directors’ report for the financial 
year for which the Group and Society financial statements are prepared is consistent with the accounting records and the Group and 
Society financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Friendly Societies Act 1992 requires us to 
report to you if, in our opinion:

• proper accounting records have not been kept; or

• the Group and Society financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records; or

• we have not received all the information and explanations and access to documents that we require for our audit.

www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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All long term business is written in the United Kingdom, is in respect of continuing operations and relates to direct insurance contracts.

Technical Account Long Term Business Notes 2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance
Gross premium written 30,675 27,926
Outward reinsurance premiums (235) (258)

3 30,440 27,668
Investment income 4 13,946 6,828
Net unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 4 4,721 (12,662)

Total Technical Income 49,107 21,834

Claims incurred, net of reinsurance
Gross claims payable (30,833) (30,038)
Cost of administration (174) (171)
Net claims incurred 5 (31,007) (30,209)

Change in other technical provisions
Long term business provision 
   - gross amount (7,672) 7,977
   - reinsurers’ share (122) 15
   - net of reinsurance 6 (7,794) 7,992
Technical provisions for linked business
   - net of reinsurance 6 (4,643) 6,802
Net change (12,437) 14,794

Other Expenditure
Net operating expenses 7 (6,538) (5,779)
Impairment of PVIF 11  - (490)
Amortisation of PVIF 11  - (210)
Investment expenses and charges 4 (787) (777)
Taxation attributable to long term business 9  -  - 

(7,325) (7,256)
Total Technical Charges (50,769) (22,671)

Surplus of technical income over technical charges (1,662) (837)

Transfer from/(to) Fund for Future Appropriations 18 1,662 837
Balance on Technical Account - -

Consolidated and Society Income and Expenditure Account
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Technical Account General Business Notes 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Technical Account-General Business
Technical Income
Gross premium written 3 2,475 2,443
Investment income  - 129
Total Technical Income  2,475 2,572

Technical Charges
Claims incurred gross (2,179) (2,260)
Transferred to general business provision (142) (161)
Net operating expenses 7 (154) (151)
Total Technical Charges (2,475) (2,572)

Balance on Technical Account  -  -   

General business is written by the Guernsey Court and is classified as overseas business.

Consolidated and Society Income and Expenditure Account
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Consolidated Income and Expenditure Account
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Non-Technical Account Notes 2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Income
Investment income 10 10,688 9,750
Unrealised losses on investments 10 (2,517) (4,686)
Unrealised gains/(losses) on Court investments 10 406 1,870
Discretionary fund donations and levies 271 206
Total Income 8,848 7,140

Expenditure
Net operating expenses 7 (215) (218)
Court operating expenses 7 (4,283) (3,322)
Investment expenses and charges 10 (416) (369)
Discretionary benefits paid and approved Court distributions (1,598) (1,111)
Total Expenditure (6,512) (5,020)

Excess/(Deficit) of income over expenditure for the financial year 2,336 2,120

From/(to) Discretionary Fund 16 (841) 167
From/(to) Mainland Court funds 17 (1,366) (2,403)
From/(to) Court funds – Guernsey 17 (129) 116
From/(to) Fund for Future Appropriations 18 -  - 

Balance on the Non-Technical Account - -

Non-Technical business relates to the allocation of income and expenditure items which are not directly related to individual insurance 
funds, including project costs. Court and discretionary fund income and expenditure is also included in the non-technical account. The 
notes on pages 64 to 104 form an integral part of these accounts.
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Consolidated and Society’s Statement of Other 
Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2019

Notes 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Transfer from/(to) Fund for Future Appropriations (Technical Account) (1,662) (837)
Transfer from/(to) Fund for Future Appropriations (Non-Technical Account) -  - 
Pension schemes actuarial (loss)/gain 22 (75) (104)

Other Comprehensive Income (1,737) (941)

Society Income and Expenditure Account
For the year ended 31 December 2019

The notes on pages 64 to 104 form an integral part of these accounts.

Non-Technical Account Notes 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Income
Investment income 10 11,427 9,899
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 10 (4,464) (4,162)
Unrealised gains/(losses) on Court investments 10 406 1,870
Discretionary fund donations and levies 271 206
Total Income  7,640 7,813

Expenditure
Net operating expenses  - -
Court operating expenses 7 (4,283) (3,322)
Investment expenses and charges 10 (416) (369)
Discretionary benefits paid and approved Court distributions (1,598) (1,111)
Total Expenditure (6,297) (4,802)

Excess/(Deficit) of income over expenditure for the financial year 1,343 3,011

(To)/from Discretionary Fund 16 8 (429)
(To)/from mainland Court funds 17 (1,222) (2,698)
(To)/from Court funds – Guernsey 17 (129) 116
(To)/from Fund for Future Appropriations 18 -  - 

Balance on the Non-Technical Account - -
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Assets Notes 2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Intangible assets
Purchased value of in force business 11  -  - 

Investments
Land and buildings 12 59,675  67,281 
Investment in subsidiary 13  -    - 
Other financial investments 13 169,613  153,617 

 229,288  220,898 

Assets held to cover linked liabilities - investment contracts 13  1,765  1,750 

Assets held to cover linked liabilities - insurance contracts 13  33,957  29,329 

Reinsurers share of Long term business provision 19 (82)  40 

Debtors
Debtors arising out of insurance operations:
Amounts due for Group business 1,527  1,535 

Amounts due from individual business 121  79 

Other debtors 14  1,296  1,589 
 2,944  3,203 

Other assets
Tangible assets 15 61  51 
Certificates of deposit 1,251  1,233 
Cash at bank and in hand 12,387  9,489 

 13,699  10,773 

Prepayments and accrued income
Accrued interest and rent 238  1,263 
Other prepayments and accrued income 473  292 

 711  1,555 

Pension asset 22 426  362 

Total assets  282,708  267,910 

The notes on pages 64 to 104 form an integral part of these accounts.

The notes on pages 64 to 104 form an integral part of these accounts.

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Liabilities Notes 2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Reserves
Discretionary Funds 16  14,382  13,541 
Court Funds 17 85,037  83,542 

 99,419  97,083 

Fund for future appropriations 18 22,650  24,312 

Technical provisions
Long term business provision - Insurance and participating investment contracts 19 114,094  106,411 
Long term business provision - non-participating investment contracts 19 (94) (83)
Technical provision for linked liabilities - investment contracts 19  1,765  1,750 
Technical provision for linked liabilities - insurance contracts 19 33,957  29,329 
Claims outstanding 19 3,611  2,588 
General business provision (Guernsey) 19 3,951  3,810 

 157,284  143,805 

Provision for other risks and charges 21  -  - 

Creditors
Other creditors 291  800 
Taxation and Social Security 261  102 

552  902 

Accruals and deferred income 2,803  1,808 

Pension Liability 22 - -

Total Liabilities  282,708  267,910 
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Assets Notes 2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Intangible assets
Purchased value of in force business 11  -  - 

Investments
Land and buildings 12 49,694 57,327
Investment in subsidiary 13  10 10
Other financial investments 13 167,010 152,658

 216,714 209,995

Assets held to cover linked liabilities - investment contracts 13  1,765 1,750

Assets held to cover linked liabilities - insurance contracts 13  33,957 29,329

Reinsurers share of Long term business provision 19 (82) 40

Debtors
Debtors arising out of insurance operations:
Amounts due for Group business  1,527 1,535

Amounts due from individual business  121 79

Other debtors 14  1,246 1,540
 2,894 3,154

Other assets
Tangible assets 15  61 51
Certificates of deposit  350 350
Cash at bank and in hand 7,808 4,225

 8,219 4,626

Prepayments and accrued income
Accrued interest and rent 183 1,193
Other prepayments and accrued income 454 271

 637 1,464

Pension asset 22  426 362

Total assets  264,530 250,720

Society Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

Society Balance Sheet
as at 31 December 2019

The notes on pages 64 to 104 form an integral part of these accounts.

The notes on pages 64 to 104 form an integral part of these accounts.

Liabilities Notes 2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Reserves
Discretionary Funds 16  3,321 3,329
Court Funds 17 77,951 76,600

 81,272 79,929

Fund for future appropriations 18  22,656 24,319

Technical provisions
Long term business provision - Insurance and participating investment contracts 19  114,094 106,411
Long term business provision - non-participating investment contracts 19 (94) (83)
Technical provision for linked liabilities - investment contracts 19  1,765 1,750
Technical provision for linked liabilities - insurance contracts 19  33,957 29,329
Claims outstanding 19  3,611 2,588
General business provision (Guernsey) 19  3,951 3,810

 157,284 143,805

Provision for other risks and charges 21  -  - 

Creditors
Other creditors  289 788
Taxation and Social Security  261 102

 550 890

Accruals and deferred income  2,768 1,777

Pension Liability 22  -  - 

Total Liabilities  264,530 250,720

These financial statements were approved by the Board on 1 June 2020 and authorised for issue. No amendments are permitted after 
authorisation for issue. On behalf of the Board:

John Instance  
Chairman

Rachel Hardy 
Chief Executive

Lisa Russell  
Company Secretary
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The Directors have been monitoring the development of the 
impact of Covid-19, both directly on the Society’s business 
and indirectly through reviewing the development of government 
policy and advice. As at the date of signing these financial 
statements, the Directors’ forecasts up to 31 December 2024 
indicate that the Society will be able to maintain liquidity and a 
surplus over its Solvency Capital Requirement. The Society’s 2019 
Own Risk and Solvency Assessment report (‘ORSA’) included a 
pandemic scenario which considered a loss event for the Society 
as a result of increased incidence of sickness, mortality and 
associated operational risk losses. This scenario showed that the 
Society continued to operate within its capital coverage ratio risk 
appetite despite the impact of such an event and therefore the 
Society’s Directors have reasonable expectation that the Society 
is able to continue to trade as a going concern despite the 
impact of Covid-19.

Premium Income

For long term insurance contracts and participating investment 
contracts, regular premium income is accounted for on a 
receivable basis, single premium income is accounted for when 
received. Outward reinsurance premiums are accounted for in 
accordance with the contract terms when due, reflecting the 
period when risk is transferred.

For general insurance business, premium income is accounted for 
on an accruals basis so that the figures stated include all premiums 
received and receivable in respect of the current reporting year.

Claims

Maturity claims are charged to the Income and Expenditure 
account when due for payment. Surrenders are accounted for 
on the date when the policy ceases to be included within the 
calculation of the long term business provision. Death claims are 
accounted for when notified. Claims on With-Profits business 
include bonuses payable. Claims payable include related claims 
handling costs. Amounts receivable from reinsurers are estimated 
in a manner consistent with the outstanding claims provisions or 
the settled claims associated with the reinsured policies and in 
accordance with the relevant reinsurance contract.

Claims paid under contracts classified as investment contracts are 
accounted for as investment contracts in these financial statements. 
Claims payable under general insurance contracts are calculated on 
the accruals basis so that the figures stated include all claims paid 
and payable in respect of the current reporting year. In addition, the 
cost of administering the claims has been included in the claims 
figures, as shown in the Technical Account General Business. 

Long Term Business Provision

The long term business provision is determined by the Board on 
the advice of the Chief Actuary as part of the annual valuation 
of the Society’s long term insurance business. The provision 
is determined in accordance with the requirements of the PRA 
rulebook: Solvency II Firms Technical Provisions Instrument 2015.

The long term business provision on a Solvency II basis is 
calculated as the expected present value of the expected future 
cash flows (benefit payments and expenses less premiums) plus a 
risk margin. The risk margin allows for the cost to a third party of 
holding Solvency II capital until all the contracts are settled.

The valuation rate of interest used to discount the expected future 
cash flows is prescribed by regulation.

Further details of these technical provisions are contained in note 19.

General Business Provision

General Business comprises the medical and medical services 
insurance protection conducted by the Guernsey Branch. In line 
with historical treatment, as permitted under ‘FRS 103: Insurance 
Contracts’, the liabilities are calculated in accordance with local 
regulatory requirements. The liabilities are the accumulated 
surplus income from the general business which the branch 
Committee of Management has allocated to set aside to cover 
the provision of medical benefits for policyholders.

Fund for Future Appropriations

The fund for future appropriations (FFA) consists of funds that 
have not been allocated to specific policyholders, members or 
non-insurance funds. Transfers to and from the fund reflect the 
excess or deficiency of income over outgoings in each accounting 
period arising from participating business. The FFA represents 
membership funds, working capital and is available to cover 
solvency capital requirements. 

Taxation

Friendly Societies are taxed on their life or endowment business 
so far as the annual premiums or sums assured exceed limits 
prescribed in tax law, and on certain investment returns referable 
to their subsidiaries. Insofar as the Society’s business is taxed, 
it is taxed on investment return less management expenses.

Provision for current and deferred taxation is calculated using the tax 
law and rates as enacted or substantively at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that they 
reduce deferred tax liabilities or it is probable there will be future 
taxable profits against which they may be set.

Foreign Currencies

Investment assets denominated in foreign currencies are 
translated to sterling at rates of exchange ruling at the end of the 
year. Purchases and sales of investments denominated in foreign 
currencies are translated at the rates prevailing at the dates of 
the transactions. Exchange gains and losses are dealt with in that 
part of the relevant Income and Expenditure Account in which the 
underlying transaction is reported.

Land and Buildings

Land and Buildings, which include properties that are held by 
the Society for operational purposes, are freehold and leasehold 

1. Accounting policies

General Information, change in accounting policy 
and basis of accounting

The Society is a Friendly Society incorporated in the United 
Kingdom under the Friendly Societies Act. The address of the 
registered office is given on page 3. The nature of the Group’s 
operations and its principal activities are set out in the Strategic 
Report on pages 15 to 25.

The Society prepares its Annual Report & Accounts on the 
historical cost convention modified for fair value, excluding 
tangible fixed assets, in accordance with The Friendly Societies 
(Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 1994, The Friendly 
Societies Act 1992 and Financial Reporting Standards 102 and 
103 (FRS 102 and FRS 103). 

As permitted by the Amendments to FRS 103 Insurance 
Contracts, the Society recognises and measures technical 
provisions on long term insurance contracts on a best estimate 
basis. This means that the value of technical provisions disclosed 
in these financial statements are aligned with the Society’s other 
regulatory financial reporting.

The functional currency of the Society continues to be pounds 
sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Society operates. The consolidated 
financial statements are also presented in pounds sterling (£’000).

The Society meets the definition of a qualifying entity under 
FRS 102 and has therefore taken advantage of the disclosure 
exemptions available to it in respect of its separate financial 
statements, which are presented alongside the consolidated 
financial statements. Exemptions have been taken in relation to 
the presentation of a cash flow statement.

Under FRS 103 the accounting treatment of long term business 
contracts depends on the classification of contracts as either 
insurance contracts if the level of insurance risk is significant, or 
investment contracts if the risk is not significant.

The Society considers insurance risk to be the risk of having to 
pay benefits as a result of an insured event which are significantly 
more than would be paid if the insured event did not occur. All 
of the Society’s non-profit policies and regular premium unit-
linked policies are classified as insurance contracts. The Society 
accounts for all contracts with no significant insurance risk in 
accordance with section 11 and 12 of FRS 102.

All of the Society’s With-Profits policies are classified as 
participating investment contracts as these entitle the policyholder 
to receive, in addition to the guaranteed benefits, additional 
discretionary bonuses which are likely to form a significant 
proportion of the total benefit payable and where the amount 

and timing are at the discretion of the Society and depend on 
the performance of a specified pool of assets.

The Society’s single premium unit-linked contract (which is no 
longer offered for sale) is classified as an investment contract.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated income and expenditure accounts, the 
consolidated statement of other comprehensive income and the 
consolidated balance sheet are the financial statements of the 
whole Group including the Branches (Courts) and the Investment 
Associations (see note 2) where the Society has the ability to 
exercise control. Internal transactions and balances between 
the various components of the Society have been eliminated.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the results 
of acquisitions using the acquisition method. In the balance 
sheet, the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities are initially recognised at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The results of acquired operations are included 
in the consolidated income and expenditure accounts from 
the date on which control is obtained. They are deconsolidated 
from the date control ceases. In the case of the acquisition 
of policy engagements and related assets and liabilities, the 
acquisition method is applied as if the engagements acquired 
constituted an entity.

The Court assets are not available to back the long term 
business of the Society but the Courts remain as Branches of 
the incorporated Society. Their assets and activities are therefore 
shown separately within the notes to the accounts. Investment 
Association deposits are investments of the Courts. 

The balance sheet includes the cost of £10,000 for all the shares 
in Foresters General Insurance Services Limited. This entity has 
been fully consolidated in the financial statements (see note 13).

Going Concern

The Society’s business activities, together with the factors likely 
to affect its future development, performance and position are 
set out in the Strategic Review on pages 15 to 25. Note 24 also 
describes the financial position of the Society; its cash flows, 
liquidity position and borrowing facilities; the Society’s objectives, 
policies and processes for managing its capital; its financial risk 
management objectives; details of its financial instruments and 
hedging activities; and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Society meets its day to day working capital requirements 
through its own cash reserves. The Directors have a reasonable 
expectation that the Society has adequate resources to continue 
in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they 
continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in 
preparing the annual financial statements.

Notes to the Accounts
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investment properties held for long term rental yields and capital 
growth. Changes in fair value are accounted for as unrealised 
gains or losses in the Income and Expenditure account.

Land and buildings, other than those held by the Society for 
operational purposes, are valued at least annually on an open 
market value basis by qualified external professional valuers. 
Land and buildings held for operational purposes are valued at 
least annually on an existing use value basis by qualified external 
professional valuers.

Land and buildings held by the Society for operational purposes 
are required to be depreciated over their expected useful 
economic lives under the requirements of The Friendly Societies 
(Accounts and Related Provisions) Regulations 1994.

This requirement conflicts with the generally accepted accounting 
principle for Investment Properties set out in section 16 of 
FRS 102, that no depreciation should be provided on such 
investments. The Board consider that, as these properties are 
held for investment, to depreciate them would not give a true and 
fair view, and that it is necessary to adopt FRS 102 in order to 
give a true and fair view. Depreciation is only one of the factors 
reflected in the annual valuations, and the amount which might 
otherwise have been shown, cannot reasonably be separately 
identified or quantified.

Freehold land is not subject to depreciation. No depreciation 
is charged on freehold buildings as, in the Directors’ opinion, 
it is considered that their estimated useful economic lives and 
residual values are such that the required depreciation charge 
is immaterial.

Investments

Other financial investments comprise listed investments in UK 
Government debt, units in open-ended investment companies 
invested in global equities, corporate debt and convertible bonds, 
all managed by AXA IM, senior secured loans managed by 
Pemberton Asset Management, deposits with credit institutions 
and deposits with Investment Associations. Listed investments 
and units held in collective investments are measured at their 
bid value at the balance sheet date.

Amounts receivable in respect of loans are shown at the lower 
of the amounts advanced or the amount expected to be 
recovered where there is evidence of impairment. Deposits with 
credit institutions are carried at their historical cost as no reliable 
fair value can be obtained for these instruments. Investment 
Associations are shown at cost plus interest accrued on the 
deposit. The Society has not invested in derivative investments 
in 2019 or 2018.

In the Society balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries and 
associates are measured at cost less impairment.

Investment Income and Expenses

Investment income includes dividends, property rent, interest, 
together with realised gains and losses on investments. Dividends 
are taken into account when declared. Interest on fixed interest 
securities, deposits and rental income is recognised on an 
accruals basis.

Investment expenses and charges are shown as expenditure.

Gains and Losses on Investments

Balance Sheet

Unrealised gains and losses represent the difference between 
the market value of investments held at the end of the year and 
their market value at the beginning of the year, or their cost 
when acquired during the year. 

Income and Expenditure Account

Realised gains and losses are calculated as the difference between 
purchase costs and net sales proceeds. An adjustment is made to 
unrealised gains and losses previously recognised for the impact of 
any disposals in the year. Realised and unrealised gains and losses 
are taken to the Income and Expenditure Account.

Pension Schemes

The Society operates a group stakeholder personal pension 
scheme covering most permanent employees. This is a defined 
contribution scheme and the Society’s contributions are charged 
to the Income and Expenditure account in the year to which 
they relate. The Society has no liability in respect of this defined 
contribution scheme other than future contractual contributions.

The Society also operates two defined benefit pension schemes, both 
of which are closed to new members. Both schemes are administered 
by Trustees and are independent of the Society’s finances. 

The asset or liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect 
of the defined benefit plans is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the reporting date less the fair value of the 
plan assets at the reporting date. The defined benefit obligation 
is calculated using actuarial projections. Annually the Society 
engages independent actuaries to calculate the obligation. 

The fair value of plan assets is measured in accordance with 
the FRS 102 fair value hierarchy and in accordance with the 
Society’s policy for similarly held assets. This includes the use 
of appropriate valuation techniques.

Actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments 
and changes in actuarial assumptions are included in the 
Statement of Other Comprehensive Income. These amounts, 
together with the return on plan assets, less amounts included 
in net interest, are disclosed in note 22 as the “Change in 
recognised defined benefit asset”.

The net interest cost is calculated by applying the discount rate 
to the net balance of the defined benefit obligation and the fair 
value of plan assets. This cost is recognised in the income and 
expenditure account.

In the event a pension surplus exists, the Society will recognise the 
surplus as an asset in the financial statements to the extent that it can 
be recovered by the Society through either reduced future contributions 
or through refunds which have been agreed at the balance sheet date 
with the Trustees of the pension schemes in question.

Further details of the pension schemes are contained in note 22.

Operating Leases

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the 
technical and non-technical accounts on a straight-line basis in 
line with the accruals concept over the lease term.

Tangible Fixed Assets and Depreciation

Tangible fixed assets are valued at cost less depreciation or 
provision for impairment. Depreciation is provided on all tangible 
fixed assets in equal annual instalments over their estimated 
useful economic lives based on cost, less estimated residual 
value. The principal rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Fixture and fittings – 4 to 10 years

Residual value represents the estimated amount which would 
currently be obtained from disposal of an asset, after deducting 
estimated costs of disposal, if the asset were already of the age 
and in the condition expected at the end of its useful economic life.

Cash Flow Statement

The Society, being a mutual life assurance company, is exempt from 
the requirement under FRS 102 to produce a cash flow statement.

Unit-Linked Business

Assets held in respect of unit-linked business are fair valued on 
a daily basis at bid price, using market prices supplied by third 
party data providers. The prices derived from the valuation apply 
to the next working day after the valuation point. The provision for 
unit-linked business is equal to the value of the assets to which 
the contracts are linked. This provision is included within the long 
term business provision. Claims paid under contracts classified 
as investment contracts are deposit accounted for. The Society 
receives no premiums under investment contracts.

Purchased Value of In-force Business (‘PVIF’)

On acquisition of a portfolio of insurance contracts, the net 
present value of the Society’s interest in the expected cash flows 
of the in-force business is capitalised as an intangible asset. The 
relevant element is that part of PVIF which will be recognised as 
profit over the remaining lifetime of the in-force policies.

PVIF is amortised over the remaining anticipated lives of the 
related contracts which is generally between 5 and 15 years. 
Amortisation is recognised within net operating expenses in the 
Income and Expenditure account.

The carrying value of PVIF is assessed for possible impairment 
on an annual basis.

Acquisition Expenses

Acquisition costs are direct expenses associated with acquiring 
new business sales such as commissions, underwriting costs and 
policy issuance costs. These are recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure account in the year of incurrance, even though the 
related acquisition’s cash flows may not be earned, as they are 
not an allowable asset under the Solvency II regime.

Liability Adequacy Testing

The Society performs adequacy testing on its insurance liabilities 
to ensure that the carrying amounts and, where relevant, present 
value of acquired in-force business is sufficient to cover estimates 
of future cash flows. Any deficiency is immediately charged to 
the Income and Expenditure account.

Financial Instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when 
the Society becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument.

All financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at transaction 
price (including transaction costs). If an arrangement constitutes 
a financing transaction, the financial asset or financial liability is 
measured at the present value of the future payments discounted 
at a market rate of interest for a similar debt instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are only offset in the balance 
sheet, when and only when, there exists a legally enforceable 
right to set off the recognised amounts and the Society intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

Financial assets are derecognised when and only when 
a) the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial 
asset expire or are settled, b) the Society transfers to another 
party substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the financial asset, or c) the Society, despite having retained 
some significant risks and rewards of ownership, has transferred 
control of the asset to another party and the other party has the 
practical ability to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third 
party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without 
needing to impose additional restrictions on the transfer.

Financial liabilities are derecognised only when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Notes to the Accounts (continued)
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Court and Discretionary Funds

Court and discretionary fund balances arise from the Society’s 
social, fraternal and benevolent activities. Transfers to and from 
these funds reflect the excess or deficiency of income over 
outgoings in each accounting period arising from such activities.

Each Court maintains its own fund of assets. The Court Reserve 
Fund is available to support the activities of all the Society’s Courts 
and is managed centrally by the Society’s Board of Directors. 
Court and discretionary benefit funds are ring fenced and are not 
available to support the insurance activities of the Society.

Further details are provided in notes 16 and 17.

Key Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of these financial statements requires the Society 
to make certain estimates and assumptions that have an impact 
on the application of the policies and the amounts reported in the 
financial statements. Estimates and judgements are evaluated based 
on historical experiences and expected outcomes and are believed to 
be reasonable at the time such estimates and judgements are made, 
although actual experience may vary from these estimates. The 
estimates and assumptions which have the most significant bearing 
on the carrying value of assets or liabilities are explained below.

Key Estimates 

The following are the areas where critical assumptions and estimates 
have been made by the Directors in the process of applying the Group 
and Society’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

1) Technical Provisions – Valuation of investment and 
long term insurance contract liabilities

Technical provisions are calculated using policy data held 
on the Society’s administration systems and assumptions 
set using internal and external data as inputs to actuarial 
valuation models. The assessment of the appropriate carrying 
value of the technical provisions requires the Society to make 
significant judgements when determining the underlying 
assumptions. The principal economic assumption is the 
inflation rate for future expenses, while the principal non-
economic assumption is the allowance for future expenses.

The assumptions used for mortality, morbidity and longevity 
are based on standard industry or reinsurers’ tables, adjusted 
where appropriate to reflect the Society’s own experience.
The assumptions used for expenses, lapse and surrender 
rates are based on product characteristics and relevant 
claims experience. The valuation interest rates used to 
discount projected cashflows are a duration-specific risk-
free yield curve specified by EIOPA (the European Insurance 
and Occupational Pensions Authority) under Solvency II 
regulations. Due to the long term nature of these obligations, 

the estimates are subject to significant uncertainty. Further 
details on specific assumptions are provided in note 19 to 
these financial statements.

2) Valuation of Investment Properties

The Society owns a portfolio of Investment Properties which 
are held for long term rental yield and capital growth. This 
portfolio is valued at fair value on an annual basis by Society 
appointed Chartered Surveyors. The valuations have been 
prepared in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards 
on the basis of fair value. In preparing these valuations, data 
and information available concerning rental yields, lease 
terms, voids and floor areas, and enquiries within local 
market places have been used as contributing factors to each 
individual property’s valuation. The most significant inputs 
into this valuation approach are the rental income and yield 
assumptions. Further details are provided in note 12 to these 
financial statements.

3) Valuation of Financial Assets

The Society holds a number of financial assets as described 
in the investments accounting policy on page 66. The Society 
has no financial assets held for trading, all investments are 
classified and valued at fair value. Such assets are measured 
at market prices, or prices consistent with market ratings 
should no price be available. Any unrealised or realised gains 
or losses are taken to the appropriate Income and Expenditure 
Account as they occur. Further details are provided in note 13 
to these financial statements.

4) Defined Benefit Pension Schemes

In determining the pension cost and the defined benefit 
obligation of the Society’s defined benefit pension schemes, 
a number of assumptions are used. These assumptions 
include an appropriate discount rate, the levels of salary 
escalation, price inflation and mortality rates. Further details 
are contained in note 22 to these financial statements. 

5) Intangible Assets – PVIF

The Society holds a PVIF asset in respect of the POIS 
acquisition in 2014 and assesses this intangible asset for 
signs of impairment on an annual basis. As part of this review 
process, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined 
using value in use calculations, which requires estimates of 
future cash flows and as such is subject to estimates and 
assumptions. The test for impairment of the PVIF involves a 
comparison of the portfolio movements over the accounting 
period with the assumptions made in the original PVIF 
calculation. This includes analysis of the number and type of 
policies in-force, the nature and value of policy exits, the value 
of funds under management, the level of premium income and 
the costs of administering the business. Further details are 
contained in note 11 to these financial statements.

Key Judgements

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those 
involving estimations (which are dealt with separately above), that 
the Directors have made in the process of applying the Group and 
Society’s accounting policies and that have the most significant 
effect on the presentation adopted in these financial statements:

1) Basis of Consolidation

The Society has a number of Branches (‘Courts’) as well as one 
subsidiary entity, Foresters General Insurance Services Limited. 
The Society also has a number of Court fund deposits invested in 
organisations known as ‘Investment Associations’. The Society is 
in a position where it can exert control over The Leeds District of 
the Ancient Order of Foresters’ Investment Association.

The Derby and Derbyshire Foresters Investment Association, 
states within its rules that the members of the Association 
consist of those individuals who are members of depositing 
Courts, and not the Courts themselves. The current members 
of the depositing Courts are members of the Derby Investment 
Association. The ownership of the Association and controlling 
voting rights therefore rest with those individual members and 
not the Courts. There are no future economic benefits accruing 
in the Derby Investment Association in respect of the Society.

These consolidated financial statements therefore only 
include the results of the Society, its Courts, Foresters 
General Insurance Services Limited and the Leeds Investment 
Associations. Further information is contained within note 2 to 
these financial statements.

2) Classification of Contracts

A key issue for the Society under FRS 103 is that a distinction 
is made between insurance contracts and investment 
contracts. The Society issues contracts that transfer 
insurance risk, financial risk or both. Insurance contracts 
are those contracts that transfer significant insurance risk. 
Such contracts may also transfer financial risk. Investment 
contracts are those contracts that transfer financial risk with 
no significant insurance risk.

For each product type within the Society’s portfolio, 
Management has reviewed the level of benefits under the 
contract to determine the appropriate contract classification. 
All with-profits contracts have been classified as participating 
contracts as these contracts entitle the holder to receive, as 
a supplement to guaranteed benefits, additional benefits or 
bonuses that are likely to be a significant portion of the total 
contractual benefits whose amount or timing is contractually 
at the discretion of the Society.

As a result of this review, one product, the POIS unit-linked 
MoneyBond Fund, has been classified as an Investment 
Contract.

Claims paid under contracts classified as investment contracts 
are deposit accounted for. The Society receives no premiums 
under investment contracts.

Haven’t looked back, it’s friendly 

makes you feel you are never 

alone, part of a family.  ‘‘A satisfied Foresters member, 2020

‘‘
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2. Investment Associations
The Society had a number of Court fund deposits invested in organisations known as ‘Investment Associations’. These Associations are all 
registered as Specially Authorised Societies under the Friendly Society Act. The Associations have their own constitutions or rules and are 
governed by a Committee of Management that is independent to the Society’s Board of Directors. The objective of these Associations is to 
receive deposits of registered friendly societies and their branches and to invest the same for their benefit. All Investment Associations are 
unincorporated Associations and are registered in England and Wales. In all cases they do not have issued share capital and their principal 
country of operation is Great Britain. The Society is currently in a position where it can exert control over The Leeds District of the Ancient 
Order of Foresters’ Investment Association. This Association has been fully consolidated in line with the requirements of FRS 102.

The Investment Association deposits are investments of the Court and Discretionary funds and consequently have no impact on the 
insurance results shown in the Technical Account.

The Derby and Derbyshire Foresters Investment Association, states within its rules that the members of the Association consist of those 
individuals who are members of depositing Courts, and not the Courts themselves. The ownership of the Association and controlling 
voting rights rest with those individual members and not the Courts. Deposits by Courts in The Derby and Derbyshire Foresters Investment 
Association are shown at the deposit value (cost), which represents cash invested along with cumulative interest and bonuses paid.  
At 31 December 2019 these deposits totalled £4,498,574 (2018: £4,222,462) as shown in note 13, Other financial investments.

Financial information for the year ended
31 December 2019

2019 Restated 2018 

Profit/(loss) 
for the year 

£’000

Total Assets 
£’000

Profit/(loss) 
for the year 

£’000

Total Assets 
£’000

The Leeds District of the Ancient Order of Foresters’ 
Investment Association

993  18,178 (891) 17,184

3. Earned Premiums-Long Term Business

2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

Gross premium written 30,675 27,926
Outward reinsurance premiums (235) (258)

Net earned premiums  30,440 27,668

Gross premium written:

Unit-linked Premium Income
Investment and savings - Regular premiums  5,872 6,000

Non-linked Premium Income
Life cover business - regular premiums  3,852  3,728 
Pensions business - regular premiums  31 32
Investment and savings - single premiums  6,453 4,782
Industrial business - regular premiums  8 10
Group business - regular premiums  14,459 13,374

 30,675 27,926

The above includes premiums in respect of participating business  10,030 8,431

General Insurance Premium Income
Gross premium written 2,475 2,443

Single premiums relate to products issued by the Society which allow for one premium only or allow for recurrent single premiums. 
Regular premiums contractually allow for payments on a regular basis and have been annualised in the gross new business premiums.

4. Investment Returns-Long Term Business

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

a) Investment Income – Long Term Business
Income from property investments  - 349
Income from listed investments 2,608 5,214
Income from other investments 339 284
Sub-total income 2,947 5,847

(Losses)/gains on the realisation of property investments  - 59
(Losses)/gains on the realisation of listed investments 10,999 922
Sub-total realised (losses)/gains 10,999 981

13,946 6,828

b) Unrealised gains/(losses) on Investments
Unrealised gains/(losses) from property investments  - 545
Unrealised gains/(losses) from listed and other investments 4,721 (13,207)

4,721 (12,662)

c) Investment Expenses and Charges – Long Term Business
Investment management expenses and charges 787 777

You were able to help me out with 

the cost of some dental work that 

I had to undergo within a year 

which was much appreciated…

thank you.  ‘‘A satisfied Foresters member, 2020

‘‘
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5. Claims Incurred-Long Term Business

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Outstanding claims at 1 January 2,588 2,296

Gross claims payable 30,833 30,038
Cost of administration 174 171
Net claims incurred 31,007 30,209

Claims paid: Gross amount (30,036) (29,967)

Reinsurers' share  52 50

(29,984) (29,917)

Outstanding claims at 31 December 3,611 2,588

Gross £’000 Reinsurance £’000 Net £’000

Insurance Investment Insurance Investment Insurance Investment

Changes in technical provision for 
linked liabilities
At 1 January 2019 – Restated 29,329 1,750  -  - 29,329 1,750
Movement in year 4,628  15  -  - 4,628  15 

At 31 December 2019 33,957 1,765  -  - 33,957 1,765

6. Change In Technical Provisions-Long Term Business & Linked Liabilities

Gross £’000 Reinsurance £’000 Net £’000

Insurance Investment Insurance Investment Insurance Investment

Changes in Long term business provision
At 1 January 2019 106,328  - (40)  - 106,288  - 
Movement in year 7,672  - 122  - 7,794  - 

At 31 December 2019 114,000  - 82  - 114,082  - 

7. Net operating expenses

2019 
£’000

Restated 2018 
£’000

a) Operating Expenses
Long Term business 6,538 5,779
PVIF Impairment  - 490
PVIF Amortisation  - 210
General Business 154 151
Non-Technical Account 215 218
Court Operating Expenses 4,283 3,322

 11,190 10,170
Total operating expenses for the year amount to £11.2m (Restated 2018: £10.2m).

b) Long Term Business
Acquisition costs 2,221 1,777
IT project costs 1,554 924
Administrative expenses 2,763 3,078

 6,538 5,779
Acquisition costs include commissions paid of £725,655 (2018: £613,072).

c) Non-Technical Account and Court Operating Expenses

Non-Technical Account expenses of £215,000 (2018: £218,000) consist of expenses incurred by the Leeds Investment Association. Court Operating 
expenses of £4,283,000 (2018: £3,322,000) include both the allocated expenses from Head Office and the directly borne expenses.

d) Net operating expenses includes:

Fees payable to the Society’s auditor for the audit of the annual accounts 
of Foresters General Insurance Services Limited

1 1

Fees payable to the Society’s auditor for the audit of the annual accounts 
of Foresters Friendly Society

157 110

Other non-audit services 3 3

Total fees paid to BDO LLP/Grant Thornton LLP  161  114 

Depreciation on tangible fixed assets 15  47 
Operating lease rental charges  4  3 

e) Operating leases

Annual commitments under operating leases for motor vehicles which 
expire between one and five years

 3  4
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8. Staff costs

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

a) Employees
i) Staff Costs
Wages and salaries  3,165 2,598
Social security costs  326 272
Other pension costs  206 234

 3,697 3,104

Number Number

ii) Average number of persons employed:
Board and Senior Management  9 9
Administration and other  52 52
Area Co-ordinators  15 14

 76 75

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

b) Board emoluments
Remuneration (including benefits in kind)  714 575
Pension scheme contributions (money purchase)  42 38
Total  756 613

Management consider the Board to be key management personnel as defined by FRS 102. Full details of Directors’ emoluments are 
contained in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 44 to 45.

9. Taxation

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Surplus of technical income over technical charges (1,662) (837)

Taxation on Technical Surplus at standard UK corporation tax rate of 19% 
(2018: 19%)

(316) (159)

Effects of:
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised 316 159

Consolidated total tax charge/(credit) for the period - -

10. Non-technical investment returns

2019 Group 
£’000

2019 Society 
£’000

Restated 2018 Group 
£’000

2018 Society 
£’000

a) Investment Income
Income from property investments 3,860 3,463 3,348 3,018
Income from listed investments 503 101 595 230
Income from other investments 79 - 72  - 
Sub-total income 4,442 3,564 4,015 3,248

Gains/(losses) on the realisation of listed investments 177 177 (261) (261)
Gains/(losses) on the realisation of property investments 4,766 4,766 4,844 4,852
Sub-total realised gains/(losses) 4,943 4,943 4,583 4,591

Court held assets;
Income from property investments 146 146 146 146
Income from mainland Court investments 622 2,239 599 1,507
Other income – Courts 535 535 429 429
Gains/(losses) on realisation of investments  -  - (22) (22)

1,303 2,920 1,152 2,060

10,688 11,427 9,750 9,899

b) Unrealised gains/(losses) on Investments
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments (2,517) (4,464) (4,686) (4,162)

(2,517) (4,464) (4,686) (4,162)

c) Unrealised gains/(losses) on Court Investments
Unrealised gains on Court investments  406  406 1,870 1,870

d) Investment Management Expenses and Charges
Investment expenses and charges 416 416 369 369

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 1,416 (1,173)
Acquisition costs (2,364) (2,125)
Management assets 2 (4)
Management expenses (4,126) (6,476)

(5,072) (9,778)

There was no current tax charge in either 2019 or 2018 due to the losses the Society is carrying forward. At 31 December 2019, these 
losses stood at £5,072,242 (2018: £9,777,565). This is represented by the following items:
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11. Intangible assets

On acquisition of the POIS portfolio of insurance contracts on 26 September 2014, the net present value of the Society’s interest in the 
expected cash flows of the in-force business was capitalised as an intangible asset as shown above, known as the Purchased Value of 
In-force Business (PVIF).

2019 2018 

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

PVIF PVIF
Cost
At 1 January 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400
At 31 December 1,400 1,400 1,400 1,400

Amortisation
At 1 January (1,400) (1,400) (700) (700)
Impairment of PVIF  -  - (490) (490)
Amortisation of PVIF  -  - (210) (210)
At 31 December (1,400) (1,400) (1,400) (1,400)

Net Book Value
31 December 2019  -  - 
31 December 2018  -  - 

12. Land and buildings

Group Freehold 
£’000

Long 
Leasehold 

£’000

Occupied by 
Society 

£’000

Court & Investment 
Association 

Properties 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Market Value
At 1 January 2019 – Restated 48,263 3,659 1,405 13,954 67,281

Additions  -  -  -  -  - 

Disposals (8,111)  -  - (150) (8,261)

Revaluation 265 (270) (250)  910  655 

At 31 December 2019 40,417 3,389 1,155 14,714 59,675

Society Freehold 
£’000

Long 
Leasehold 

£’000

Occupied by 
Society 

£’000

Court Properties 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Market Value
At 1 January 2019 48,263 3,659 1,405 4,000 57,327

Disposals (8,111)  -  -  - (8,111)

Revaluation 265 (270) (250) 733  478 

At 31 December 2019 40,417 3,389 1,155 4,733 49,694

All investment properties, except the Court and Investment Association properties and properties purchased within the previous 12 
months, were valued by Aston Rose Chartered Surveyors as at 30 November 2019 in accordance with the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors’ guidelines on the basis of Fair Value, taking into account the remaining periods of leases granted to tenants. Management 
has concluded that it is not appropriate for the investment properties to be indexed in value to 31 December 2019. The property occupied 
by the Society, Foresters House, and the property occupied in Tunstall were valued at the same date by Aston Rose Chartered Surveyors 
on an Existing Use Value basis. No allowance has been made for the costs of realisation. Court and Investment Association properties 
have been valued by a number of different professional independent valuers on a Fair Value basis as at 31 December 2019, taking into 
account the remaining periods of leases granted to tenants. Property costs have been restated as at 1 January 2003 at the value at 
the Society’s Incorporation.

In order for these accounts to show a true and fair view it is appropriate not to provide depreciation on land and buildings as it is 
considered that their useful economic lives and residual values are such that their depreciation is immaterial.

The Group’s policy is to let land and buildings to tenants through operating leases. The minimum future rental income expected to 
be received under non-cancellable operating leases is as follows:

Not later than 
one year 

£’000

Later than 
one year and 
not later than 

five years 
£’000

Later than 
five years 

£’000

Total 
£’000

Future minimum lease payments receivable under 
non-cancellable operating leases

                  3,066    7,206 4,213 14,485

13. Other financial investments

2019 Restated 2018 

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

At Market Value
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit trusts 34,930 20,721 46,988 35,741
Debt securities and other fixed income securities 128,231 127,559 100,939 100,309
Investments listed on UK recognised investment exchange  163,161  148,280 147,927 136,050
Loans secured by mortgages 23 23 53 53
Other investments  50  50 57 57
Deposits in Investment Associations 4,499 16,777 4,222 15,140
Investment in subsidiary  -  10  - 10
Court held other investments-mainland 11 11 11 11
Court held other investments-Guernsey 1,869 1,869 1,347 1,347
Other financial investments  169,613  167,020  153,617  152,668 
Assets held to cover linked liabilities (see below) 35,722 35,722 31,079 31,079

205,335 202,742 184,696 183,747

Listed investments were valued at their bid value at 31 December 2019. Mortgages and other investments are included at their 
book cost. Investment Association investments were valued at market value by the Association’s professional advisors. Investment 
in subsidiary in the Society figures includes the cost of £10,000 for all the shares in Foresters General Insurance Services Limited, 
which is incorporated in the United Kingdom.
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Fair Value measurement

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. Fair values are 
generally determined at prices quoted in an active market (level 1). Where such information is not available it may be possible to apply 
calculation techniques making use of market observable data for all significant inputs (level 2). Where inputs are not based on observable 
market data, fair value are classified as level 3. The classification by level of the Society’s key financial assets are as set out below.

Group 2019 Society 2019

Level 1 
£’000

Level 2 
£’000

Level 3 
£’000

Level 1 
£’000

Level 2 
£’000

Level 3 
£’000

Financial Assets
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit trusts 34,930  -  - 20,721  -  - 
Debt securities and other fixed income securities 128,231  -  - 127,559  -  - 
Assets held to cover linked liabilities 35,722  -  - 35,722  -  - 
Land and Buildings  -  - 59,675  -  - 49,694

198,883  - 59,675 184,002  - 49,694

The fair value of level 3 assets has been determined by reference to present and future income flows based on current day values 
supported by market evidence. In addition, lease terms, floor areas and enquiries within the market place have also been factored in.

Group 2018 – Restated Society 2018 – Restated

Level 1 
£’000

Level 2 
£’000

Level 3 
£’000

Level 1 
£’000

Level 2 
£’000

Level 3 
£’000

Financial Assets
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit trusts 46,988 - - 35,741 - -
Debt securities and other fixed income securities 100,939 - - 100,309 - -
Assets held to cover linked liabilities 31,079 - - 31,079 - -
Land and Buildings - - 67,281 - - 57,327

179,006  - 67,281 167,129  - 57,327

2019 Restated 2018 

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Analysis of assets held to cover linked liabilities
Debt securities and other fixed income securities 2,307 2,307 2,218 2,218
Shares and other variable yield securities and units in unit trusts 33,216 33,216 28,341 28,341
Other investments 199 199 520 520

 35,722  35,722 31,079 31,079

All debtors are due within 1 year. There are no debtors which are past due or impaired at the balance sheet date.

14. Other debtors

2019 2018 

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Trade debtors 982 933 1,170 1,167
Other debtors including taxation recoverable 314 313 419 373

 1,296  1,246 1,589 1,540

15. Tangible fixed assets (Group and Society)

Fixtures & Fittings Total 
£’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2019  1,112 
Additions 25
As at 31 December 2019  1,137 

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2019  1,061 
Charge for the year 15
As at 31 December 2019  1,076 

Net Book Value
31 December 2019  61 
31 December 2018  51 

Prior Year Information: Fixtures & Fittings Total  
£’000

Cost
As at 1 January 2018  1,095 
Additions 17
As at 31 December 2018  1,112 

Depreciation
As at 1 January 2018  1,014 
Charge for the year 47
As at 31 December 2018  1,061 

Net Book Value
31 December 2018  51 
31 December 2017  81 

13. Other financial investments – continued
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16. Discretionary funds

2019 2018

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

Group 
£’000

Society 
£’000

At 1 January 13,541 3,329 13,708 2,900
Transfer from/(to) Non-Technical Account 841 (8) (167) 429
At 31 December 14,382 3,321 13,541 3,329

These funds are comprised as follows:
Court Reserve Fund 13,646 2,585 12,804 2,592
Convalescent Home Benefit Fund 79 79 95 95
Foresters Child Support Fund 398 398 398 398
Foresters Lifeboat Fund 5 5 5 5
150th Anniversary Educational Awards Fund 150 150 152 152
Foresters Support Fund 57 57 14 14
Police Benevolent Fund 21 21 45 45
Subsidiary Benefit Funds 26 26 28 28
At 31 December 14,382 3,321 13,541 3,329

The Discretionary funds are those funds with specific purposes as determined by the Society.

17. Court funds

Mainland Courts 
£’000

Guernsey Court 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Group
At 1 January 2019 – Restated 82,854 688 83,542
Transfer from Non-Technical Account 1,366 129 1,495
At 31 December 2019 84,220 817 85,037

Society
At 1 January 2019 75,912 688 76,600
Transfer from Non-Technical Account 1,222 129 1,351
At 31 December 2019 77,134 817 77,951

18. Fund for future appropriations (Group and Society)

The Fund for Future Appropriations (‘FFA’) stands at £22.7m (2018: £24.3m) and represents the estimated surplus in the funds that has 
not been allocated and is available to meet regulatory and other solvency requirements.

Group 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Group
At 1 January 24,312 25,159
Transfer from/(to) Technical Account (1,662) (837)
Transfer from/(to) Non-Technical Account -  - 
Foresters General Insurance Services Ltd  - (10)
At 31 December 22,650 24,312

Society
At 1 January 24,319 25,159
Transfer from/(to) Technical Account (1,663) (840)
Transfer from/(to) Non-Technical Account -  - 
At 31 December 22,656 24,319

19. Technical Provisions (Group and Society)

Long Term 
Business 
Provision 

£’000

Technical Provision 
for Linked Liabilities General 

Business 
Provision 

£’000

Outstanding 
Claims 
£’000

Total 
£’000Insurance 

Contracts 
£’000

Investment 
Contracts 

£’000

At 1 January 2019 – Restated  106,328  29,329  1,750  3,810  2,588  143,805 
Expected Premiums Received  11,625 4,964  -   -    -    16,589 
Expected Provision Released on Claim  (19,764)  (6,563)  (146)  -    -    (26,473)
Expected Management Expenses  (1,820)  (834)  (22)  -    -    (2,676)
Expected Investment Income  1,013  268  17  -    -    1,298 
New business  6,461  430  -    -    -    6,891 
Changes to liabilities:
-  Insurance variance & assumptions  1,473  -    -    -    -    1,473 
-  Expenses & Inflation  (1,742)  -    -    -    -    (1,742)
-  Economic variance  5,749  6,000  166  -    -    11,915 
-  Economic assumptions  3,109  -    -    -    -    3,109 
-  Modelling Changes  916  -    -    -    -    916 

-  Other  652  363  -    141  -    1,156 
Change in provision for outstanding claims  -    -    -    -    1,023  1,023 
As at 31 December 2019  114,000  33,957  1,765  3,951  3,611  157,284 

Reinsurers’ share
At 1 January 2019 (40)  -  -  -  - (40)
Change in reinsurers’ share 122  -  -  -  - 122
At 31 December 2019 82  -  -  -  - 82

The Long Term Business provision includes pension annuity guarantees of £1,171,019 (2018: £939,630). The increase over the year is 
due to the fall in yields.
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2018 – Restated
Long Term 

Business 
Provision 

£’000

Technical Provision 
for Linked Liabilities General 

Business 
Provision 

£’000

Outstanding 
Claims 
£’000

Total 
£’000Insurance 

Contracts 
£’000

Investment 
Contracts 

£’000

At 1 January 2018  114,305  35,949  1,932  3,649  2,296  158,131 
Expected Premiums Received  14,602  5,544  -    -    -    20,146 
Expected Provision Released on Claim  (19,712)  (8,449)  (283)  -    -    (28,444)
Expected Management Expenses  (2,435)  (661)  (23)  -    -    (3,119)
Expected Investment Income  592  192  10  -  -    794 
New business  3,766  456  -    -    -    4,222 
Changes to liabilities:
-  Insurance variance & assumptions  (396)  -    -    -    -    (396)
-  Expenses & Inflation  (634)  -    -    -   -    (634)
-  Economic variance  (2,039)  (3,430)  (39)  -    -    (5,508)
-  Economic assumptions  (404)  -    -    161  -    (243)
-  Modelling Changes  (1,106)  -    -    -    -    (1,106)
-  Other  (211)  (272)  153  -    -    (330)

Change in provision for outstanding claims  -    -    -    -    292  292 
As at 31 December 2018 – Restated  106,328 29,329 1,750 3,810 2,588 143,805

Reinsurers’ share
At 1 January 2018 (25)  -  -  -  - (25)
Change in reinsurers’ share (15)  -  -  -  - (15)
At 31 December 2018 (40)  -  -  -  - (40)

(a) Introduction

The Long Term Business Provision primarily comprises the liabilities of the following funds:

• Order Insurance Fund (OIF) - an open with-profits fund

• Pure Endowment Fund (PEF) – a closed with-profits fund

• Tunstall Fund (TF) – a closed with-profits fund

• Leek Fund (LF) – a closed with-profits fund

• POIS Fund (POIS) – a closed with-profits fund

• Non-Profit Fund (NPF) – an open non-profit fund that offers unit-linked business and Group business, maintains smaller non-profit 
conventional and PHI business as well as supports the Society’s capital requirements. The Long Term Business Provision in respect of 
the unit-linked business is the non-unit technical provision.

Technical provisions have increased by £13.5m in the year. The increase is primarily caused by economic variance (£11.9m) mainly 
from good investment returns increasing the value of savings plans; new business written in the year (£6.9m) and changes in economic 
assumptions (£3.1m) reflecting lower interest rates, increasing the present value of future claims and expenses. These increases have 
been offset by the expected payment of claims and expenses less premiums and investment return over 2019 (£11.3m).

The balance includes insurance variances and assumptions (£1.5m) due to lower than expected claims experiences during 2019; 
modelling changes (£0.9m) increasing the Society’s technical provisions relating to future expenses, reflecting expected future dis-
economies of scale; other changes (£1.2m) including changes in the general business provision, change in premium timing recognition 
on linked contracts, and an increase in the cost of guarantees provision relating to a change in asset mix following appointment of new 
asset managers in 2019; and an increase in the provision for outstanding claims (£1.0m). This is offset by a fall in provisioned future 
expenses (£1.7m) due to a fall in budgeted expenses and releasing the provision in respect of future investment management fees not 
relating to insurance and investment contracts.

The Technical Provision for Linked Liabilities comprises of the unit reserves for the unit linked business written in the Non-Profit Fund.

The General Business provision is held in respect of medical and medical services insurance protection business conducted by the Court 
in Guernsey. This is classified as general overseas business and is shown separately in the Technical Account.

The provision for outstanding claims consists of all claims notified to the Society by 31 December 2019 but not yet paid.

(b) Types of insurance contracts

The main types of insurance contracts that the Society currently has in force are savings, life assurance and income protection contracts.

The Order Insurance Fund is open to with-profits savings and life assurance business and the main products currently offered are as follows:

The Non-Profit Fund is open to unit-linked savings business and non-profit Group Schemes:

The General Business written by the Guernsey Court sells the following product:

Product name Description

Tax Exempt Savings Plan
A long-term regular tax exempt savings plan with a guaranteed tax-free cash sum at the end of the 
chosen term and the potential for bonuses to increase the policy value.

With-profit (Stocks & Shares) ISA
A flexible medium to long-term tax-free savings plan which can accept regular investments or one-off 
lump sum investments up to the maximum annual ISA limit. There is the potential for bonuses to increase 
the policy value. The Society offers an adult ISA, a Lifetime ISA and a Junior ISA.

Bond A single lump sum investment with the potential for bonuses to be added over the medium to long term. 

50+ Life Cover
A With-Profits whole of life insurance policy for the over 50s, providing a guaranteed tax-free cash sum on 
death which has the potential to grow with bonuses over time. The monthly premiums are fixed at outset and 
guaranteed not to change. 

Product name Description

Tax Exempt Savings Plan 
(unit-linked)

A long-term regular tax-exempt savings plan of which the premium is used to allocate units in the 
POIS Flexible Growth Fund. The POIS Flexible Growth Fund is an actively managed fund with the aim of 
achieving long term growth, while spreading risk across a wide range of investments. The fund mainly 
invests in shares (both UK and overseas) along with fixed interest investments.

Savings & Investment Plan 
(unit-linked)

A long-term regular savings plan of which the premium is used to allocate units in the POIS Savings 
Fund. The POIS Savings Fund is an actively managed fund which aims to provide good potential for 
growth, over the longer term, by investing mainly in stocks and shares.

Group Life & Sickness Schemes
These are set up by employers to provide life assurance, critical illness and/or income protection benefits for 
employees. The employees have the option of joining the scheme and paying the appropriate premiums for the 
selected benefits. A range of different benefit types is available and these are tailored to the individual scheme.

No new business (other than increments to existing policies) is written in the other funds of the Society.

Product name Description

Foresters Healthcare

This provides medical expenses insurance on the island of Guernsey. The product is structured in two 
parts - Scheme A covers Primary Care and Scheme B (which is available only in addition to Scheme A) 
covers additional benefits. Primary care includes GP consultations at the surgery, home visits, hospital 
visits or consultations at the A&E department, nurse consultations at the Guernsey hospital, ambulance 
conveyance but excludes minor operations performed by the GP, prescription fees and travel vaccinations.

Additional benefits cover minor operations, physiotherapy, blood pressure monitoring and a number of 
other specified items. The level of benefit provided is dependent on the number of units purchased.

19. Technical Provisions (Group and Society) – continued



8584

Financial Statements

(c) Method used for calculating technical provisions

The liability for insurance contracts is calculated on the basis 
of recognised actuarial methods having due regard to actuarial 
principles and best practice. The methodology takes into account 
risks and uncertainties of the business written.

Calculations are generally made on an individual policy basis, 
although for Group schemes the reserves are set at a portfolio level 
allowing for the mix of different schemes (by size and benefit type).

Technical provisions are calculated in line with the PRA Rulebook 
which implements the European Union’s Solvency II Directive 
2009/138/EC, amended by Omnibus II in April 2014 (“Solvency II”). 
Technical provisions are the sum of the BEL (Best Estimate Liability) 
and the Risk Margin. The risk margin allows for the cost to a third 
party of holding Solvency II capital until all the contracts are settled.

For the with-profits business within the OIF, TF, PEF and POIS, 
the BEL consists of policy asset shares plus the cost of guarantees 
and any adjustment for the cost of smoothing. For LF a gross 
premium reserve is calculated.

The liabilities for the individual sickness policies are calculated 
using the inception annuity method on a gross premium basis, 
which values the expected future claim payments from the 
valuation date to the end of each policy term.

The liabilities for the Group business are calculated using a 
scheme level cash flow model that allows for: 

• Future premiums, claims and expenses;

• IBNR (Incurred But Not Reported) claims which have already 
occurred but have not been notified to us; and

• The cost of periodic claims already in payment.

The technical provision for the Guernsey medical expenses 
insurance business is calculated using a simple cash flow model 
with a one year contract boundary. This is because the business 
has been stable for many years and only provides annual policies 
which are all renewable on 1 January each year.

Premium levels are generally set by the Guernsey Court with 
reference to amounts collected in the previous year with an uplift 
for inflation. Earned premium is assumed to be equal to written 
premium in the year (no significant difference).

IBNR claims form part of the claim provision as well as 
outstanding claims. The remainder form part of the premium 
provision, also included in the premium provision is the final 
settlement of the claims that are expected to form the IBNR and 
outstanding claims at the year-end.

The liabilities for protection business are calculated using a 
gross premium basis. 

For unit-linked business, the liabilities are made up of the 
unit liability together with a non-linked element. The unit-linked 
policies with a guaranteed return are valued using the updated 
stochastic cash flow projection model. 

(d) Assumptions used for calculating technical provisions

The principal economic assumption is the valuation interest 
rate which is a duration specific curve specified by EIOPA (the 
European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority).

EIOPA publish on their website the duration specific valuation 
interest rates to use at each valuation date for a range of 
currencies. The Society only has liabilities denominated in £ 
sterling, so a single valuation interest rate curve is used for 
all calculations of technical provisions.

The economic assumptions for the cost of guarantee 
valuation model include: UK equity and swaption implied 
volatilities (observed from market data), volatility assumptions 
for property and corporate bond returns (based on historic 
observed rates), and correlation assumptions for returns 
between these asset classes. 

Non-economic assumptions are based on standard tables 
adjusted where necessary to take into account the Society’s 
own experience. Where appropriate tables are not available, 
industry experience is used to calculate provisions. The 
principal assumptions are mortality, morbidity and persistency 
although the relative sensitivity will depend on the class of 
long-term business.

Experience reviews for mortality, morbidity and persistency 
are performed on a regular basis. Where industry analysis 
indicate that changes in expected future mortality, morbidity 
or other specific circumstances mean that claim costs are  
likely to change in future, then this is taken into account in the 
valuation. Assumptions are generally intended to be a best 
estimate of future experience.

The lapse assumptions have increased for the majority of the 
with-profit business. With annual lapse rates for this business 
typically increasing 0.25% or 0.50%.

There was a minor change in morbidity assumptions. The 
Society’s sickness policies predominantly have 1 week 
deferred period. The assumed inception rate on such policies 
decreased to 65% (2018: 70%) for males and 75% for 
females (2018: 80%) the CMIR12 tables.

2019 2018

OIF & PEF Conventional With-Profits business

Males
150% AMC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000
150% AMC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000

Females
160% AFC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000
160% AFC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000

OIF Accumulating With-Profits 

Males
104% AMC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000
104% AMC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000

Females
104% AFC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000
104% AFC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000

Tunstall IB With-Profits business

Males
105% AMC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000
105% AMC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000

Females
120% AFC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000
120% AFC00 with 1.3% p.a. 

improvement since 2000

Tunstall IB non-profit business
Males 65% AMC00 65% AMC00

Females 90% AFC00 90% AFC00

Leek business
Males 90% AMC00 90% AMC00

Females 90% AFC00 90% AFC00

NPF unit-linked business
Males 60% AMC00 60% AMC00

Females 45% AFC00 45% AFC00

POIS & NPF whole life non-profit business
Males 100% AMC00 100% AMC00

Females 90% AFC00 90% AFC00

OIF, PEF, Tunstall OB, NPF non-profit business
Males 130% AMC00 130% AMC00

Females 130% AFC00 130% AFC00

POIS/NPF all contracts except unit-linked 
and whole life non-profit contracts

Males 55% AMC00 55% AMC00

Females 50% AFC00 50% AFC00

Annuities in Payment

Males
PMA92C2020 100% MC, 

2% Floor
PMA92C2019 100% MC, 

2% Floor

Females
PFA92C2020 100% MC, 

2% Floor
PFA92C2019 100% MC, 

2% Floor

Income Benefit
Males

IF80C2019 1 year select IF80C2018 1 year select
Females

i. Mortality assumptions by product type19. Technical Provisions (Group and Society) – continued
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20. Capital statement (Group and Society)
The Capital Statement in respect of the Society’s Life insurance business is set out below. The statement shows the analysis of the 
available capital resources, the solvency capital requirements and the overall surplus capital. In addition the statement provides an analysis 
of policyholders’ liabilities.

The prior year figures were as follows:

At 31 December 2019 With-Profits funds 
£’000

Non-participating funds
 £’000

Court Funds 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Qualifying capital
Fund for Future Appropriations (FFA) 6,566 16,084  -   22,650
Other Reserves  -   21 98,999 99,020
Regulatory adjustments – assets (10) (316)  -   (326)

Regulatory adjustments – liabilities  -   (16) 4,119 4,103
Total available capital resources 6,556 15,773 103,118 125,447
Ring-fenced fund deduction (unaudited) (83,490)
Solvency capital requirement (unaudited) (37,849)
Overall surplus capital (unaudited) 4,108

Analysis of policyholders’ liabilities
With-Profits 104,246 - - 104,246
Non-participating - 9,754 3,951 13,705
Unit-linked - 35,722 - 35,722
Claims outstanding 2,221 1,022 368 3,611

106,467 46,498 4,319 157,284

a) Summary

The Society has a Capital Management Policy and a Medium-
Term Capital Management Plan which outlines the overall aim 
and approach to be taken for capital management, together with 
the standards and parameters which must be adhered to and 
reporting requirements and responsibilities.

The objective is to ensure that the Society has sufficient capital 
resources to remain solvent on both a regulatory basis (Solvency II 

Pillar I) and an economic basis (Solvency II Pillar II). The Solvency II 
results presented within this note relate to the regulatory basis.

The capital projections shown in the ORSA over the 5-year business 
planning period facilitate Board discussion on the capital requirements 
of each fund and the Society as a whole. Separate consideration is 
given to the in-force portfolio and the impact of writing new business.

Some of the Society’s Own Funds are restricted by the ring- 
fenced adjustments described below to give eligible Own Funds. 

All of the Society’s eligible Own Funds are classified as Tier 1 
high quality unrestricted capital, i.e. assets which are free from 
any foreseeable liabilities and are available to absorb losses due 
to adverse business fluctuations on a going-concern basis and 
in the case of winding-up.

As the Society’s eligible own funds are all Tier 1, they are 
available in full to cover the SCR and MCR.

As shown in the table on the previous page, the total available 
capital resources amount to £125.4m (2018: £124.3m), of which 
£83.5m (2018: £79.7m) is unavailable to cover solvency capital 
requirements due to ring-fenced fund restrictions. The Society’s 
solvency capital requirements amount to £37.8m (2018: £38.9m) 
resulting in a surplus of available capital of £4.1m (2018: £5.7m). 
The decrease in surplus capital is largely caused by project 
expenses paid over the year and writing new business. 

It is the Board’s intention to ensure that there is adequate capital 
to exceed the solvency capital requirements of the Society’s 
insurance business, to meet any net new business strain and to 
meet any additional capital requirements of the Own Solvency 
and Risk Assessment.

(b) Basis for calculating available capital resources 

The Fund for Future Appropriations (FFA) represents the 
estimated surplus in the long term business funds that has not 
been allocated to policyholders or members. In addition other 
reserves reflect available funds available to support the Society’s 
benevolent and fraternal activities. These amounts are available 
to cover capital requirements.

Adjustments are shown to assets and liabilities to bridge between 
the FFA and the available capital determined in accordance with 
the PRA Rulebook. This year’s adjustments include the valuation 
differences in Guernsey Medical expenses (Solvency II basis vs 
Guernsey basis) and pension schemes (FRS 102 versus IAS 19 
basis) as well as elements of prepayments that are not recognised 
as assets within eligible own funds. 

(c) Basis of calculating capital requirements 

The Society must hold sufficient capital to meet its regulatory 
requirements under Solvency II. 

The Society is required to hold sufficient capital to meet the PRA’s 
minimum capital requirements (MCR). The absolute floor of the 
MCR is fixed in Euro terms at €6.5m. Using the conversion rate 
specified by EIOPA this is equivalent to £5.3m at 31 December 
2019. The Society’s calculated minimum capital requirements of 
£12.9m (2018: £12.3m) exceed this minimum floor.

The unaudited total solvency capital requirement (SCR) of the 
Society amounts to £37.8m (2018: £38.9m) The SCR is the 
additional capital required as a result of applying a prescribed set 
of stress tests as set by the Solvency II regulation. The amount 
of capital requirement broadly reflects the loss the Society would 
incur following a 1 in 200 year adverse event. 

The Society met all of its regulatory capital requirements 
over 2019.

(d) Restrictions on available capital resources 

In general, as the Society is a mutual, all surplus belongs to 
members. As a result of the exercise to clarify the fund structures 
that took effect from 1 January 2012, each insurance fund has 
its own capital. The assets for each of the with-profit funds have 
been ring-fenced which means that the associated assets are for 
the benefit of the with-profit policyholders of the various funds and 
cannot be used to support other areas of the business except in 
exceptional circumstances.

The non-participating funds constituent of the FFA decreased from 
£17.0m in 2018 to £16.1m in 2019.

Full details of these restrictions are publicly available within the 
Society’s Principles and Practices of Financial Management.

(e) Movement in available capital

This data is represented in the table below.

The available capital is sensitive to changes in market conditions, 
due to both changes in the value of the assets and the effect 
any change in investment conditions would have on the basis for 
calculating policy liabilities. The capital position is also sensitive to 
assumptions and actual experience relating to investment returns, 
mortality, expenses and policy lapse rates. The mix of assets is 
kept under review taking into account the level of capital required 
and the anticipated returns for members.

Movement in available capital 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Total available capital at 1 January 124,304 123,345
Change in assets 15,473 (12,590)
Change in insurance liabilities (12,539) 14,377
Change in non-insurance liabilities (1,791) (828)

Total available capital at 31 December 125,447 124,304

At 31 December 2018 – Restated With-Profits funds 
£’000

Non-participating funds
 £’000

Court Funds 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Qualifying capital
Fund for Future Appropriations (FFA) 7,321 16,991  - 24,312
Other Reserves - 44 96,638 96,682
Regulatory adjustments – assets  - (361)  - (361)

Regulatory adjustments – liabilities  - (44)  3,715 3,671
Total available capital resources 7,321 16,630 100,353 124,304
Ring-fenced fund deduction (79,676)
Solvency capital requirement (38,925)
Overall surplus capital 5,703

Analysis of policyholders’ liabilities
With-Profits  95,086  -  -  95,086 
Non-participating  -  11,242  3,810  15,052 
Unit-linked  -  31,079  -    31,079 
Claims outstanding  1,965  420  203  2,588 

 97,051  42,741  4,013  143,805 
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In accordance with FRS 102, the Society is required to disclose that it has an unbooked deferred tax asset of £1,015,000 (2018: £1,955,000) using 
a deferred taxation rate of 20% (2018: 20%). No deferred tax asset has been booked, due to the uncertainty over when the losses will be utilised.

Deferred Taxation 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Movements in provision

At 1 January - -

Charge/(credit) in Technical Account - -

At 31 December - -

Asset not provided for
Realised and unrealised gains/(losses) on Investments 283 (235)

Acquisition costs (473) (425)

Excess management expenses carried forward (825) (1,295)
Deferred tax asset not recognised in the balance sheet (1,015) (1,955)

21. Provisions for other risks and charges (Group and Society)

22. Pension schemes

a) Defined contribution scheme

The Society operates a defined contribution group stakeholder 
pension scheme: The Ancient Order of Foresters Friendly Society 
Group Stakeholder Pension Plan (FGSPP) for all employees joining 
the Society after 2003. The majority of current staff are members 
of the scheme and contribute to it. The Society contributes 10% of 
salaries of all contributing staff into the scheme. The contributions 
made by the Society amounted to £198,354 (2018: £199,635). 
The funds of the scheme are administered by a third party and are 
independent of the Society’s finances. The Society has no liability 
in respect of this defined contribution scheme other than future 
contractual contributions.

(b) Defined benefit schemes

The Society operates two defined benefit schemes: The Ancient 
Order of Foresters 1978 Retirement & Death Benefit Scheme (the 
AOF scheme) and The Tunstall and District Assurance Collecting 
Society Staff Superannuation Fund Scheme (the Tunstall scheme). 
The funds of the schemes are administered by trustees and are 
independent of the Society’s finances. Contributions are paid 
to the scheme in accordance with the recommendations of an 
independent actuarial adviser.

Both defined benefit schemes are closed to new entrants. The 
AOF scheme has 2 (2018: 2) active members, 21 (2018: 22) 
deferred members and 50 (2018: 48) pensioners (including 29 
pensioners where an annuity has been purchased). The Tunstall 
scheme has 2 (2018: 2) active members, 11 (2018: 11) deferred 
members and 13 (2018: 13) pensioners. As the schemes are 
closed to new entrants, the age profile of the active members 
will tend to rise and under the projected unit method the current 
service cost will tend to increase with time.

The employer contributions amount to 0% (2018: 0%) in respect 
of the AOF scheme and 22.1% (2018: 22.1%) in respect of the 
Tunstall scheme. In total, employer contributions to the schemes 
amounted to £7,735 (2018: £34,179) and other costs amounted 
to £45,194 (2018: £86,945).

Details in respect of the schemes are provided below in 
accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS 102). 
Actuarial valuations are carried out every three years on behalf 
of the Trustees of each of the Schemes by a qualified independent 
actuary. The actuarial assumptions underlying the actuarial 
valuation are different to those adopted under FRS 102.

A full triennial valuation of the AOF Scheme was carried out at 
6 April 2019. Following the triennial valuation, the Trustees have 
considered the valuation results and will be making a proposal to 
the Employer regarding future contributions by the end of March 
2020. There have therefore been no employer contributions to 
the AOF Scheme during the year ended 31 December 2019 
(2018: Nil employer contributions were made). 

The last triennial valuation of the Tunstall scheme was as at 31 
December 2016. This showed that the Scheme’s assets were 
insufficient to cover the liabilities on the funding basis. A recovery 
plan has been agreed with the Society, which required the Society 
to pay a lump sum of £25,000 in April 2018. 

The Society also agreed to pay contributions of 22.1% of earnings 
of the remaining active member during 2018 and a payment 
of £2,543 was made in April 2018 in respect of backdating 
contributions for active members to 31 December 2016.

The actuarial valuations of both schemes have been updated to 
the accounting date by an independent qualified actuary. 

(c) Assumptions for defined benefit schemes 

The following table sets out the key FRS 102 assumptions used for the two schemes:

31 December 2019 
%

31 December 2018 
%

Discount rate  1.9  2.6 
Retail price inflation  3.2  3.3 
Consumer price inflation  2.3  2.4 
Pension increases  0.0 to 3.1  0.0 to 3.3 
Salary growth  3.3  3.4 
Life expectancy of a current 65 year old (years)  20 to 22 yrs  21 to 23 yrs 

(d) AOF Scheme

The split of assets in the AOF scheme has been as follows:

Assets 31 December 2019 
%

31 December 2018 
%

Equities  20  24 
Property  12  13 
Bonds  22  27 
Gilts  25  32 
Cash  1  4 

Annuities  20  - 
Total %  100  100 

Balance Sheet position 31 December 2019 
£’000

31 December 2018 
£’000

Total fair value of assets 5,781  5,603 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (5,007) (4,849)
Surplus in scheme  774  754 
Asset not recognised (558) (545)
Recognised defined benefit asset  216  209 

The Society has recognised the surplus as an asset in these financial statements to the extent that it can be recovered by the Society 
through either reduced future contributions or through refunds which are agreed with the Trustees of the pension scheme.

As required by FRS 102, the value of the defined benefit liabilities 
have been measured using the projected unit credit method and 
both the assets and liabilities include the value of those pensions 
in payment that are secured with insured annuities.

The Government has announced that RPI will be aligned with 
CPIH (CPI including owner occupied housing costs), with the 
change proposed to happen sometime between 2025 and 
2030. There is an ongoing consultation on the precise timing of 
the proposed change. It is therefore anticipated that, in future, 

differences between rates of RPI and CPI will reduce. Following 
the announcement of the proposed change, small term-related 
changes in RPI and CPI swap data emerged, at longer terms, an 
approximate 0.1% reduction in the gap between the two measures.

Given the small observed market effects around the time of the 
announcement of the proposed change, and the uncertainties 
around the timing and mechanism of implementing the change, 
no further adjustment has been made to the valuation of the 
pension schemes’ liabilities. Both schemes are in surplus.
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Analysis of change in defined benefit obligation 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Liabilities in scheme at 1 January 4,849 5,575
Current service cost  22  24 
Past service cost  -  176 
Interest cost on scheme liabilities  123  129 
Employee contributions  3  3 
Remeasurement arising from changes in assumptions 181 (158)
Remeasurement arising from experience 69 (541)

Benefits paid (240) (359)
Liabilities in scheme at 31 December 5,007 4,849

Defined benefit cost Year to 31 December 2019 
£’000

Year to 31 December 2018 
£’000

Current service cost and total operating charge  22  24 
Past service cost  -  176 

Net interest on the defined benefit asset (6) (5)
Total recognised in Profit or Loss  16  195 
Remeasurements in Other Comprehensive Income (23) (165)
Defined benefit cost (7) 30

Remeasurements recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

Year to 31 December 2019 
£’000

Year to 31 December 2018 
£’000

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 250 (699)
Actual return on assets excluding interest income (272) 742
Change in the effect of the asset ceiling excluding amounts in net interest (1) (208)
Total recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (23) (165)

Change in recognised defined benefit asset 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Recognised defined benefit asset at 1 January 209 239
Defined benefit cost 7 (30)
Recognised defined benefit asset at 31 December 216 209

Change in effect of the asset ceiling 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Effect of asset ceiling at 1 January 545 735
Interest on the effect of the asset ceiling 14 18
Change in effect of the asset ceiling excluding interest (1) (208)
Effect of asset ceiling at 31 December 558 545

(e) Tunstall Scheme

The split of assets in the Tunstall scheme has been as follows:

31 December 2019 
%

31 December 2018 
%

Equities  51 48
Fixed Interest Gilts  24 24
Index Linked Gilts  23 25
Cash  2 3
Total %  100 100

Balance Sheet position 31 December 2019 
£’000

31 December 2018 
£’000

Total fair value of assets 2,885  2,563 
Present value of defined benefit obligation (2,577) (2,410)
Surplus in scheme 308 153
Asset not recognised  -  - 
Adjustment for non-recoverable surplus (98)  - 
Recognised defined benefit asset 210 153

The Society has recognised the surplus as an asset in these financial statements to the extent that it can be recovered by the Society 
through either reduced future contributions or through refunds which are agreed with the Trustees of the pension scheme.

Analysis of change in assets 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Assets in scheme at 1 January 2,563 2,682
Interest income  66  64 
Actual return on assets excluding interest income 302 (165)
Employer contributions  8  34 
Benefits paid (54) (52)
Assets in scheme at 31 December 2,885 2,563

Actual return on assets 368 (101)

22. Pension schemes – continued

Analysis of change in assets 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Assets in scheme at 1 January 5,603 6,549
Interest income  143  152 
Actual return on assets excluding interest income 272 (742)
Employee contributions  3  3 
Benefits paid (240) (359)
Assets in scheme at 31 December  5,781  5,603 

Actual return on assets 415 (590)
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Defined benefit cost Year to 31 December 2019 
£’000

Year to 31 December 2018 
£’000

Current service cost and total operating charge  7 5
Net interest on the defined benefit asset (4) (5)
Total recognised in Profit or Loss  3  - 
Remeasurements in Other Comprehensive Income (52) 61
Defined benefit cost (49) 61

Remeasurements recognised in Other 
Comprehensive Income

Year to 31 December 2019 
£’000

Year to 31 December 2018 
£’000

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 152 (67)
Actual return on assets excluding interest income (302) 165
Change in non-recoverable surplus 98 (37)
Total recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (52) 61

Change in recognised defined benefit asset 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Recognised defined benefit (liability)/asset at 1 January 153 180
Defined benefit cost 49 (61)
Employer contributions  8  34 
Recognised defined benefit asset/(liability) at 31 December 210 153

Change in effect of the asset ceiling 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Effect of asset ceiling at 1 January  - 37
Interest on the effect of the asset ceiling  - -
Change in effect of the asset ceiling excluding interest 98 (37)
Effect of asset ceiling at 31 December 98  - 

23. Related party disclosures

Control

The Society is controlled by its members, in particular through the Annual Meeting of delegates at the High Court.

Transactions

The Board, the Chief Executive, or their immediate family held various policies on standard terms (including the right to bonuses where 
appropriate) throughout the year. The aggregate premiums payable for the year by the Directors amounted to £2,507 (2018: £1,556) 
in respect of the Society’s products. During the year, the Court in Guernsey entered into transactions with related parties. Transactions 
entered into during the year, and balances outstanding at 31 December, were as follows:

Entities with significant influence over the Court 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Income
Grants received 6 3

Investment income 181 135

 187  138 

Expenditure
Donations paid 8 5

Administrative expenses 108 83

 116  88 

Amounts payable at 31 December 1 2

Entities under common control 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Expenditure
Other underwriting expenses 7 4

Administrative expenses 164 162

 171  166 

During the year, an entity under common control received gross written premiums of £155,796 (2018: £145,911) from policyholders 
on behalf of the Court. The Court also recharged costs of £961 (2018: £975) to an entity under common control. No amounts were 
outstanding at the end of the year.

Key management personnel and close family 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Income
Earned premiums 3 3

Expenditure
Claims incurred 2 2

Administrative expenses 8 11

 10  13 

Amounts payable at 31 December  -  - 

Employees of those entities with significant influence are entitled to a 30% discount on premiums on insurance policies with the Court. 
This also applies to key management personnel. The Society has taken advantage of the exemption conferred by FRS 102 not to disclose 
transactions with members of the Group headed by The Ancient Order of Foresters Friendly Society Limited on the grounds that those 
entities are controlled within that Group, and the entities are included in consolidated financial statements. The exemption only applies to 
wholly owned subsidiaries.

22. Pension schemes – continued

Analysis of change in defined benefit obligation 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Liabilities in scheme at 1 January 2,410 2,465
Current service cost  7  5 
Interest cost on scheme liabilities  62  59 
Actuarial (gains)/losses 152 (67)
Benefits paid (54) (52)
Liabilities in scheme at 31 December 2,577 2,410

93
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24. Risk Management

Risk Management and Control

The Society has in place a Risk Management Framework that 
is described in the Strategic report on pages 15 to 25. The 
framework sets out the approach to managing and controlling 
these risks. The Risk Management Policy sets out the 
requirements for managing and monitoring the risks described 
in the following sections.

As part of the Society’s Risk Management process it assesses 
its current and projected risk exposure against a defined set of 
risk categories. This is completed through the Society’s Risk 
Assessment and Own Risk and Solvency Assessment (ORSA) 
processes. A number of scenarios and sensitivities are also 
performed to support the assessment of these risk exposures.

Principal risks and uncertainties that the Society faces are set out 
in the Strategic report on page 22. Each risk is assessed against 
the same risk management framework. The following section sets 
out these main risk categories and their impacts to the Society.

1) Insurance risk

Insurance risk is the risk that arises from uncertainties as to the 
occurrence, amount and timing of insurance liabilities. Long 
term insurance risk arises from mortality, morbidity, persistency 
and expense variances. Unfavourable mortality and morbidity 
claim rates, persistency and expenses relative to assumptions in 
the pricing process, may impact the Society meeting its income 
objectives. The Society has in place a risk management policy 
that sets out the requirements for managing and monitoring 
insurance risk as well as stress testing. The financial impact of 
insurance risk is quantified through the stress tests performed in 
the Society’s ORSA.

Mortality risk is the risk of loss, or adverse change in the value 
of insurance liabilities, resulting from changes in the level, trend, 
or volatility of mortality rates, where an increase in the mortality 
rate leads to an increase in the value of insurance liabilities. The 
Society has a diversified population of members across its funds 
with respect to age, gender, smoker status, level of life insurance 

cover, type of insurance cover and geographic location. Initial 
underwriting is limited (reflecting the Society’s aim to provide 
cover for the majority of applicants); product design and types 
of cover offered are used as mitigations.

Morbidity/disability risk is the risk of loss, or of adverse 
changes in the value of insurance liabilities, resulting from 
changes in disability and morbidity rates. This may occur due 
to either a large scale event or a gradual increase in claim rates 
and fall in recovery rates. The initial health insurance underwriting 
is limited; product design and types of cover offered are used as 
mitigations. The disability and morbidity risks are spread across 
individual business and group schemes.

Expense risk arises from the variation in the expenses 
incurred in servicing insurance contracts. This may be due to 
an increase in the monetary amount of expenses taken into 
account in the calculation of technical provisions, or an  
increase in the assumed future expense inflation rate. The 
Society has in place processes to monitor expenses and 
control costs; expenses monitoring occurs monthly compared 
to budget. A cost allocation model is used to allocate costs to 
funds relating to processes and activities.

Persistency risk arises from actual lapse and surrender 
experience differing to the assumptions made in the product 
pricing. The Society is exposed to reductions in profitability if the 
average length of time that policies remain in-force is significantly 
different to that expected. Persistency rates are actively monitored 
to identify any trends and the Society conducts policyholder 
surveys to try and understand policyholder behaviours.

Insurance concentration risk

The Society is not exposed to material concentrations of insurance 
risk. All long term business is conducted in the UK and therefore a 
geographical segmental analysis is not applicable.

For individual business, the concentration of long term business 
provisions by the type of contract is set out below:

For Group business, the schemes are mainly concentrated to the Police Force where the risks are managed through underwriting and 
reinsurance on catastrophe risk. The technical provision for Group scheme business (gross of reinsurance) is £0.2m (2018: £1.1m).

Technical Provisions (Individual Business) 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Tax Exempt Savings Plans 27,716 24,495
Taxable Savings Plans 2,950 2,248
Endowments 10,738 13,432
Whole of Life Cover 28,817 28,273
Investment Bond 7,903 6,801
With-profit ISA 25,284 20,618
Unit Linked Plans 35,722 31,079
Other 10,360 9,407
Total 149,490 136,353

The Society’s technical provisions and maturity profile as at 31 December 2019 are as follows. This is based on an approximate analysis of 
the maturity date of the underlying contract, within 1 year is overstated due to some contracts that have reached the end of their premium 
paying term being treated as immediate maturities:

Technical provisions at 31 December 2019 Within 1 year 
£’000

1-5 years
£’000

5-10 years 
£’000

Over 10 years 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Long Term Business Provision  16,504  20,190  15,964  61,342 114,000
Technical provision for linked liabilities  7,046  14,607  12,257  1,812 35,722
General Business Provision  3,951  -    -    -   3,951
Outstanding Claims  3,611  -    -    -   3,611
Total 31,112 34,797 28,221 63,154 157,284

The table below shows the technical provisions as at 31 December 2018. This has been restated since last year to reflect improved 
modelling of the maturity profile of unit linked business:

Technical provisions at 31 December 2018 Within 1 year 
£’000

1-5 years
£’000

5-10 years 
£’000

Over 10 years 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Long Term Business Provision  24,375  20,147  7,063  54,743 106,328
Technical provision for linked liabilities  6,113  12,908  9,769 2,289 31,079
General Business Provision  3,810  -    -    -   3,810
Outstanding Claims  2,588  -    -    -   2,588
Total 36,886 33,055 16,832 57,032 143,805

Details of the assumptions used to calculate the technical provisions are set out in Note 19.

Insurance risk sensitivities

The table below sets out the change in Technical Provisions and the impact on FFA for movements in key assumptions. The impact on the 
technical provisions to key assumptions are shown below. The 2018 figures have been restated to be consistent with the approach taken 
for 2019 to keep the risk margin unchanged under each sensitivity:

Sensitivity analysis for the change  
in assumptions used for 

2019 2018

Change in 
Technical 
Provision  

£'000

Impact on FFA  
£'000

Change in 
Technical 
Provision 

£’000

Impact on FFA  
£'000

Reduction in risk-free rates by 0.5% 2,846 2,846 3,002 3,002
Increase in mortality by 10% 707 707 189 189
Increase in claims inception by 10% 778 778 791 791
Decrease in claims recovery by 10% 398 398 374 374

Increase in expense inflation by 0.25% 540 540 545 545
Decrease in surrender/lapse rates by 25% 1,103 1,103 979 979

2) Financial Risk

The Society is exposed to a range of financial risks through its financial assets, financial liabilities, reinsurance assets and insurance liabilities. 
The most important components of this financial risk are market risks which include equity price risk, property valuation risk, interest rate risk, 
currency exchange risk and credit spread risk. The Society also faces financial risks in respect of counterparty default exposures.

Each of the exposures to risk are analysed regularly to assess their likely impact and probability. The overall level of risk is assessed in 
the calculation of the Society’s Solvency Capital Requirement (SCR) in accordance with the PRA Rulebook, which takes into account the 
correlation of individual risks. The Board is responsible for reviewing the risks faced by the Society and approving the required level of 
capital to be held against each risk element.
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The assets held as at 31 December 2019 split by duration are as follows:

3) Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that as a result of market movements the 
Society may be exposed to fluctuations in the value of its assets, 
the amount of its liabilities, or the income from its assets. Sources 
of general market risk include movements in interest rates, credit 
spreads, equity prices and property prices.

The Society monitors market risk by ensuring the investment 
strategy is kept under regular review by the Investment Committee. 
The Investment Committee also monitors all investment activity on 
behalf of the Board. Asset Allocations and performance benchmarks 
are set and monitored by the Society’s Investment Committee.

(a) Equity price risk

Holdings in equities are by their nature subject to market 
movement. In order to mitigate this risk, the Society 
changed its external investment manager to AXA Investment 
Management (IM). In addition, the acceptable level of equity 
holdings for the Society’s With Profit funds is governed by 
the Principles and Practices of Financial Management (PPFM) 
for each fund. The Society has a diversified equity portfolio. 
Sensitivity tests are also carried out for equity falls on the 
capital coverage.

As at 31 December 2019, the Society held £20.7m (2018: 
£35.7m) of equities in respect of non-linked liabilities. This 
has decreased by £15.0m as the Society since the move to 
AXA IM invests in more collectives including properties and 
fixed interest assets.

(b) Property price risk

Property price risk arises as a result of sensitivity to the 
level or volatility of market prices of the Society’s property 
investment portfolio.

Similar to equities, property holdings are by their nature 
subject to market movement. The Society’s Investment 
Committee reviews the portfolio reports on a quarterly basis. 
Monthly property information is provided to the Society’s 
Investment team, who review each report comparing 
information against known events recorded on the team’s 
internal property records.

Since the move to AXA IM, the Society diversifies its real 
estate portfolio by investing in property collectives within AXA.

(c) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk exists for all assets and liabilities which are 
sensitive to changes in the term structure of interest rates 
or interest rate volatility. Due to the nature of the Society’s 
products, the long term business funds may be impacted 
by these interest rate movements.

Exposure to interest rate risk is managed via asset-liability 
matching to broadly match expected liability cash flows in 
each fund. However, this can never be exact due to the 
uncertainties involved. The Society monitors this regularly 
by assessing the impact of change in risk-free rates on its 
solvency and capital.

Assets as at 31 December 
2019

No maturity 
£’000

Within 1 year 
£’000

1-5 years
£’000

5-10 years 
£’000

Over 10 years 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Land & Buildings  59,675  -    -    -    -    59,675 
Equity investments  34,930  -    -    -    -    34,930 
Fixed interest securities  16,440  2,621  33,433  27,865  47,872  128,231 
Assets held to cover linked liabilities  33,512  83  885  605  637  35,722 
Cash & Other  19,329  3,570  1,251  -    -    24,150 
Total  163,886  6,274  35,569  28,470  48,509  282,708 

The assets held as at 31 December 2018 split by duration are as follows:

Assets as at 31 December 
2018

No maturity 
£’000

Within 1 year 
£’000

1-5 years
£’000

5-10 years 
£’000

Over 10 years 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Land & Buildings  67,281  -    -    -    -    67,281 
Equity investments  46,988  -    -    -    -    46,988 
Fixed interest securities  8,161  2,254  33,383  30,145  26,996  100,939 
Assets held to cover linked liabilities  28,681  134  566  907  791  31,079 
Cash & Other  10,584  5,530  5,509  -    -    21,623 
Total  161,695  7,918  39,458  31,052  27,787  267,910 

24. Risk Management – continued (d) Exchange rate risk

Currency risk arises from changes in the level or volatility of currency exchange rates. The Society is exposed to currency risk arising 
from unhedged overseas equity holdings.

The Society has a number of equity investments in foreign currencies in with-profit and unit-linked funds which present a minor exchange 
rate risk. The Society’s equity holdings shown by currencies are listed below:

(e) Credit spread risk

Credit spread risk results from the sensitivity of the value of assets and liabilities to changes in the level or volatility of credit spreads 
over the risk-free interest rate term structure.

The terms of the Society’s investment mandates require an appropriate spread of holdings within specified parameters, with the majority 
of assets being ‘A’ rated bonds or higher. There are also limits on the maximum exposure to any single counterparty and on the level 
of exposure to lower rated bonds. This results in a relatively modest exposure to lower rated and hence more risky assets within the 
investment funds. The Society considers regular reviews from the fund manager so that the risk within the funds remains appropriate.

The Society’s holdings on fixed interest securities are analysed by credit rating below:

As at 31 December 2019, included in Other Financial Investments is a loan to Manchester Building Society. The nominal value of 
£525,000 has been impaired by £175,000 to a carrying value of £350,000. This impairment relates to the uncertainty regarding 
the full recoverability of this loan on maturity in 2022 given the recent financial results of the Manchester Building Society. No other 
financial assets are past due or impaired at the reporting date.

In addition, the increased credit spread exposure reflects the updated investment strategy after the move to AXA IM.

4) Counterparty default risk

Counterparty default risk is the risk of loss incurred by the Society if a counterparty fails to perform its contractual obligations, including 
failure to perform them in a timely manner.

The Society’s exposures are mostly in respect of debtors, but also the £12.4m of cash balances held at 31 December 2019 (2018: 
£9.5m). The cash deposits are spread between its investment managers and over a number of high street banks and building societies.

Equity market values by currency 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

US Dollar 30,880 8,062
Euro 5,331 1,620
Japanese Yen 3,640 -

Canadian Dollar 2,947 -
Swiss Franc 1,688 380
Other currencies 3,041 188
Total 47,527 10,250

Credit rating 2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

AAA 3,438 8,398
AA 48,465 62,493
A 24,976 13,058
BBB 34,031 20,737
Below BBB 958  - 
Not rated 3,432 353

115,300 105,039
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In 2019, the Society held a more diversified portfolio by reducing last year’s equity exposure by investing in collective properties, 
convertible bonds, and short duration debt. Non-UK exposures have increased but these foreign currencies are being hedged to reduce 
currency risk. The increase in credit spread sensitivity is resulted from higher exposure on corporate bonds.

25. Chief Actuary
Ms Kim Durniat of Barnett Waddingham held the With-Profits Actuary and Chief Actuary role throughout 2019. In accordance with section 
77 of the Friendly Societies Act 1992 the Society has requested Ms Durniat to provide certain particulars and she has confirmed the 
following information:

That neither Ms Durniat nor her immediate family were members of the Society throughout the year; neither Ms Durniat or her family have 
any pecuniary interests in the Society; and the aggregate amount of fees paid to Barnett Waddingham in 2019 in respect of these services 
was £239,580 (2018: £181,816) inclusive of Value Added Tax. Total costs paid consist of Chief Actuary fees £155,130 (2018: £93,024), 
With-Profits Actuary fees £51,000 (2018: £33,570) and Other consultancy services £33,450 (2018: £55,222).

Post year end, Nick Warr was appointed Chief Actuary of the Society on 12 March 2020.

26. Creditor payment policy
The Society’s policy is to settle creditors within the credit terms specified, unless the transaction is subject to dispute.

*  Parallel movement in risk-free rate curve e.g. 100 bps at 10 years. 2018 number has been restated from yield down stress for comparison with 2019 as the yield up stress 
is more onerous this year. 

** Stress factors dependent on credit rating and duration e.g. 10-year A-rated bond has a stress factor of 10.5% of market value.

Market Risk Sensitivities
Change in FFA £'000

2019 2018

20% fall in equity values 795 2,532
12.5% fall in property values 152 -
EIOPA yield up stress* 199 (41)
25% increase in exchange rates - 569
5% addition to the asset volatility 1,154 1,005
EIOPA spread risk stress** 3,270 2,857

The Society is exposed to reinsurer default, especially in extreme 
scenarios where cover is provided against pandemic and mortality 
catastrophe events. However where the exposure is material, the risk 
of reinsurer default is managed by spreading the reinsurance cover 
across multiple counterparties and restricting counterparties to a 
minimum acceptable credit rating. The risk associated with reinsurer 
default is quantified as part of the Solvency II SCR calculation.

5) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is that of not having sufficient liquid resources to 
meet changing market conditions and being unable to meet 
obligations as they fall due, or being able to secure them only 
at excessive cost. Liquidity is required to honour all cash flow 
commitments and these are generally met through cash flows 
supplemented by assets readily convertible to cash.

The management of liquidity is consistent with the economic 

capital, regulatory and operational needs across the Society. The 
Board is responsible for defining the risk appetite and monitoring 
liquidity risk exposure. Liquidity risk oversight is performed by the 
Investment Committee. The Investment Committee works with our 
Investment Managers to set appropriate asset ranges bearing in 
mind the liquidity needs for each fund, and undertakes quarterly 
monitoring of the performance against these ranges.

Summary of market risk sensitivities

The table below sets out the impact on FFA for movements in the 
asset classes that the Society is invested in, excluding the pension 
schemes. The impact on FFA assumes that all risks in the closed 
with-profit funds are borne by their policyholders, and so does not 
have any FFA as a result of market movements. Explanation of 
movements and where the sensitivity for the Society is materially 
different, are provided below:

24. Risk Management – continued 27. Post Balance Sheet Events

Covid-19

The Directors have been monitoring the development of the 
impact of Covid-19, both directly on the Society’s business and 
indirectly through reviewing the development of government policy 
and advice. The main considerations are as follows.

Members

In the increasingly likely event of an economic recession, there 
will be members of the Society who will suffer. The Society offers 
benevolent grants to its members and is encouraging, through 
its Court Network, active promotion of these member benefits. 
Our Foresters Support Fund offers discretionary grants to assist 
our adult members (over 18 years of age and who have been a 
member for at least 6 months) in times of hardship or distress 
by paying up to £2,000. For example, we have been able to help 
members affected by the recent floods and members facing illness 
or financial difficulties. We feel it is only right that this Fund now 
supports those who have been affected by Covid-19.

Operational

The Directors have made the decision to implement aspects of 
the Society’s business continuity plan (BCP), specifically advising 
staff at all levels and in all functions to work at home, wherever 
practicable, and to minimise the need for gatherings of staff. 
Communications within the Society are now almost wholly via 
telephone, email or messaging applications. The Society’s IT 
facilities are adequate to maintain operations on this basis for 
the foreseeable future albeit some processes may take longer 
to run than usual. The Directors expect that further operational 
changes will continue to be required.

The Directors are mindful of the differing pressures on individual 
members of staff, and that these pressures change as the position 
nationally and locally develops. The Society has an employee 
assistance programme in place to support the mental well-being 
of staff during this challenging time.

Risks underwritten

The Society has written policies that provide benefits in ill-health 
and in the event of death.

The Society’s Group business is the largest concentration of risk 
with respect to the current situation, primarily resulting from a 
potential increase in death claims.

The Society is also exposed to claims from ill-health. The largest 
concentration of this risk is also in the Society’s Group business. 
However, the sick pay benefits offered in this business line 
provide for a 26-week deferred period, so the additional risk from 
Covid-19 illness is expected to be small.

The Society has catastrophe reinsurance in place, which explicitly 
covers pandemics, including the one we are currently experiencing. 
This offers the Society protection against Covid-19 related claims 
in excess of £0.5 million in the six month period commencing on 
11 March 2020.

Investment portfolio

Since the year end, investment markets have significantly 
deteriorated due to the uncertainty Covid-19 brings to the future 
state of the global economy. As at the date of signing these 
financial statements, the Society has sold the entirety of its equity 
and convertible bond portfolios held in the with-profits Order 
Insurance Fund, the Tunstall Fund and the Non-Profit Fund. 
The POIS with-profits fund is financially strong and is expected 
to be able to maintain its limited equity holdings through the 
current crisis.

The Society’s remaining major holdings in equity remains in the 
POIS unit-linked business funds where the investment risk is 
borne by policyholders. These have significant equity exposure 
by design. From 31 December 2019 to 31 March 2020, the unit 
prices of these funds have dropped as follows:

The Directors do not view this as a permanent drop but continue 
to keep the position under close review.

The market value of the Society’s fixed interest portfolios has 
also fallen since the year end, although far less significantly than 
equities, with corporate bonds being the most affected having 
fallen in value by around 10% as credit spreads have widened. 
The Directors are mindful that the credit risk in that portfolio is 
likely to have increased.

The Society is also affected by the reduction in yields on risk-free 
assets such as UK government bonds. This reduction increases 
its technical provisions in respect of the cost of guarantees. 
Property valuations have not yet been reperformed and the 
property portfolio is being monitored for signs of any significant 
deterioration in rent collections. The Society’s property portfolio 
is estimated to have fallen by approximately 2% in capital value 
over the first quarter of 2020 based on comparison to publicly 
available property indices and property fund prices.

Fund
Unit price at 
31 Dec 2019 

(p) 

Unit price at 
31 Mar 2020  

(p)
Decrease

POIS Savings Fund 226.80 183.00 -19%

POIS Flexible Growth Fund 116.2 95.11 -18%

POIS Money Bond Fund 198.9 189.30 -5%
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Solvency Position and Forecasts

The Directors are closely monitoring the Society’s capital coverage ratio in these volatile market conditions to assess the Society’s 
compliance with regulatory capital requirements in the context of the risk appetite determined by the Board. The Society’s 2019 Own 
Risk and Solvency Assessment report (‘ORSA’) included a pandemic scenario which considered a loss event for the Society as a result 
of increased incidence of sickness, mortality and associated operational risk losses. The scenario showed that the Society continued to 
operate within its capital coverage ratio risk appetite despite the impact of such an event.

The Directors recognise that as the foreseeable scenarios change, decisions may need to be made in relation to the scale of the Society’s 
activity and the level of capital maintained to support that activity. The Board is considering the need for an ad hoc ORSA, but is mindful of 
where Management time is best spent to ensure the Society’s resilience in the current economic climate.

Going Concern

As at the date of signing these financial statements, the Directors’ forecasts up to 31 December 2024 indicate that the Society will be able 
to maintain liquidity and a surplus over its Solvency Capital Requirement. It will therefore be able to continue to trade as a going concern. 
However, there are foreseeable scenarios in which this position may be under threat; the Society was already outside of its risk appetite at 
31 December 2019.

The Society is considering a number of further actions to improve its capital coverage ratio including:

• launching a new with-profits product to improve the Society’s competitive position;

• increasing reinsurance cover; and

• consolidating sub funds.

However, these are longer-term actions, and launching a new product may reduce the Society’s CCR in the short term.

The Directors are continuously monitoring the Society’s financial position and outlook. Further actions, in addition to those actions already 
taken, will be taken if the Society’s capital coverage ratio continues to deteriorate.

Consolidated and Society Technical Account - 
Long Term Business - 2018

Adjustment 
reference

2018 as 
previously 

reported 
£'000

Adjustment 
£'000

2018 restated 
£'000

Earned premiums, net of reinsurance
Gross premium written 1 27,595 331 27,926
Outward reinsurance premiums (258) - (258)

27,337 331 27,668

Change in other technical provisions
Long term business provision
-  gross amount 7,977 - 7,977
-  reinsurers’ share 15 - 15
-  net of reinsurance 7,992 - 7,992
Technical provisions for linked business
-  net of reinsurance 2 7,133 (331) 6,802
Net change 15,125 (331) 14,794

Total Technical Charges (22,340) (331) (22,671)

Surplus of technical income over technical charges (837) - (837)

Transfer from/(to) Fund for Future Appropriations 5 837 - 837
Balance on Technical Account - - -

Explanation of adjustments made to the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Technical Account for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Adjustment Description

1. - 2.
To recognise premiums collected on POIS business by Royal Mail in December 2018 but not remitted to 
the Society until January 2019.

28. Approval of Financial Statements
These financial statements were approved by the Board on 1 June 2020.

29. Prior Year Restatement
The Society is required to make adjustments in relation to amounts disclosed in the 2018 Financial Statements. Details of the restatement 
of comparatives for the period ended 31 December 2018 are shown on the following pages.

Very impressed with the society 

and the local society group, I have 

attended meetings prior to the 

Lockdown, they have been very 

supportive.  ‘‘A satisfied Foresters member, 2020

‘‘
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Consolidated Non Technical Account - 2018 Adjustment 
reference

2018 as 
previously 

reported 
£'000

Adjustment 
£'000

2018 restated 
£'000

Income
Investment income 9,750 - 9,750
Unrealised gains/(losses) on investments 1 (5,086) 400 (4,686)
Unrealised gains/(losses) on Court investments 1,870  - 1,870
Discretionary fund donations and levies 206  - 206
Total Income 6,740 400 7,140

Excess/(Deficit) of income over expenditure 
for the financial year

1,720 400 2,120

From/(to) Discretionary Fund 167  - 167
From/(to) Mainland Court funds 2 (2,003) (400) (2,403)
From/(to) Court funds – Guernsey 116  - 116
From/(to) Fund for Future Appropriations - - -

Balance on the Non-Technical Account  -  -  - 

Explanation of adjustments made to the Consolidated Income and Expenditure Non-Technical Account for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Adjustment Description

1. - 2.
To recognise the owner occupied Leeds Investment Association property at full market value, not historic 
cost as was previously reported.

29. Prior Year Restatement – continued

Explanation of adjustments made to the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2018.

Adjustment Description

1. & 3.
To recognise the owner occupied Leeds Investment Association property at full market value, not historic 
cost as was previously reported.

2. & 4.
To recognise premiums collected on POIS business by Royal Mail in December 2018 but not remitted to 
the Society until January 2019.

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 
31 December 2018

Adjustment 
reference

2018 as 
previously 

reported 
£'000

Adjustment 
£'000

2018 restated 
£'000

Assets
Investments
Land and buildings 1 66,881 400 67,281
Investment in subsidiary - - -
Other financial investments 153,617 - 153,617

220,498 400 220,898

Assets to cover linked liabilities - investment contracts 1,750 - 1,750

Assets to cover linked liabilities - insurance contracts 2 28,998 331 29,329

Total assets 267,179  731 267,910

Liabilities
Reserves
Discretionary funds 13,541 - 13,541
Court Funds 3 83,142 400 83,542

96,683 400 97,083

Technical provisions

Long term business provision - Insurance and participating 
investment contracts

106,411 - 106,411

Long term business provision - non-participating investment 
contracts

(83) - (83)

Technical provision for linked liabilities - investment contracts 1,750 - 1,750
Technical provision for linked liabilities - insurance contracts 4 28,998 331 29,329
Claims outstanding 2,588 - 2,588
General business provision (Guernsey) 3,810 - 3,810

143,474 331 143,805

Total Liabilities 267,179  731 267,910
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Explanation of adjustments made to the Society Balance Sheet as at 31 December 2018.

Adjustment Description

1.
To recognise premiums collected on POIS business by Royal Mail in December 2018 but not remitted to 
the Society until January 2019.

Society Balance Sheet as at 
31 December 2018

Adjustment 
reference

2018 as 
previously 

reported 
£'000

Adjustment 
£'000

2018 restated 
£'000

Assets
Investments
Land and buildings 57,327 - 57,327
Investment in subsidiary 10 - 10
Other financial investments 152,658 - 152,658

209,995 - 209,995

Assets to cover linked liabilities - investment contracts 1,750 - 1,750

Assets to cover linked liabilities - insurance contracts 1 28,998 331 29,329

Total assets 250,389  331 250,720

Liabilities
Reserves
Discretionary funds 3,329 - 3,329
Court Funds 76,600 - 76,600

79,929 - 79,929

Technical provisions

Long term business provision - Insurance and participating 
investment contracts

106,411 - 106,411

Long term business provision - non-participating investment 
contracts

(83) - (83)

Technical provision for linked liabilities - investment contracts 1,750 - 1,750
Technical provision for linked liabilities - insurance contracts 1 28,998 331 29,329
Claims outstanding 2,588 - 2,588
General business provision (Guernsey) 3,810 - 3,810

143,474 331 143,805

Total Liabilities 250, 389  331 250,720

Abbreviations
AGM Annual General Meeting

AOF Scheme The Ancient Order of Foresters 1978 Retirement & Death 
Benefit Scheme

AP Annual Premiums

API Annualised Premium Income

APE Annual Premium Equivalent (representing annualised 
new regular premiums plus 10% of single premiums)

BEL Best Estimate Liability

BRCC Business Risk and Compliance Committee

CIF Court Investment Fund

CRF Court Reserve Fund

DAC Deferred Acquisition Costs

DBF Discretionary Benefit Fund

ECB European Central Bank

EIOPA European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority

FCA Financial Conduct Authority

FFA Fund for Future Appropriations

Foresters The Ancient Order of Foresters Friendly Society Limited

FRS Financial Reporting Standard

GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

GAO Guaranteed Annuity Option

GBF Group Business Fund

GCF Group Capital Fund

GDPR General Data Protection Regulation

GRF General Reserve Fund

HCR High Chief Ranger

HMRC HM Revenue and Customs

IBNR Incurred But Not Reported

IDD Insurance Distribution Directive

IFA Independent Financial Adviser

JISA Junior Individual Savings Account

KID Key Information Document

KPI Key Performance Indicator

KRI Key Risk Indicator

Leek Leek Assurance Collecting Society Limited (transferred  
to the Society on 31 December 2005)

LISA Lifetime Individual Savings Account

LTB Long Term Business

LTBP Long Term Business Provision

MCR Minimum Capital Requirement

MVR Market Value Reduction

NED Non-Executive Director

NISA New Individual Savings Account

NP Non-Profit

OIF Order Insurance Fund

ORSA Own Risk and Solvency Assessment

PEF Pure Endowment Fund

POIS Post Office Insurance Society

PPFM Principles and Practices of Financial Management 

PRA Prudential Regulation Authority

PRIIPs Packaged Retail Insurance-based Investment Products 

PVIF Purchased Value of In-force Business

S&D Sick & Death Fund

SCR Solvency Capital Requirement

SFCR Solvency and Financial Condition Report

SID Senior Independent Director

Society The Ancient Order of Foresters Friendly Society Limited

SMCR Senior Managers and Certification Regime

STRGL Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses

TCF Treating Customers Fairly

Tunstall Tunstall Assurance Friendly Society Limited (transferred 
to the Society on 31 December 2003)

Tunstall 
scheme

The Tunstall and District Assurance Collecting Society 
Staff Superannuation Fund Scheme

WP With-Profits

WPA With-Profits Actuary

29. Prior Year Restatement – continued
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